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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. INTRODUCTION

It Is Worse Than Expected! UHH originally gave Greenberg the benefit of the doubt when

it inquired about its conflicts of interest. Perhaps Greenberg’s disabling conflicts were the result of

simple negligence or the failure to conduct an appropriate conflict check. Perhaps Greenberg had

disclosed these conflicts to the Court at some point and UHH was unaware. Apparently not.

Greenberg’s Opposition and the SDR’s declaration instead confirm something much more sinister.

Greenberg and the SDR were well aware of Greenberg’s dual conflicts of interest with its other

clients—Xerox and Valley, yet they purposefully concealed them from this Court and every single

creditor of the receivership estate.

All of the relevant legal authority, including cases cited by Greenberg, unanimously confirm

that Greenberg and the SDR were mandated to make these conflict of interest disclosures to this

Court. As just one example:

In situations where counsel is aware of apparent conflicts which
counsel believes are outweighed by other factors, the conflicts must be
disclosed. The court then can exercise its independent judgment.
The decision concerning the propriety of employment should not be
left exclusively with counsel, whose judgment may be clouded by the
benefits of the potential employment.1

Scoffing at this legal authority, Greenberg and the SDR do not even attempt to explain why they

concealed these conflicts from this Court. Yet the answer is obvious. Had the Court been informed

in December 2016 that Greenberg currently represented Xerox, a potential target of the receivership

estate, along with Valley, a significant creditor of the receivership estate, this Court would have

wisely advised the Receiver to choose an unconflicted law firm. Likewise, Greenberg and the

SDR’s concealment did not give the creditors—including UHH—the necessary information to

allow them to file an objection. Greenberg and the SDR instead chose to commandeer this Court’s

authority and secretly plow ahead with conflicted counsel, filing four separate lawsuits and

ultimately allowing Greenberg to bilk the receivership estate out of over $5 million dollars in

1 See, e.g., In re BH & P, Inc., 119 B.R. 35, 44 (D.N.J. 1990) (emphasis added).
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Page 2 of 31

attorney’s fees. Greenberg’s willful failure to disclose—which is now undisputed—is grounds for

disqualification in and of itself.2

Although Greenberg and the SDR can neither explain nor justify their blatant failure to

disclose Greenberg’s conflicts, they do painstakingly try to convince this Court that Greenberg’s

representation of a potential target and significant creditor of the receivership estate was

inconsequential. Their explanation? Greenberg was merely “limited-scope” counsel, it had nothing

to do with either Xerox or Valley, and a separate law firm had been retained to handle these

conflicts. In essence, no harm, no foul. Yet there are numerous legal and factual problems with this

so-called explanation.

First, as discussed above, this purported arrangement was never disclosed to this Court,

and this Court had no opportunity to determine whether it could cure Greenberg’s undisclosed

conflicts. As addressed below, it could not.

Second, the record undeniably reflects that Greenberg was anything but “limited-scope”

counsel. Greenberg is currently representing the receivership estate in four separate lawsuits, and

consistently appears before this Court on behalf of the receivership estate, having filed 15 separate

status reports and numerous motions in the receivership action. Greenberg has received from the

receivership estate over five million dollars in fees. On the other hand, Santoro Whitmire, the

alleged “conflicts counsel” which supposedly cured Greenberg’s ethical quandaries, has received

less than two thousand dollars in fees over a four year period. Based on these undisputed facts, it

is entirely disingenuous, if not outright misleading, to label Greenberg as “limited-scope” counsel.

Finally, although Xerox is (conveniently) not a party to any of the four lawsuits in which

Greenberg is lead counsel, Xerox’s fingerprints are all over the Milliman Lawsuit and the Silver

State Lawsuit. In the Milliman Lawsuit, UHH, the Management Defendants,3 and the

InsureMonkey Defendants4 timely sought leave to implead Xerox as a Third-Party Defendant.

2 See, e.g, Buckley v. TransAmerica Inv. Corp. (In re Southern Kitchens), 216 B.R. 819, 829-30 (Bankr. D. Minn.
1998).

3 The Management Defendants include Kathleen Silver, Bobbette Bond, Tom Zumtobel, Pam Egan, Basil Dibsie,
and Linda Mattoon.

4 The InsureMonkey Defendants include InsureMonkey, Inc. and Alex Rivlin.
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These Motions were filed shortly after these Defendants disclosed multiple expert reports which

concluded that it was Xerox that was responsible for most, if not all, of the CO-OP’s failures.

Likewise, in the Silver State Lawsuit, Silver State has explicitly alleged that Xerox—not Silver

State—is in possession of the funds at issue. Greenberg’s conflicts of interest and its inability to sue

its client—Xerox—has resulted in Greenberg blaming and suing other entities for Xerox’s

wrongdoing. Thus, even if this Court believes that Greenberg was truly “limited-scope” counsel (it

was not), Greenberg’s representation of and loyalty to Xerox has infiltrated and tainted most of the

pending lawsuits in which Greenberg is lead counsel, also mandating Greenberg’s disqualification.5

Greenberg’s remaining technicalities are just as unavailing. Greenberg’s standing argument

conveniently ignores the undisputed fact that UHH is a creditor of the receivership estate.

Greenberg’s conflicts of interest and inability to blame (and sue) Xerox has harmed UHH as both a

creditor of the receivership estate and as a defendant which has been sued by conflicted counsel in

the Milliman Lawsuit. Likewise, Greenberg’s waiver argument conveniently ignores the undisputed

concealment of its conflicts of interest from this Court and from the creditors of the receivership

estate. Finally, Greenberg’s cries of prejudice to the receivership estate should fall on deaf ears,

especially in light of the absence of any declaration from the Receiver herself. Greenberg and the

SDR have only themselves to blame for hiding these conflicts from this Court for four years.

Although the receivership estate may be forced to pay another attorney to get up to speed in these

various matters, again, that is solely the fault of Greenberg and the SDR, and not something for

which Greenberg should be rewarded with continued employment. In fact, this claim of prejudice is

something that can be and should be easily resolved by granting the second aspect of the Motion—

i.e., forcing Greenberg to disgorge all of the attorney’s fees it received from the receivership estate.

For the foregoing reasons, the Motion to Disqualify should be granted in its entirety.

5 See, e.g, Buckley (In re Southern Kitchens), 216 B.R. at 829.
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II. ADDITIONAL RELEVANT FACTS6

A. The Milliman Defendants’ Experts Opine That Xerox is to Blame for the CO-
OP’s Failures.

As set forth in the Motion, there is significant documentary evidence (e.g., CO-OP Board

Minutes, the Deloitte Report, the February 24, 2014 letter from the CO-OP’s CEO to Governor

Sandoval) showing that Xerox significantly harmed the CO-OP’s operations due to its inability to

competently develop and administer the Xerox Exchange, not to mention the undisputed facts that

the State of Nevada was forced to fire Xerox for its incompetence and that Xerox agreed to pay up to

five million dollars to settle two class action lawsuits regarding its administration of the Xerox

Exchange.7 Unsurprisingly, Greenberg does not even attempt to rebut or explain this evidence in

its Opposition.

Yet that is not all of the evidence confirming Xerox’s culpability. On October 2, 2020, the

Milliman Defendants (UHH, the Management Defendants, the InsureMonkey Defendants) disclosed

their expert reports. The Milliman Defendants’ experts consistently opined that Xerox was primarily

to blame for the CO-OP’s failures, and that Plaintiff (the Receiver) is blaming the Milliman

Defendants for damages that were caused by Xerox. Below is a summary of the Milliman

Defendants’ experts’ various opinions regarding the failures of Xerox and the Xerox Exchange.

1. UHH’s Experts

a. Henry Miller Ph.D.

The ongoing issues and challenges NHC experienced with the Exchange and Xerox
were significant factors impacting claims processing. NHC’s Board minutes
frequently identified these difficulties:

 NHC was speaking regularly with the Governor as well as other carriers
regarding the challenges with data submissions from Xerox to NHC.

 NHC did not receive any information on 3,000 members from Xerox due to the
Exchange’s ongoing data transfer failures.

 The letter prepared by NHC attorneys to Xerox and the Governor outlining
problems NHC was having with the Exchange and Xerox.

6 These additional facts and evidence are necessary to respond to Greenberg’s various arguments in its
Opposition; particularly, the newfound assertion that Greenberg’s role as “limited-scope” counsel somehow cured its
conflicts of interest.

7 Exhibits 3-6 of the Mot. to Disqualify.
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 How Xerox has and continues to hurt NHC’s credibility in the market place
and injured NHC members.

 An example of a New Year’s Eve heart attack patient being left with a
$410,000 bill and unmanaged care due to Xerox failing to inform NHC that the
patient was an NHC member.

Below are additional key issues regarding difficulties NHC was having with Xerox
and the State Exchange:

 Xerox admitted its payment collection process was working at only 45 percent
capacity.

 The possible extension of payment deadlines for consumers past May 30th
since 4,000 consumers wanted to pay their premiums but were unable to due to
Xerox system errors.

 Xerox presented NHC with a report of 900 delinquent members dated back to
January 2014 that was never timely reported and of which NHC was unaware.

 Xerox had an overall, and undeniable, negative impact on NHC’s finances.
NHC committed 50 percent of its resources to Xerox and Xerox‐related issues 
starting in October 2013.

The Silver State Health Insurance Exchange concluded that Xerox data was
unreliable.

 “The Exchange, as a dedicated partner to the carriers, recognize that we
collectively can no longer rely on Xerox data.”

 “Xerox’s efforts at reconciliation over many months have not led to a timely
closure of the issues and do not appear to offer the potential for resolution in
the future.”8

b. Xavier Oustalniol, CPA, CFF, CIRA

I understand that NHC started experiencing issues with Xerox as early as October
2013. A February 19, 2014, NHC Board Meeting mentions “three meetings a week
with the Governor’s office, the other carriers and Xerox to communicate the
challenges the CO-OP is experiencing with data submission from Xerox to the CO-
OP […] with […] more than 3,000 members that are on Xerox pending list that the
CO-OP has not received any data on to date.” Xerox’s mismanagement and issues
were considered as “negatively impacting the CO-OP’s membership” and having
failed to communicate eligibility to the CO-OP for some consumers. These issues
were discussed on several occasions during NHC’s subsequent Board meetings.
Some of the concerns ranged from Xerox being “untimely in their reporting”, to the
need to”[r]esolve Xerox issues”, the CO-OP “working through reconciling items with
Xerox”, Xerox’s “payment collection process…only working at 45% capacity to
accept payments […] and Xerox […] has drained the CO-OP’s resources as no less
than 50% of the CO-OP’s resources have been committed to Xerox and Xerox related
issues since October 2013.”9

c. Christina Melnykovych, BS, RHIA, CFE, AHFI

Despite public information and private discussions regarding the detrimental impact
of Xerox’s failure in its administration of the Silver State Exchange, Plaintiff,

8 Ex. 7 to Mot., pp. 38.

9 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Xavier Oustalniol, CPA, CFF, CIRA, pp. 22-23, attached as Exhibit 18.
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including her expert, (Henry Osowski), fails to acknowledge Xerox’s catastrophic
impact on CO-OP operations and carriers, in general. Moreover, Sections 2.2(c) and
2.2(e) of the ASA are clear in addressing the responsibility of the CO-OP to assure
timely, valid, accurate, and complete information to its TPA (UHH), including
regular scheduled eligibility data transfers. From all the evidence examined by CCI,
that simply did not happen.

There is no acknowledgement by Plaintiff or Mr. Osowski that Xerox played a
significant role in consuming 50% of the CO-OP’s resources from open enrollment
on October 1, 2013 through May 2014, when it was reported to the Formation Board.
CCI’s Exhibit 3, titled “Xerox/Eligibility”, chronicles how Xerox-related issues
plagued the CO-OP during the entire 2014 calendar year, and thereafter. On July 28,
2015, Dr. Nicole Flora addresses the work of Indegene, a company retained by the
CO-OP to assist with submission of the CO-OP’s risk data to HHS-CMS. “While,
clearly, I would have liked a better financial outcome, I was pleased with them as our
vendor. Our (mainly Xerox) data was hugely problematic and consumed all of the
resources we had planned, limiting our ability to be proactive.”

Emails reviewed by CCI (and referenced herein, unless otherwise specified, on
Exhibit 3), between CO-OP personnel and those that include UHH, reveal
communications with Xerox that include inaccurate information conveyed to CO-OP
personnel, changes to the testing schedule, clarification of previously-provided
information, all of them occurring perilously close, or after, the open enrollment
period. On October 3, 2013, the CO-OP’s CEO sends an email to Tanchica Terry
(CMS) to address “Opening day report”. He tells her, “Our biggest challenge remains
the functionality of the state exchange. Since the vast majority of our individual
market will be eligible for subsidies (advance premium tax credit), much of our fate
is tied to the performance of the Exchange. The technical issues at the Exchange
prevented people across the state, including our enrollment specialists, from
completing applications for subsidies in order to formally enroll in subsidy-eligible
plans.”…10

Any assertion by Plaintiff, or Plaintiff’s expert Henry Osowski, that UHH acted
improperly or in violation of the terms of the ASA, as it pertains to eligibility, is
patently false. The failures of Xerox sapped CO-OP and UHH resources. It impeded
timely claims adjudication by UHH, while claims sat in the eligibility queue awaiting
confirmation of eligibility status by CO-OP personnel….Xerox’s failure impacted the
CO-OP’s ability to provide timely, reliable information to UHH, as required by
Sections 2.2 (c) and 2.2 (e) of the ASA.11

2. The Management Defendants’ Experts.

a. Sabrina Corlette, J.D.

The IT woes did not just dampen enrollment – they required participating insurers to
devote a significant and unanticipated amount of staff time and resources to resolving
the problems that arose from the dysfunctional system. In the early months of
enrollment, the Silver State Exchange’s IT vendor, Xerox, failed to transmit data on
close to 10 percent of enrollees to insurers. This meant the companies did not have a
complete picture of who had enrolled or paid their premiums. As a result of these and

10 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Christina Melnykovych, BS, RHIA, CFE, AHFI, pp. 34-35, attached as
Exhibit 19 (emphasis in original).

11 Id. at p. 39.
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other errors, the Silver State Exchange reported that calls to its call center doubled
between November and December 2013, with average wait times increasing to one
hour. The marketplace had to add more than 60 staff to its call center. Participating
insurers, including the CO-OP, had similar increases in customer call volume,
requiring a significant diversion of resources that could have been spent managing
care and improving the business systems necessary for the CO-OP’s long term
success.12

Nevada’s failure to have a working information technology (IT) platform for its state-
run health insurance marketplace (the “Silver State Exchange”) in 2013 and 2014 had
disastrous consequences for a start-up like NHC that was, under law, required to
generate “substantially all” of its business from that market. The non-working
website was likely the primary reason NHC was not able to reach its enrollment
targets.

The failures of Nevada’s Silver State Exchange IT vendor, Xerox, to adequately
support the state-run marketplace and transit critical enrollment and premium
payment data resulted in widespread customer service challenges among all
participating insurers, including NHC.13

b. Jeffrey L. Smith, FCA, MAAA; Matthew C. Elston, FSA, MAAA

The state exchange failed to perform its obligation to provide accurate eligibility
information. Insurance companies must collect premiums from eligible enrollees and
meet their contractual obligations paying claims for eligible employees. Paying
claims for ineligible employees leads to excess losses. NHC relied upon the state
exchange in 2014 and then the federal exchange in 2015 for enrollment eligibility.
The state exchange had many challenges in 2014 and eventually was cast aside and
the NV ACA on-exchange business had to migrate to the federal exchange for 2015.
Enrollment on exchange with all NV carriers for the Individual market can be seen as
an indicator of these issues at the state exchange. Enrollment in 2014 was 45,390 for
all carriers, and in 2015 statewide enrollment grew to over 60% to 73,596. Even to
the extent that enrollment records improved in 2015, when the exchange was moved
to the federal platform, additional losses were already realized by NHC further
contributing to its reduced capital leading toward insolvency.14

c. Richard L. Trembowicz

The SSE’s failure in 2014 to provide accurate data in a timely basis or issue business
rules governing configuration of the UHH claims system with sufficient advance
notice severely compromised the performance of NHC and its vendor in their
enrollment management, premium billing, and claims processing functions….15

In addition to SSE data integrity issues, the Exchange also suffered from an inability
to engage in EDI with health plans like NHC…. Accurate eligibility, enrollment, and
premium payment data forms [are] the essential foundation of accurate claims
processing, and if data is inaccurate or inconsistent or not delivered in a timely

12 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Sabrina Corlette, J.D., pp. 29-30, attached as Exhibit 20.

13 Id., at pp. 38.

14 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Jeffrey L. Smith, FCA, MAAA; Matthew C. Elston, FSA, MAAA, p. 9,
attached as Exhibit 21.

15 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Richard L. Trembowicz, pp. 12-13, attached as Exhibit 22.
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manner, it would not be possible to accurately administer enrollment or payment
claims….
In summary, the Osowski Report fails to discuss at all how the failures of the SSE to
maintain accurate data and provide such accurate data on a timely basis via EDI to
NHC (and its vendors) affected NHC’s ability to conduct eligibility and enrollment
management, premium billing and reconciliation, and claims processing without
error.16

3. The InsureMonkey Defendants’ Experts.

a. Martin S. Hand

In my professional experience and based on the record in this case, the failure of
NHC can be distilled down to three factors – any one of which would raise significant
challenges in an implementation of any complexity and the combination of which all
but insured that NHC would join the ranks of eighteen (18) other CO-OPs that didn’t
survive implementing the ACA:…

 The decisions made by the State of Nevada to initially implement their own
enrollment technology platform through Xerox then, as a result of that failed
launch, switch to HealthCare.gov occurred at a critical time in the project
implementation and lead to unrecoverable delays in implementation.17

4. Plaintiff’s Experts.

Although Plaintiff’s experts largely ignore the significant impact of Xerox on the CO-OP’s

operations, Henry Osowski does admit that there were “problems with the reliability of reports from

Xerox/Silver State Exchange….”18 Accordingly, although Greenberg does not want to admit that

Xerox’s misconduct is deeply intertwined with and inseparable from Plaintiff’s various allegations

against many of the Milliman Defendants (including UHH), Mr. Osowksi confirms as much in his

expert report.

B. The Milliman Defendants Seek Leave to Add Xerox as a Third-Party Defendant.

On October 15, 2020, before the deadline to amend pleadings and shortly after UHH’s and

other Defendants’ experts confirmed Xerox’s culpability, UHH filed a Motion for Leave to File a

Third-Party Complaint in the Milliman Lawsuit.19 UHH’s proposed Third-Party Complaint

impleads Xerox and Silver State as Third-Party Defendants pursuant to a contribution claim for

16 Id.

17 Relevant Pages of Expert Report of Martin S. Hand, p. 34, attached as Exhibit 23.

18 Relevant Pages of February 7, 2020 Expert Report of Henry Osowksi, p. 54, attached as Exhibit 24.

19 Defs.’ Unite Here Health and Nevada Health Solutions, LLC’s Motion for Leave to File Third Party Complaint,
Case No. A-17-760558-B, filed Oct. 15, 2020.
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relief.20 UHH’s contribution claim is based on Xerox’s (and Silver State’s) significant and repeated

failures to competently develop, administer, and manage the Xerox Exchange, as described in detail

above.21 Consistent with their experts’ opinions, the Management Defendants and the

InsureMonkey Defendants filed Joinders to UHH’s Motion, also seeking to assert contribution

claims against Xerox and Silver State.22 These Motions have been stayed pending this Court’s

ruling on the Motion to Disqualify.

C. Greenberg’s Baseless Assertion That its Representation of Xerox Was Unrelated
to Its Representation of the Receiver.

Throughout its Opposition, Greenberg proclaims (without any supporting analysis) that its

prior representation of Xerox was “unrelated” to Greenberg’s current representation of the

Receiver.23 Greenberg is simply wrong. A cursory review of the class action complaints filed

against Xerox confirm that the allegations therein are extremely similar to the relevant expert

opinions and the proposed third-party claims against Xerox in the Milliman Lawsuit.24 Likewise,

Greenberg’s representation of Xerox in the regulatory action before the Nevada Department of

Insurance (“NDOI”) also significantly overlaps with many of the issues set forth above.25

20 See generally id.

21 See generally Exhibit 1 to Volume 1 of the Appendix to Defs.’ Unite Here Health and Nevada Health Solutions,
LLC’s Motion for Leave to File Third Party Complaint, Case No. A-17-760558-B, filed Oct. 15, 2020.

22 See generally Management Defendants’ Joinder to Motion for Leave to File Third Party Complaint, Case No.
A-17-760558-B, filed Oct. 16, 2020; InsureMonkey Defendants’ Joinder to Motion for Leave to File Third Party
Complaint, Case No. A-17-760558-B, filed Oct. 22, 2020

23 See, e.g., Opposition to Mot. to Disqualify (the “Opp’n”), 7:2-3; see also id., 16:1.

24 See generally Exhibit 4 to the Opp’n, Class Action Complaint in Basich v. State of Nevada ex rel. Silver State
Health Insurance Exchange et al., Case No. A-14-698567-C (the “Insured Class Action”); Exhibit 5 to the Opp’n, Class
Action Complaint in Casale v. State of Nevada ex rel. Silver State Health Insurance Exchange et al., Case No. A-14-
706171-C (the “Broker Class Action”).

25 Greenberg boldly proclaims in its Opposition that “neither NHC nor the Receiver had any involvement or
interest in this investigation.” (Opp’n, 7:22-23.) Greenberg completely ignores the undisputed fact that Xerox’s Consent
Decree with the NDOI was signed by Barbara Richardson, the Receiver in this action and Greenberg’s client! (Ex. 10
to Mot., p. 7.)
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The following table provides a helpful summary of the relevant allegations in those three

related matters.

Insured Class Action

“Xerox’s technology and services
(i.e. Nevada Health Link) was said to
support premium billing, processing,
collection, aggregation and
remittance, data analytics and
actuarial support, health plan quality
and compliance reporting, and
incorporation of tax credits and
subsidies in cost calculations.”

“As alleged herein, the Exchange and
Xerox have utterly failed to create a
system that works as advertised, and
as a result, thousands of Nevadans
remain uninsured despite payment of
insurance premiums.”26

Broker Class Action

“From the outset, the Nevada Health Link
website was inundated with technical
problems and glitches.”

“[T]he Exchange and Xerox were aware or
should have been aware of multiple
problems with Nevada Health Link well
before the October 1, 2013 ‘go live’ date.”

“[T]he Exchange and Xerox utterly failed
to properly develop, administer, or oversee
Nevada Health Link to ensure that the
website performed as intended.”

“Xerox and the Exchange retained
premiums paid by enrollees for months,
while collecting interest on those premiums,
without transmitting the premiums to the
insurance carriers selected by the
enrollees.”

“[T]he Exchange and Xerox knew as early
as November 8, 2013 that Nevada Health
Link was repeatedly crashing or ‘freezing’
during enrollment, experiencing repeated
glitches, and miscalculating enrollees’
health insurance premiums such that many
enrollees were provided with incorrect
health insurance premium.”

“Nevada Health Link was also improperly
designed to delay the process of transferring
the necessary enrollee information to the
health insurance providers so that the
providers would be unable to issue
insurance cards or provide insurance
coverage for the first 3 to 4 months….”27

NDOI Action

“The examination report noted
that all premium processing
services appeared to be
provided directly by Xerox.”

“The examination report
identified a number of
instances where premium
processing resulted in certain
refunds being owed, insurance
coverage issues, and
overpayments of premium.”

“The examination report also
noted that, although Choice
and ACS were properly
licensed in Nevada as third
party administrators, Xerox
was not licensed as such. The
examination report found that
premium processing functions
conducted for the Nevada
Silver State Health Insurance
Exchange required licensure
as a third party administrator
pursuant to NRS 683A.085.”28

26 Ex. 4 to Opp’n, at ¶¶ 4-5.

27 Ex. 5 to Opp’n, ¶¶ 33-49.

28 (Consent Decree, Ex. 10 to Mot. ¶¶ 4-6.) Coincidentally, Greenberg, after defending Xerox for not having the
appropriate third-party administrator license, has asserted those same allegations against UHH in the Milliman Lawsuit.
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III. GREENBERG’S LACK OF MATERIAL EVIDENCE

Greenberg’s Opposition is much more notable for what it does not include as opposed to

what it does. These glaring evidentiary omissions are addressed below.

A. Greenberg’s Purported Role as “Limited-Scope” Counsel.

Setting aside Greenberg’s and the SDR’s undisputed failure to disclose these conflicts,

Greenberg’s Opposition is based on the premise that Greenberg was “limited-scope” counsel.

Greenberg’s purported role as “limited-scope” counsel is based solely on the self-serving

declarations of Mark Ferrario and Mark Bennett. Of course, without an evidentiary hearing or

discovery (which Greenberg has conveniently opposed), UHH will have no opportunity to cross-

examine Mr. Ferrario and Mr. Bennett regarding their assertions.

Nevertheless, it is notable that Greenberg and the SDR failed to present a single piece of

documentary evidence supporting their assertions. To the extent that Greenberg’s role was truly

limited in scope, it would be memorialized in Greenberg’s engagement agreement with the Receiver.

Yet Greenberg chose not to produce its engagement agreement, nor to produce any written evidence

of this purported “limited-scope” agreement.29 Greenberg instead relies on biased parties’

recollection of discussions that supposedly occurred over four years ago.30

There is even more missing evidence. Greenberg failed to procure a declaration or any

evidence from Barbara Richardson—the Court-Appointed Receiver and Greenberg’s client—

regarding this purported arrangement. One would certainly expect that the Court-Appointed

29 If Greenberg’s engagement was “limited,” the limitation was required (i) to be set forth in the engagement letter
and (ii) to have received the informed consent of the client. Nevada RPC 1.2(c). There is no evidence that either of
these requirements were met. In fact, Greenberg’s failure to produce the engagement letter should operate against it.
NRS 47.250(3) (creating a presumption that “evidence willfully suppressed would be adverse if produced.”). This is
because “when a party has relevant evidence within his control which he fails to produce, that failure gives rise to an
inference that the evidence is unfavorable to him.” Int’l Union, United Auto., Aerospace & Agr. Implement Workers of
Am. (UAW) v. N.L.R.B., 459 F.2d 1329, 1336 (D.C. Cir. 1972) (emphasis added); see also Bishop v. Lucent Techs., Inc.,
520 F.3d 516, 522 n.1 (6th Cir. 2008) (same). The rationale supporting this rule is patent: “[A] party fails to produce
evidence in its control in order to conceal adverse facts.” BNSF Ry. Co. v. Bhd. Of Maint. Of Way Employees, 550 F.3d
418, 424 (5th Cir. 2008). Thus, “[a]n adverse inference may be given significant weight because silence when one would
be expected to speak is a powerful persuader.” LiButti v. United State, 178 F.3d 114, 120 (2d Cir. 1999).

30 The foregoing presumption (fn. 29) is enhanced and extended by NRS 47.250(4), which presumes that “higher
evidence [the engagement letter] would be adverse from inferior being produced” [four year old hearsay recollections].
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Receiver and an Officer of this Court would be willing to provide a declaration under penalty of

perjury with respect to this alleged agreement. Her silence is deafening!

Likewise, at the time that Greenberg and the SDR should have disclosed this purported

“limited-scope” agreement to this Court (in December 2016), the Receiver was represented by the

Nevada Attorney General’s office and a Senior Deputy Attorney General named Joanna Grigoriev.31

Ms. Grigoriev requested approval from this Court for her then-client (the Receiver) to retain

Greenberg. Ms. Grigoriev did not inform this Court of Greenberg’s representation of Xerox (and

Valley) and the resulting conflicts of interest.32 Ms. Grigoriev did not inform this Court of

Greenberg’s and the SDR’s purported conflict remedy of screening Greenberg from any issues

involving Xerox (and Valley) and hiring Santoro Whitmire as alleged “conflicts counsel.”33

Considering that Greenberg did not submit a declaration from Ms. Grigoriev, the only logical

conclusion is that Greenberg and the SDR also concealed these issues with Xerox from the Nevada

Attorney General’s Office. One would assume that if Ms. Grigoriev knew about Greenberg’s

current representation of Xerox at that time, she would have certainly brought it to the Court’s

attention (or told the SDR to go find counsel—other than Greenberg—that was not conflicted).

In fact, Greenberg’s and the SDR’s concealment of the Xerox conflict from the Nevada

Attorney General is even more apparent through recent filings in this Court. The Attorney General

now represents Silver State in the Silver State Lawsuit. In that matter, Silver State filed a Motion to

Intervene, which has now been fully briefed and denied by the Court.34 According to Silver State, it

only discovered Greenberg’s prior representation of Xerox after reviewing UHH’s Motion to

Disqualify.35 Silver State, through the Nevada Attorney General, has now claimed that Greenberg

31 Mot. for Order to Approve Professional Rates on Order Shortening Time, filed Dec. 19 2016.

32 Id.; see also Ex. 8 to the Mot.

33 Id.

34 Mot. to Intervene, field Sep. 29, 2020.

35 State of Nevada, ex. rel., Silver State Health Insurance Exchange’s Reply to Opposition to Motion to Intervene,
2: 9-25; 5:9-14, filed Oct. 28, 2020.
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only sued Silver State because Greenberg was ethically barred from suing Xerox.36 Greenberg

does not address any of this in its Opposition.

Finally, Greenberg’s and the SDR’s assertions that Greenberg was retained as “limited-

scope” counsel ignores the Court’s docket, and quite frankly, reality. As of May 2020, Greenberg

had collected from the receivership estate almost five million dollars in attorney’s fees, and based

on the most recent status report, that amount has now surpassed five million dollars.37 In doing so,

Greenberg represented and continues to represent the Receiver in four separate lawsuits, including

the Milliman Lawsuit, the Silver State Lawsuit, the WellHealth Lawsuit, and a lawsuit involving the

federal government. Additionally, Greenberg has filed 15 status reports, as well as numerous

Motions, all in this Court on behalf of the receivership estate.38 Greenberg’s actions are entirely

inconsistent with any notion of a “limited-scope” role.

B. Santoro Whitmire’s Purported Role as “Conflicts Counsel.”

In conjunction with their assertion of “limited-scope” counsel, Greenberg and the SDR

contend that Santoro Whitmire was retained as “conflicts counsel” to address any potential issues

whereby Greenberg had a conflict of interest. In support of this assertion, Greenberg provides a

short, vague declaration from James Whitmire, Esq. However, Mr. Whitmire’s declaration does not

mention Xerox or Valley, thereby raising the question as to whether his firm was actually retained as

a result of Greenberg’s actual conflicts of interest, or merely as “conflicts counsel” in general.

Additionally, Greenberg failed to provide a copy of Santoro Whitmire’s engagement agreement,

which would show that it was actually retained as “conflicts counsel.” Finally, Greenberg and the

SDR fail to mention to this Court that Santoro Whitmire has billed less than $2,000 to the

receivership estate since January of 2017.39 Needless to say, Santoro Whitmire could not have

36 Id.

37 Twentieth Status Report, Ex. 1, filed Oct. 16, 2020.

38 See, e.g., Mot. to Coordinate Cases, filed Sep. 14, 2017; Mot. for Order to Show Cause, filed July 9, 2018;
Mot. for Determination of Good Faith Sale, filed Sep. 16, 2019; Mot. for Order Authorizing Satisfaction of Hardship
Claims, filed Dec. 6, 2019.

39 Sixth Status Report, Ex. 2, filed April 5, 2017; Seventh Status Report, Ex. 2, filed July 6, 2017.
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provided the receivership estate with any meaningful legal analysis and/or services relating to Xerox

and/or Valley at that price.40

C. The SDR’s Assertion That It Was Solely Responsible for Determining Whether
to Sue Xerox and/or Dispute Valley’s $5 Million Claim.

The SDR also asserts that it was solely responsible for determining whether to sue Xerox or

to dispute Valley’s five million dollar claim, and that Greenberg supposedly had nothing to do with

that determination. Again, the SDR failed to provide the Court with any documentary evidence to

support this assertion. For example, assuming this is true, the SDR would have prepared some sort

of written analysis analyzing the CO-OP’s potential claims against Xerox. Someone certainly

should have. While the SDR asserts—without any supporting legal authority—that the rationale

for its decision not to sue Xerox is protected by the attorney-work product doctrine, any such

confidentiality would not preclude this Court from examining this purported analysis in camera.

Additionally, the SDR (while comprised of various Texas attorneys) are not licensed

attorneys in Nevada. According to legal authority cited by Greenberg in its Opposition, “[w]hile a

receiver may also be an attorney, the receiver does not act as an attorney in the course of fulfilling

the duties of the receiver….” S.E.C. v. Nadel, 2012 WL 12910270 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 25, 2012)

(emphasis added). This begs the question as to who was legally able to analyze whether the CO-OP

had viable claims against Xerox under Nevada law? Or whether there was a legal basis to challenge

Valley’s claim, or a portion of it? Greenberg supposedly did not. Santoro Whitmire did not bill

enough to the receivership estate to perform any such analysis. And the SDR is not a licensed

Nevada attorney and was not appointed to provide legal services.41 Again, this lack of material

evidence indicates that Greenberg was not retained to nor acting as “limited-scope” counsel.

40 Furthermore, if Santoro Whitmire was acting as conflicts counsel, and if it did conclude that a conflict waiver
could be given in order to permit Greenberg to represent the SDR, that conflict waiver/consent would have to be
memorialized in writing and consented to—in writing—by the SDR—and Xerox—after consulting with separate
counsel. Nevada RPC 1.7(b). Needless to say, there exists no evidence whatsoever that any of the foregoing conditions
were met.

41 As this Court is well aware, it is a criminal offense to practice law in Nevada without a license. NRS 7.285.
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D. Additional Factual Assertions That Greenberg Failed to Rebut In Its
Opposition.

Greenberg also failed to rebut numerous factual assertions that were evidenced in the Motion,

thereby rendering them undisputed. They are as follows:

 Greenberg never disclosed its various conflicts of interest to this Court;

 Numerous exhibits, including CO-OP Board Minutes, a detailed letter from the CO-OP’s

CEO to Governor Sandoval, and the Deloitte Report, all of which showed that Xerox’s

actions significantly harmed the CO-OP;

 Greenberg received approximately five million dollars in attorney’s fees from the

receivership estate;

 Greenberg sold the CO-OP’s $43,000,000 receivable from the federal government for only

$10,000,000 so that it could continue to fund its attorney’s fees;

 UHH is a creditor of the receivership estate;

 Greenberg sued Silver State for approximately $500,000 that is currently held by Xerox; and

 Even if the Receiver decided to pursue Xerox at this time, those claims are likely barred by

the relevant statutes of limitations.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Greenberg’s Knowing Failure to Disclose its Conflicts of Interest to This Court
is In and of Itself Grounds for Disqualification.

In situations where counsel is aware of apparent conflicts which
counsel believes are outweighed by other factors, the conflicts must be
disclosed. The court then can exercise its independent judgment.
The decision concerning the propriety of employment should not be
left exclusively with counsel, whose judgment may be clouded by the
benefits of the potential employment.

See, e.g., In re BH & P, Inc., 119 B.R. at 44 (emphasis added). Any such disclosure must be made

due to appointed counsel’s fiduciary obligations to the Court. In re Futuronics Corp., 655 F.2d 463,

470 (2d Cir. 1981).
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It is now fully undisputed that Greenberg failed to disclose its then-current representation of

Xerox and Valley at the time that it was appointed, or at any other time for that matter.42 Greenberg

did not come clean until faced with this Motion to Disqualify, or else Greenberg’s conflicts likely

would have never come to light. See In re Envirodyne Indus., 150 B.R. 1008, 1021 (Bankr. N.D. Ill.

1993) (“Without this challenge, the court cannot say with certainty that Cleary, Gottlieb ever would

have revealed these connections.”). Even worse, Greenberg and the SDR have now admitted that

they were fully aware of these disabling conflicts of interest at the time of Greenberg’s retention,

but that instead of telling this Court about it, they covertly tried to resolve these conflicts on their

own and to Greenberg’s economic advantage. The relevant legal authority, including cases cited by

Greenberg in its Opposition, unanimously confirm the impropriety of such an approach.

For example, in Buckley (In re Southern Kitchens), the Bankruptcy Court for the District of

Minnesota addressed a conflict of interest which is a mirror image of Greenberg’s representation of

Xerox. The bankruptcy trustee had proposed the retention of counsel (F&W) to file an adversary

proceeding against various targets of the bankruptcy estate.43 Id., 216 B.R. at 823-24. At the time of

its proposed appointment, F&W represented to the court that it did not have any interests adverse to

the estate, failing to mention its prior representation of Gunberg, a member of the debtor’s board of

directors. Id. at 824.

F&W’s prior representation of Gunberg, along with F&W’s failure to disclose that

representation, later became the subject of a motion to disqualify. In confirming there was a

conflict of interest, the court explained:

Regardless of whom a trustee has identified as an opponent, if a past
or present client of proposed counsel was involved in any way with the
events that gave rise to the dispute, or could otherwise be the subject

42 As discussed in the Motion, the fact that Greenberg made an appearance on behalf of Valley approximately four
months before it was retained by the Receiver did not absolve Greenberg from again disclosing this adverse
representation at the time of its potential appointment and fully informing this Court as to how it would endeavor to
represent the adverse interests of the receivership estate and one of its most significant creditors. In re Tinley Plaza, 142
Bankr. 272, 278-9 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1992) ("[T]he court has no duty to rummage through files or conduct independent
factfinding investigations in order to determine whether prospective attorneys are involved in actual or potential conflicts
of interest."). Greenberg did no such thing, and of course, also never disclosed its representation of Xerox to this Court.

43 Notably, F&W was only proposed to be retained as “special counsel,” similar to the “limited-scope” role that
Greenberg is suddenly proclaiming here. Id., 216 B.R. at 823-24.
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of a claim based on those events, the client has an interest adverse to
the estate and disqualification results.

Id. at 827 (emphasis added). The court ultimately determined that because the defendants in the

adversary proceeding were pointing the finger at Gunberg as the true wrongdoer, F&W’s prior

representation of Gunberg amounted to a disabling conflict of interest warranting disqualification.

Id. at 827-829.

The court then addressed F&W’s failure to disclose its representation of Gunberg: “The

omission of disclosure as to this connection is stunning. No more need be said.” Id. at 830

(emphasis added). The court then noted that even if F&W’s representation of Gunberg was not

grounds for disqualification in and of itself (it was), the failure to disclose such representation would

be. Id. at 830.

Numerous other opinions are in accord with these two simple premises. First, that conflicts

of interest must be disclosed to the court in conjunction with an attorney’s proposed retention

(whether in a bankruptcy or receivership context) because only the court is capable of unbiasedly

assessing the conflict. Second, nondisclosure alone is grounds for disqualification. See, e.g.:

 In re Envirodyne Indus., 150 B.R. at 1021 (“Failure to abide by the disclosure requirements

is enough to disqualify a professional and deny compensation, regardless of whether the

undisclosed connections were material or de minimis. … It is the court's role, not Cleary,

Gottlieb's, to determine whether a disqualifying conflict of interest exists.”);

 In re Leslie Fay Cos., 175 B.R. 525, 537-38 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1994) (“Weil Gotshal was

mandated to reveal any connections which might cast any doubt on the wisdom of its

retention and leave for the court the determination of whether a conflict existed. It did not

comply with that obligation.”);

 In re Townson, Case No. 12-03027-TOM-7, 2013 Bankr. LEXIS 853, at *20 (Bankr. N.D.

Ala. March 7, 2013) (“If HGD believed it would have no conflicts representing both clients,

it is difficult to see how HGD would not disclose these connections so that the Court and

other interested parties could examine the relationships and conclude for themselves that the

representation of both is no cause for concern.”).
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Even Greenberg’s own cited authority, In re REA Holding Corp., confirms these mandatory

disclosure obligations. As stated by the Southern District of New York, “it is the duty of counsel to

reveal all of his connections with the bankrupt, the creditor or any other parties in interest. Had he

made the disclosures then it would have devolved upon the court to determine whether conflicts

existed.” In re REA Holding Corp., 2 B.R. at 736.44

Greenberg and the SDR made no such disclosures with respect to Xerox or Valley, despite

their undisputed knowledge of these conflicts. As characterized by the court in Buckley, this

omission is “stunning!” Greenberg and the SDR gave this Court no opportunity to analyze these

conflicts. Likewise, Greenberg and the SDR did not give the creditors—including UHH—the

necessary information to allow them to file an objection to Greenberg’s appointment. Greenberg

and the SDR instead chose to secretly plow ahead, filing four separate lawsuits and ultimately

allowing Greenberg to bilk the receivership estate of over $5 million in attorney’s fees.

Disqualification (and disgorgement) is warranted.

B. Greenberg’s and the SDR’s Unilateral, Covert Attempt to Cure Greenberg’s
Disabling Conflicts Did Not Suffice.

1. Greenberg and the SDR Did Not Disclose Their Supposed Conflict
Remedy to this Court.

Greenberg’s disclosure obligations to this Court were unavoidable and indispensable. As

proposed counsel to a supposedly neutral and independent officer of this Court, Greenberg (and the

SDR) had fiduciary obligations to disclose to this Court not only their potential conflicts of interest,

but also any measures designed to cure such conflicts. In other words, Greenberg and the SDR had

an affirmative obligation to tell this Court that Greenberg would only be retained as “limited-scope”

counsel due to its then-current representation of Xerox and Valley, and that Santoro Whitmire was

being retained as “conflicts counsel” to handle any issues involving those parties.45 In these types of

44 In citing In re REA Holding Corp., Greenberg inaccurately described its holding. Greenberg asserts that the
court affirmed the bankruptcy court’s finding of no conflict. (Opp’n, 13:21-22.) False. The Southern District of New
York reversed and remanded the bankruptcy court’s finding of no conflict so that the bankruptcy court could determine
whether counsel’s failure to disclose the potential conflict was grounds for disqualification. Id. at 736-37.

45 Greenberg continuously refers to Xerox as a past client. Greenberg ignores the undisputed fact that Xerox was
a current client at the time of Greenberg’s appointment and at the time it filed the Milliman Lawsuit, and thus, its
conflict of interest should have been analyzed under Nevada RPC 1.7 (current client conflicts). The only reason it is now
being analyzed with Xerox as a past client is because Greenberg and the SDR concealed this conflict for years. It does
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proceedings (bankruptcy and receivership), only the Court is capable of assessing and ruling on

these conflicts. In re Coastal Equities, Inc., 39 B.R. 304, 306 n. 2 (Bankr. S.D. Cal. 1984). Then,

and only then, could this Court make an informed decision whether to approve Greenberg’s

appointment and ensure that those conflict remedies are followed.

By their own design for economic gain, Greenberg and the SDR gave this Court no

opportunity to do so. Greenberg and the SDR cannot point to any instance in which they informed

this Court that Greenberg was “limited-scope” counsel and Santoro Whitmire was “conflicts

counsel.” Greenberg and the SDR cannot point to any instance in which they informed this Court

that the SDR—who is not a Nevada licensed attorney and was not appointed to provide legal

services—was solely making the decision as to whether or not to sue Xerox—a potentially

significant source of recovery for the receivership estate. In other words, this purported conflict

remedy was a closely guarded secret between Greenberg and the SDR, and would have remained so

if not for the filing of this Motion. Regardless, because this Court was never given the opportunity

to approve or disapprove of this so-called conflict remedy, and because this Court was the only one

capable of approving a proposed conflicts remedy, Greenberg’s and the SDR’s alleged remedy is

insufficient and must now be rejected (to the extent it actually exist).

2. Greenberg’s Newfound Contention That It Was “Limited-Scope”
Counsel Does Not Pass the Smell Test.

Greenberg is the sole counsel of record for the Receiver and the receivership estate in four

separate lawsuits: the Milliman Lawsuit, the Exchange Lawsuit, the WellHealth Lawsuit, and a

lawsuit with the federal government. Greenberg is currently the sole counsel of record for the

Receiver and the receivership estate in this action, and has filed 15 status reports and numerous

Motions in this Court.46 Greenberg’s comprehensive role in these proceedings has allowed it to

receive over five million dollars in attorney’s fees. This begs the obvious question: if Greenberg is

not matter in any event. As set forth in Buckley, “[t]he fact that the connection is past and completed, however, does not
matter; sensitivity to the sway of even a diffuse surviving sense of loyalty…makes it relevant” to the analysis. Id., 216
B.R. at 827.

46 See, e.g., Mot. to Coordinate Cases, filed Sep. 14, 2017; Mot. for Order to Show Cause, filed July 9, 2018;
Mot. for Determination of Good Faith Sale, filed Sep. 16, 2019; Mot. for Order Authorizing Satisfaction of Hardship
Claims, filed Dec. 6, 2019.
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truly “limited-scope” counsel, which Nevada lawyer actually represents the Receiver with respect to

other matters? And what are those other matters? It is certainly not Santoro Whitmire, which has

billed less than $2,000 to the receivership estate.

In fact, until this Motion was filed, Greenberg and the SDR never used the term “limited-

scope” counsel in this Court. They never used the term “conflicts counsel” in this Court. And they

have failed to provide any documentary evidence (engagement agreements, correspondence, etc.)

which corroborates their biased recollections that Greenberg’s retention was limited due to its

conflicts with Xerox and Valley. Greenberg has failed to present any evidence from its clients—

Barbara Richardson (the Receiver and an Officer of this Court), Valley, or Xerox—confirming their

approval of this so-called arrangement.

Greenberg’s and the SDR’s newfound assertion that Greenberg’s role was limited does not

pass the smell test, and quite frankly, stinks. Regardless, as addressed in the following section, even

if Greenberg’s role is truly limited in any respect, Greenberg’s conflicts of interest have still tainted

many of the pending lawsuits, most specifically the Milliman Lawsuit and the Silver State Lawsuit.

However, to the extent this Court wishes to address the scope of Greenberg’s retention further, that

is a matter well-suited for discovery and an evidentiary hearing, as discussed in the Motion.

3. Even as “Limited-Scope” Counsel, Greenberg’s Conflict of Interest
Taints Any Matter Involving Xerox.

Even if this Court were to believe that Greenberg was truly retained as “limited-scope”

counsel, and that the SDR—which has no licensed attorneys in Nevada and was not appointed to

provide legal services—was unilaterally deciding whether the CO-OP had viable claims against

Xerox under Nevada law, Greenberg’s conflicts of interest nonetheless taint many of the pending

lawsuits in which Greenberg is the sole counsel of record. That is because Xerox’s actions and

wrongdoings are significantly intertwined with several material aspects of those proceedings, most

specifically in the Milliman Lawsuit and the Silver State Lawsuit.

As discussed above, Buckley presents a mirror image of Greenberg’s conflict. The

conflicted counsel (F&W) in Buckley argued that it did not have a conflict because its former client

(Gunberg) was not a party to the litigation at issue, and the bankruptcy trustee did not believe that
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Gunberg should be a party to the litigation at issue. Id., 216 B.R. at 828. Sound familiar? The

Buckley court vehemently disagreed. “Litigation like this cannot go ahead under the pall that its

architects may not have analyzed, structured, and pled it with full detachment, and may be

influenced by continuing loyalty to an unsued agent of the Debtor's downfall.” Id. at 829

(emphasis added). The Buckley court disqualified F&W “[b]ecause of the possibility that its former

client is liable for the damage that it attributes to the Defendants….” Id. As recognized by another

court addressing a very similar conflict, “[t]he conflict found by the Bankruptcy Court affects not

merely a determination of the proper defendants in the action but whether it should have been

commenced in the first place.” In re Bohack Corp., 607 F.2d 258, 261 (2d Cir. 1979) (emphasis

added).47

The SDR has readily admitted that “Greenberg Traurig attorneys are the ones handling the

[Milliman] litigation, and they are the ones who are preparing the case for trial, which is expected to

last for several weeks.”48 The SDR has further admitted that “[t]he Receiver and SDR have relied

significantly on Greenberg Traurig’s advice and institutional knowledge regarding the Milliman

case.”49 In other words, the SDR has confirmed that Greenberg is the architect of the Milliman

Lawsuit. This is a huge and insurmountable problem. Greenberg, as the sole counsel of record,

and pursuant to its Rule 11 and other professional and fiduciary obligations, needed to determine the

appropriate defendants to sue in the Milliman Lawsuit. Greenberg’s and Mr. Ferrario’s “advice and

institutional knowledge” are tainted by their past representation of Xerox in multiple similar matters.

Greenberg and Mr. Ferrario are ethically prohibited from assigning any blame to Xerox with respect

to the failures of the CO-OP, and therefore, would be (and have been) much more inclined to blame

other parties, such as UHH, the Management Defendants, and the InsureMonkey Defendants.

Greenberg cannot act as an impartial arbiter of whether the CO-OP has valid claims against the

47 Other cases are in accord with these principles, even with the retention of “limited-scope” counsel or “special
counsel.” In re F & C Int'l, 159 B.R. 220, 222, 223 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1993); In re Ginco, Inc., 105 Bankr. 620, 621 (D.
Colo. 1988); In re Townson, Case No. 12-03027-TOM-7, 2013 Bankr. LEXIS 853, at *14-17 (Bankr. N.D. Ala. March 7,
2013).

48 Decl. of Mark Bennett, Exhibit 1 to Opp’n, ¶ 25.

49 Id.
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Milliman Defendants because it cannot appropriately analyze those claims within the context of

Xerox’s substantial involvement.50 Thus, even if Greenberg is truly “limited-scope” counsel, its

representation of Xerox still falls directly within that scope, especially considering the substantial

similarities between the class action complaints, the NDOI action, and the allegations against

Xerox in the Milliman Lawsuit.

The Silver State Lawsuit suffers from the same concerns. Silver State has explicitly alleged

that Xerox—and not Silver State—is in possession of the funds at issue.51 Again, Greenberg’s

conflicts of interest and its inability to sue Xerox has resulted in Greenberg blaming and suing other

entities for Xerox’s wrongdoing. It is also likely that the WellHealth Lawsuit is similarly tainted,

and based on Greenberg’s actions, it certainly should not be given the benefit of the doubt.

Greenberg simply cannot be permitted to continue litigating against UHH, the Management

Defendants, Silver State, etc. “[b]ecause of the possibility that its former client [Xerox] is liable for

the damage that it attributes to the Defendants…” Buckley (In re Southern Kitchens), 216 B.R. at

829.52

4. Xerox’s Involvement in the Milliman Lawsuit Is Genuine.

In another attempt to sidestep its conflicts and associated failures to disclose, Greenberg

attempts to shift the blame and point the finger at UHH by insinuating that Xerox’s involvement in

the Milliman Lawsuit has been contrived solely for the purpose of raising this conflict. Greenberg’s

unsupported accusations are not surprising coming from counsel with loyalties to Xerox. Of course

Greenberg is going to assert that Xerox should not be a Third-Party Defendant. Of course

Greenberg is eventually going to oppose the pending Motions for Leave to Add Xerox as a Third-

50 A lawyer may not act adversely to a former client in a related matter, or use information learned there to the
detriment of the former client. Nevada RPC 1.9.

51 Answer, Case No. A-20-816161-C, ¶ 22, filed August 24, 2020.

52 Much of Greenberg’s Opposition relies on In re AroChem Corp., in which counsel was permitted, following
disclosure of the potential conflict and a three-day evidentiary hearing, to act as “special counsel” despite its prior
representation of a creditor of the estate (Wells). Notably, the AroChem court considered Buckley in its opinion. In re
Arochem Corp., 176 F.3d 610, 625 (2d Cir. 1999). In distinguishing Buckley, the court determined—again, following a
three-day evidentiary hearing—that there was “no evidence that Wells might be responsible for the injuries asserted in
the Trustee's Texas Action.” Id. Here, however, there is overwhelming evidence that has been submitted, (expert
opinions and other documentary evidence), and none of it rebutted, that Xerox is responsible for the injuries asserted in
the Milliman Lawsuit.
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Party Defendant. That is precisely the problem with Greenberg’s involvement in this case.

Greenberg cannot explain why practically all of the Milliman Defendants—not just UHH—

have sought to implead Xerox as a Third-Party Defendant. Greenberg cannot explain why

practically all of the Milliman Defendants’ experts—not just UHH’s experts—have offered

extensive opinions confirming that Xerox is to blame for the CO-OP’s failures. The simplest answer

is often the correct one. It is because Xerox’s involvement is genuine, and eventually, a jury will

determine whether the Milliman Defendants are to blame or whether Xerox is to blame. The idea

that Greenberg could be involved with any such determination, regardless of whether Xerox

becomes a Third-Party Defendant, was thoroughly discussed and denounced in CFTC v. Eustace,

Nos. 05-2973, 06-1944, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33137, at *34-35 (E.D. Pa. May 3, 2007).53

Greenberg’s argument that Xerox’s involvement is contrived was considered and rejected in

Buckley. As was the case in Buckley and as is the case here, “[t]he record manifests a meritorious

dispute over the reason for the reorganized Debtor's failure….” Id., 216 B.R. at 828. Even if Xerox

were ultimately found to be free from wrongdoing (which is inconceivable),

[t]his finding, however, would come only after long litigation and trial.
In the meantime, the estate's fortunes in this lawsuit would have been
in the hands of counsel whose judgment might have been affected by
the intangible but persisting influence of past loyalty. Even were the
estate to establish its theory of causation, the result could be tarnished
by a persisting suspicion that [Xerox’s] role was covered up.

Id. at 829. Xerox’s involvement cannot be untangled from the Milliman Lawsuit, especially

considering it has already been framed and litigated for over three years. The only way to rectify it

53 In an attempt to distinguish Eustace, Greenberg argues it should not be disqualified because only the receiver
was disqualified in Eustace and counsel was permitted to remain in the case with the assistance of separate counsel.
Greenberg glosses over the fact that counsel was only permitted to remain in that case because the court determined that
counsel (as opposed to the receiver) did not have a conflict of interest because the firm had not represented the entity at
issue in the receivership. Eustace, Nos. 05-2973, 06-1944, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33137, at *40 (finding there is no
conflict after “careful review of Rule 1.7 and Comment 34”, which addresses affiliated and subsidiary organization
representation.) This important distinction was also one of the reasons—along with the key fact that the alleged conflict
was never concealed from the court—that the there was no disqualification in S.E.C. v. Nadel, relied upon by Greenberg
in its Opposition. Id., 2012 WL 12910270, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 25, 2012). Here, Greenberg represented the exact same
Xerox entity in the class actions and the regulatory matter before the NDOI as the Xerox entity at issue in the Milliman
Lawsuit and the Silver State Lawsuit (and perhaps even the WellHealth Lawsuit). Thus, not only does Greenberg have a
disclosure issue like that discussed in Eustace, Greenberg also has a clear conflict of interest with no refuge into
Comment 34 of Rule 1.7.
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is to require the Receiver to hire new, unbiased counsel. The Motion to Disqualify should be

granted.

5. Greenberg’s Conflict of Interest With Valley Remains.

As discussed above, Greenberg has appeared in this Court on numerous occasions, filing 15

separate status reports and numerous motions over a four year period. The SDR is not a Nevada

licensed attorney, and thus, can only appear in this Court through Greenberg. Despite this reality,

Greenberg and the SDR assert that Greenberg’s representation of Valley—one of the most

significant creditors of the receivership estate—is no longer a conflict because Greenberg has not

addressed and will not address any aspect of Valley’s claim.54 But that is not the issue. As

recognized by abundant legal authority, Greenberg’s representation of Valley and its continued

involvement in the receivership action gives the appearance that Valley will be favored over other

creditors. See, e.g., Hilti, Inc. v. HML Dev. Corp., Mass. Super. LEXIS 66, at *88-89 (Mass. Super.

Ct. Feb. 15, 2007). In a multi-million dollar receivership action that must be conducted beyond

reproach, these types of conflicts are unacceptable.

Greenberg alluded to obtaining a conflict waiver from Valley (yet failed to disclose it), which

is even further evidence that Greenberg was aware of this issue yet intentionally concealed it from

this Court.55 Nevertheless, this Court needed to be involved with any such waiver to determine

whether it could actually resolve the conflict. Unlikely, considering numerous courts have rejected

the effectiveness of any such waiver, finding that representing a receivership or bankruptcy estate as

well as a creditor of the estate in the same matter is incurable. See, e.g., In re Project Orange

Assocs., LLC, 431 B.R. 363, 375 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010); In re Git-N-Go, Inc., 321 B.R. 54, 60

(N.D. Okla. 2004); In re Am. Energy Trading, Inc., 291 B.R. 154, 158 (W.D. Mo. 2003).

54 Greenberg asserts that it has not done any work for Valley “in this matter” since December 13, 2016. (Decl. of
Mark Ferrario, Ex. 2 to Opp’n, ¶ 20.) This carefully-worded qualification indicates Greenberg likely continued to
represent Valley in other matters following that date, especially when compared to Mr. Ferrario’s unequivocal statement
that “Greenberg Traurig does not currently represent Xerox in any matters.” (Compare with id., ¶ 17.) Further,
Greenberg has never withdrawn from representing Valley in this matter, meaning its representation of Valley in this
matter is still current. Thus, it appears that Greenberg likely represents Valley to this day in this matter and potentially in
other matters, something that can be further analyzed if this Court determines that discovery and an evidentiary hearing
are necessary.

55 See fn. 29 and 40 and accompanying text, setting forth the prerequisites to conflict waivers.
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Considering that Greenberg has not been screened from the entire receivership action,56 and has

constantly appeared and continues to appear in this receivership action, Valley’s (undisclosed)

conflict waiver should not hold any weight. The Motion should be granted, and Greenberg should

be disqualified from the receivership action.

C. UHH Has Standing to Object to Greenberg’s Conflicts of Interest.

Greenberg’s standing argument is erroneously based on the framework of a typical lawsuit,

as opposed to a receivership or bankruptcy matter such as this. Greenberg is representing a receiver

with fiduciary obligations to every single creditor of the receivership estate. See Hilti, Inc., 2007

Mass. Super. LEXIS 66, at *55-56 (“[A] Receiver owes fiduciary duty to all the parties in interest,

including the creditors.…”). In fact, on multiple occasions, Greenberg has claimed that the

Receiver—and thus Greenberg by extension—also represents all of the creditors.57 It logically

follows that any creditor would have standing to object to a court-appointed counsel’s conflicts of

interest that are directly affecting the receivership estate, whether through the failure to maximize

the estate’s assets (i.e., failing to sue Xerox) or through depletion of the estate’s assets due to

exorbitant attorney’s fees (i.e., billing and receiving over five million dollars in attorney’s fees).

Accordingly, in many of the cases cited throughout the Motion and above, the appointed

counsel’s conflict was raised by creditors of the estate. See, e.g., In re Bohack Corp., 607 F.2d at

262; In re Envirodyne Indus., 150 B.R. at 1011; In re F & C Int'l, 159 B.R. 220, 222 (Bankr. S.D.

Ohio 1993). As explained by the Bohack court:

In any event, several appellants do have standing. As the bankruptcy
judge noted, Gulf & Western Industries, Charles G. Bluhdorn, and
Don F. Gaston are listed as creditors in Schedule A-3 filed by the
debtor-in possession. They allege that their pecuniary interests will
suffer through the depletion of estate assets in the form of fees paid for
the continued retention of Shaw & Levine as special counsel. Loss of
assets is certainly an adverse effect upon the interests of creditors,
and is unquestionably related to the bankruptcy proceeding.

56 This assumes that screening is possible, which it likely is not. See Nevada RPC 1.10, which differs materially
from the Model Rule.

57 Am. Compl., ¶ 1, Case No. A-17-760558-C, filed Sep. 24, 2018 (“Plaintiff, is the Commissioner of the Nevada
Division of Insurance…and sues in her capacity as NHC’s court-appointed Receiver, having brought this action on
behalf of NHC, NHC’s members, insured enrollees, and creditors.”) (emphasis added); see also id., ¶¶ 13, 46, 373.
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In re Bohack Corp., 607 F.2d at 262. In other instances, the conflict was raised by a defendant

which had been sued by conflicted counsel. See, e.g., Eustace, Nos. 05-2973, 06-1944, 2007 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 33137, at *13; Buckley (In re Southern Kitchens), 216 B.R. at 821; In re Townson, Case

No. 12-03027-TOM-7, 2013 Bankr. LEXIS 853, at *2. These types of parties have standing as well,

as the conflict very well may have resulted in conflicted counsel blaming other parties for its client’s

wrongdoing. For example, UHH has been harmed by Greenberg’s inability and unwillingness to

blame Xerox, meaning that Greenberg has instead blamed parties such as UHH. UHH is a creditor

of the receivership estate and has been sued by conflicted counsel, and therefore has standing

pursuant to the above authority.58

Additionally, although the Nevada Supreme Court has not addressed standing within the

context of a receivership, the exception set forth in Liapis v. District Court would certainly

encompass this particular situation. Id., 128 Nev. 414, 420, 282 P.3d 733, 737 (2012) (“[I]f the

breach of ethics ‘so infects the litigation in which disqualification is sought that it impacts the

nonclient moving party's interest in a just and lawful determination of her claims, she may have the

standing needed to bring a motion to disqualify based on a third-party conflict of interest or other

ethical violation.’”) (citation omitted). Greenberg’s Xerox and Valley conflicts of interest have

certainly infected and continue to infect these various proceedings. This is a multi-million dollar

receivership which must be conducted beyond reproach, and any impropriety subjects the entire

proceeding to scrutiny. As set forth in a similar bankruptcy context, “‘the conduct of bankruptcy

proceedings not only should be right but must seem right.’” In re Bohack Corp., 607 F.2d at 263

(citation omitted). And as set forth above, Greenberg’s conflicts have resulted in substantial harm to

UHH’s interests as a creditor as well as a defendant being sued by conflicted counsel. Accordingly,

UHH has standing to object to Greenberg’s various conflicts.

D. UHH Did Not and Could Not Waive its Right to Object to Greenberg’s Conflict.

In another attempt to sidestep its concealment and its disabling conflicts of interest,

Greenberg raises another technicality—waiver. Yet again, Greenberg fails to recognize that the

58 UHH Proof of Claim, attached as Exhibit 25.
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typical waiver argument that may apply to a former client does not apply to the unique conflicts that

arise within the context of bankruptcy and receivership matters. In re Coastal Equities, Inc., 39 B.R.

at 306 n. 2 (“There exists an independent duty to comply with the Code and Rules, and fully inform

the Court. This was the Applicant's responsibility and it was not discharged by informing those who

were not in a position to judge the fitness of an attorney for employment. Only the Court can make

such a determination, and it has not granted a waiver.”). In re Envirodyne Indus., 150 B.R. at 1016

(confirming that bankruptcy courts do not permit noncompliance with conflict rules to be excused by

waiver); In re Am. Energy Trading, Inc., 291 B.R. 154, 158 (W.D. Mo. 2003) (same).

Assuming, arguendo, UHH was legally capable of waiving a conflict that has infiltrated this

receivership action and most of its related lawsuits, Greenberg’s assertion that UHH should have

immediately known all the details of Greenberg’s confidential attorney-client representation of

Xerox and Valley is ridiculous. It should not be lost on this Court that Greenberg is trying to

capitalize on the fact that UHH was not Greenberg’s client for the purposes of its standing argument.

In doing so, Greenberg is talking out of both sides of its mouth. The fact that UHH was not

Greenberg’s client means that UHH was not privy to the type of information that would permit

UHH to immediately raise this conflict. And as discussed in detail above, Greenberg successfully

concealed these conflicts from this Court and all of the estate’s creditors—including UHH—by

failing to disclose them at the time of its appointment, or any other time for that matter. Under

these circumstances, it would be particularly inequitable to find a waiver of these serious conflicts.

Greenberg argues that its representation of Xerox in the class actions was public record, but

fails to cite any authority indicating that UHH was required to exhaustively search the court

docket for any and all of Greenberg’s conflicting representations. Greenberg also argues that

UHH has “offered no explanation whatsoever for their delay in raising this supposed conflict that they

have known about for years.”59 Greenberg fails to mention that UHH included an entire section in its

Motion explaining how and when it became suspicious that Greenberg’s representations of Xerox were

affecting the Receiver’s litigation decisions (i.e., Greenberg’s failure to sue Xerox along with Silver State

59 Opp’n, 20:8-10 (emphasis in original).
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in June 2020), and thus began to inquire further into these issues.60 UHH sent correspondence to

Greenberg (to which Greenberg refused to substantively respond), served public records requests on

numerous government agencies including the NDOI (through which UHH learned of Greenberg’s

representation of Xerox before the NDOI), and served discovery requests on the CO-OP in the Milliman

Lawsuit (in which UHH conclusively learned that the CO-OP had not settled any potential claims against

Xerox).61 UHH needed to discover all of this information before it could appropriately bring this

Motion before the Court. Likewise, UHH needed a full understanding of Xerox’s wrongdoing and

how it affected the CO-OP’s claims against UHH—information that was finally confirmed upon

completion of the Milliman Defendants’ expert reports in October 2020. As ill-conceived as it is,

Greenberg’s waiver argument should be rejected.

E. The SDR’s Assertions of Prejudice Can (and Should) Be Remedied by Requiring
Greenberg to Disgorge Its Ill-Gotten Attorney’s Fees.

Greenberg and the SDR argue that if Greenberg is disqualified, even from just the Milliman

Lawsuit, the Receiver—who has not said a thing about any of this—will suffer extreme prejudice

because Greenberg is the only law firm familiar enough with all of these proceedings to continue

litigating them. Of course, Greenberg’s and the SDR’s cries of prejudice should fall on deaf ears

considering they are solely to blame for this. They are the ones who decided to conceal these

disabling conflicts of interest from this Court for years.

Regardless, UHH’s Motion includes the perfect and legally-supported remedy to cure this

prejudice to the Receiver—disgorgement of Greenberg’s attorney’s fees. After Greenberg returns its

ill-gotten attorney’s fees to the receivership estate (approximately five million dollars), the estate

will have more than enough assets to hire substitute counsel to get up to speed. While this may

result in a delay, mere delay does not constitute undue prejudice, especially considering these

matters will likely be delayed in any event due to COVID issues and trial setting backlogs.

With respect to the disgorgement remedy, Greenberg’s fleeting arguments are quite tepid.

UHH cited numerous opinions in its Motion which confirm that the Court has the authority to deny

60 Mot. to Disqualify, 14:9-15:14.

61 Id.
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compensation from conflicted counsel to the extent those conflicts were undisclosed.62 See also In

re Futuronics Corp., 655 F.2d at 471 (requiring disgorgement for a failure to disclose). It is now

undisputed that Greenberg did not disclose these conflicts despite being aware of them at the time,

thereby making that authority directly applicable. Further, Greenberg’s argument that denying it

compensation is inappropriate because Greenberg has already been paid is simply ludicrous. That

approach would permit any conflicted counsel to retain its fees as long as it was able to conceal its

conflicts long enough to get paid, certainly not a sound policy in any respect. Courts do not allow

bank robbers to keep stolen money if they are able to avoid getting caught for a prolonged period.

Finally, Greenberg’s standing argument with respect to disgorgement fails for the same

reason as its standing argument with respect to disqualification.63 UHH is a creditor of the

receivership estate and has been sued by conflicted counsel. Regardless, in this instance, the Court

certainly has discretion to order disgorgement for the benefit of the receivership estate and to avoid

the prejudice which Greenberg and the SDR have attempted to articulate. Accordingly, this Court

should order that Greenberg’s ill-gotten attorney’s fees be returned to the receivership estate.

F. If This Court Believes Additional Information Is Necessary, Discovery and an
Evidentiary Hearing Are Appropriate.

Greenberg and the SDR want this Court to take them at their word after admittedly

concealing these conflicts of interest for almost four years. They want this Court to simply accept

that Greenberg was “limited-scope” counsel without actually providing any documentary proof of

such an agreement. For the reasons set forth above, Greenberg must be disqualified regardless of the

scope of its retention. However, if the Court does believe additional information is necessary, it

should order discovery and an evidentiary hearing. To be sure, the vast majority of Greenberg’s

cited authority in support of its “limited-scope” argument all conducted some sort of evidentiary

hearing to determine whether certain conflict remedies were sufficient. See, e.g., In re Arochem

62 Mot. to Disqualify, 27:11-22.

63 Greenberg relies solely on one inapposite unpublished decision from 2014 in support of this argument. It
should also be noted that the Nevada Supreme Court would never accept such a decision as precedent considering it
predates January 1, 2016. Nev. R. App. P. 36(c)(3).
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Corp., 176 F.3d at 617 (“the court noted that throughout three days of hearings”). Greenberg does

not provide any legitimate reason to deny such a process here.

V. CONCLUSION

Greenberg and the SDR have duped this Court and all of the creditors of the receivership

estate. Despite their admitted knowledge of Greenberg’s disabling conflicts, they have been hiding

them for years. Only after they were caught did they come forward with some sort of pretextual and

illogical justification why Greenberg’s representation of Xerox and Valley is appropriate. That was

for this Court to decide four years ago. Greenberg and the SDR chose not to involve this Court,

likely because they knew it would wisely tell the Receiver to choose different and unconflicted

counsel (depriving Greenberg of a substantial economic gain). Even worse, Greenberg’s so-called

conflict remedies did not actually resolve these conflicts because Xerox and Valley remain

entrenched in all aspects of these proceedings. The only possible way to remedy this infection is to

remove its source—Greenberg. And in order to avoid any prejudice to the receivership estate,

Greenberg should be disqualified and forced to disgorge to the receivership estate the entirety of its

fees.

DATED this 8th day of December, 2020.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Dennis L. Kennedy
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOHN R. BAILEY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Unite Here Health
and Nevada Health Solutions, LLC
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of BAILEYKENNEDY and that on the 8th day of

December, 2020, service of the foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF UNITE HERE HEALTH

AND NEVADA HEALTH SOLUTIONS, LLC’S MOTION TO: (1) DISQUALIFY

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP AS COUNSEL FOR THE STATUTORY RECEIVER OF

NEVADA HEALTH CO-OP; AND (2) DISGORGE ATTORNEY’S FEES PAID BY

NEVADA HEALTH CO-OP TO GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP, was made by mandatory

electronic service through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system on all parties

with an email address on record in this case.

/s/ Sharon L. Murnane___________
Employee of BAILEYKENNEDY
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Confidential 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTRY, NEVADA. 

STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL. 
COMMISSIONER OF INSURANCE,  
BARBARA D. RICHARDSON, IN HER 
OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS RECEIVER FOR  
NEVADA HEALTH CO-OP, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MILLIMAN, INC. a Washington Corporation; 
JONATHAN L. SHREVE, an Individual; MARY 
VAN DER HEIJDE, an Individual; MILLENNIUM 
CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC, a North Carolina 
Corporation; LARSON & COMPANY P.C., a Utah 
Professional Corporation; DENNIS T. LARSON, an 
Individual; MARTHA HAYES, an Individual; 
INSUREMONKEY, INC., a Nevada Corporation; 
ALEX RIVLIN, an Individual; NEVADA HEALTH 
SOLUTIONS, LLC., a Nevada Limited Liability 
Company; PAMELA EGAN, an Individual; BASIL 
C. DIBSIE, an Individual; LINDA MATTOON, an 
Individual; TOM ZUMTOBEL, an Individual; 
BOBBETTE BOND, an Individual; KATHLEEN 
SILVER, an Individual; UNITE HERE HEALTH, is 
A multi-employer health and welfare trust as defined  
in ERISA Section 3(37); DOES I TRHOUGH X 
inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I-X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 
 

 
 
CASE NO. A-17-760558-C 
 
DEPT. NO. XVI 

 

EXPERT REPORT OF XAVIER OUSTALNIOL, CPA, CFF, CIRA 

October 02, 2020 
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I. Qualifications 

1. I am the partner in charge of the San Francisco office of StoneTurn, LLC, (“StoneTurn”), in 

California. StoneTurn is a consulting firm, which provides to companies and their counsel forensic 

accounting and investigative services, compliance and monitoring, data analytics, forensic 

technology and litigation consulting services. I have 30 years of combined professional experience 

providing litigation consulting, forensic accounting, and audit related services in a variety of 

contexts. I started my career as an auditor with Deloitte & Touche, where I audited a number of 

companies in a variety of industries.  

2. I graduated in 1990 with a B.A./Masters Degree from the University of Paris IX, “Dauphine”, in 

Financial and Accounting Techniques.  I am a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) in New York and 

California, I hold a certification in Financial Forensics, and I am a Certified Insolvency and 

Restructuring Advisor.  

3. I have worked on litigation and bankruptcy matters in various capacities including performing 

damages analyses, lost profit analyses, conducting investigations into fraud, improper financial 

reporting, audit malpractice, other breach of contract related disputes, and other consulting 

assignments. I have been involved with the identification, analysis and aspects of the resolution 

of bankruptcy claims and avoidable transfers as part of the restructuring team of large debtors, as 

consultant to trustees, and for the benefit of creditors in some of the largest bankruptcies (Enron, 

Lehman Brothers and others). Recently, I was involved with the estimation process of damages 

suffered by torts claimants in the PG&E bankruptcy on behalf of the Torts Claimants Committee. 

4. I have provided consulting services and expert testimony relating to damages calculations, the 

proper application of generally accepted accounting principles, including in connection with 

bankruptcy proceedings and in other contexts. I have been involved with insurance related 

disputes as well. I testified as an expert in federal court, provided affidavits and testimony before 

the ITC and at arbitration proceedings. 

5. My curriculum vitae, which summarizes my qualifications and professional experience, including 

testimony experience and articles is attached as Exhibit 1.  

II. Scope of Services 

6. I have been retained as an expert in this matter by Unite Here Health (“UHH”) and its subsidiary 

Nevada Health Solutions (“NHS”) (collectively, “UHH/NHS”) to assist counsel at Seyfarth Shaw, 
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LLP and Bailey Kennedy, LLP (collectively, “Counsel”) in connection with the complaint filed on 

August 25, 2017 (the “Original Complaint”)1 by the Receiver (the “Receiver”)2,3 for Nevada Health 

CO-OP4 (“NHC”), subsequently amended on September 24, 2018 (“2018.09.24 Plaintiff Amended 

Complaint”).  NHC is a Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Program (“CO-OP”).  

7. I have been asked by Counsel to review, evaluate and rebut certain alleged damages analyses and 

opinions offered by the Receiver and several experts retained on behalf of the Receiver in this 

matter.  In particular, I reviewed the following expert reports:5 

1) Mr. Mark Fish reports dated July 30, 2019 (“2019 Fish Report”) and February 07, 

2020 (“2020 Fish Report”), 

2) Mr. Henry William Osowski reports dated July 30, 2019 (“2019 Osowski Report”) 

and February 07, 2020 (“2020 Osowski Report”), and 

3) Joseph DeVito Report dated July 30, 2019 (“DeVito Report”). 

8. Messrs. Fish and Osowski each provided two expert reports dated July 2019 and February 2020. 

Neither has explained whether their latest expert report supersedes the former, or why a second 

report was prepared. Without such explanation, their conclusions and analyses, can be 

contradictory, supplemental or overlapping. 

9. I will refer to Messrs. Mark Fish, Henry Osowski and Joseph DeVito collectively as the “Plaintiff’s 

Experts” and their reports collectively as the “Plaintiff’s Experts’ Reports.” My work on this matter 

is ongoing.  This report summarizes my current opinions given the information available to date. If 

additional information is produced after the issuance of my report, I may modify or supplement my 

 
1 State of Nevada Commissioner of Insurance, Barbara D. Richardson, in her official capacity as Receiver for 
Nevada Health CO-OP v. Milliman, Inc. et. al, District Court, Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-17-760558-C 
Original Complaint filed on 08-25-17. 
2 The Commissioner of the Nevada Division of Insurance, Barbara D. Richardson, in her official capacity as 
NHC’s court-appointed Receiver. 
3 State of Nevada Commissioner of Insurance, Barbara D. Richardson, in her official capacity as Receiver for 
Nevada Health CO-OP v. Milliman, Inc. et. al, District Court, Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-17-760558-C 
Amended Complaint filed on September 24, 2018.  
4 CO-OP is short for Consumer Operated and Oriented Plans, which were created as a program by the Patient 
Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”). See, https://content.naic.org/cipr_topics/topic_health_co_op.htm, 
accessed 09-13-20. 
5 Also, I read the undated draft report of the Special Deputy Receiver (“SDR”) for Nevada Health CO-OP (“SDR 
Draft Report”). No updated version of such report was provided at the time of the submission of my report. It 
refers to various calculations and theories of causation relating to UHH and NHS and other defendants, inter 
alia, but was not finalized, to my knowledge. The SDR does not claim to present itself as a damage expert and 
did not issue a final report. 
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analyses and opinions. None of my conclusions should be deemed or are intended to be a legal 

analysis or opinion. 

III. Compensation 

10. StoneTurn is compensated at an hourly rate of $750 for my services in connection with this matter. 

I was assisted by StoneTurn professionals and other consulting professionals working under my 

direction. Neither StoneTurn’s nor my compensation is dependent upon my conclusions reached 

in this matter or its outcome. 

IV. Summary of Opinions 

11. My opinions set forth below are based upon my analysis provided hereafter of the documents and 

information relied upon, listed in Exhibit 2 to my report, my research, and my professional 

experience, training and education.  

12. I have formulated the following summary opinions: 

1) Mr. Fish does not provide an analysis of or establish the causal link/effect 

between the actions of UHH and the alleged damages suffered by NHC. NHC 

would have been insolvent in any event because of other contributing factors 

independent of UHH and NHS that are not considered by his analysis, including 

but not limited to the unforeseeable failure by the federal government to pay 

monies owed under the federal loans program valued by the SDR to be 

approximately $55 million, other changes to the regulatory environment and 

market-based issues, and the fact that NHC was in start-up mode and thereby 

relied heavily on the monies promised to it by the federal government and faced 

various operational challenges. 

2) Mr. Fish does not explain how UHH could have been in a position to influence or 

decide the timing of the disclosure of NHC’s insolvency, at any point in time. 

Although the “deepening insolvency” theory of damages used by Mr. Fish has 

been previously applied to actions attributable to management, auditors, and 

lenders, UHH is not one of these actors.  Acting solely as a third-party 

administrator in 2014 and 2015, UHH did not prepare NHC’s financial 

statements and was not part of NHC; thus, UHH was not in a position, at any 

point in time, to disclose the insolvency of NHC.  
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3) Even assuming that the calculations presented, endorsed and adopted by Mr. 

Fish (from other experts or the SDR) could be assigned entirely to actions or 

inactions of UHH/NHS, they do not measure damages supposedly suffered by 

NHC because (1) liabilities allegedly owed to various creditors by NHC are not 

losses to NHC but rather to the creditors, (2) the losses incurred by NHC between 

two dates during which NHC was overseen by either management or the SDR – 

not UHH which never managed NHC – do not measure the incremental effect of 

the actions or inactions of UHH on the profitability of NHC, and (3) the SDR had 

not established whether some or all of these claims are valid liabilities. 

4) Further, the calculations performed by Mr. DeVito based on the SDR status 

reports, adopted, endorsed and repackaged as damages by Mr. Fish under the 

term of “Damages Due to Premature and Ill Prepared Commencement of 

Operations,” are overstated by at least approximately $13,309,000 simply 

because Mr. Fish failed to perform due diligence and update Mr. DeVito’s 

calculations with information that was available at the time of issuance of the 

2020 Fish Report. 

5) Mr. Fish’s calculations are overstated as they consistently fail to exclude 

recoveries sought or actually already received by the Receiver through actions 

against other defendants or other parties that should decrease the alleged 

damages asserted against UHH/NHS as they relate to the same damage claims.6 

Mr. Fish presents the same amounts as damages multiple times from multiple 

defendants for different and/or similar causes of action.  These alleged damages 

would not put NHC in the position it would have been “but for” the alleged 

actions or inactions of UHH/NHS and other defendants but would instead put 

NHC in a better financial position, which is not a correct measure of damages. 

6) Mr. Fish fails to explain whether alleged damages are claimed concurrently or 

separately based on each cause of action. Claiming such damages concurrently 

 
6 For example, the SDR has a pending action against the Silver State Health Insurance Exchange (the 
“Exchange”) for the uncollected premium payments of $510,651 and a pending action against the United 
States in the Court of Federal Claims for the amounts owed to NHC under the CO-OP program. The SDR has 
already settled claims against Millennium and is receiving settlement progress payments. Further, Mr. Fish 
does not offset the cost of services provided for free by the Culinary Health Fund or explain how such expenses 
would have been avoided if a different third-party administrator (“TPA”) had been retained.  Lastly, the Receiver 
collected $10 million from a third party in connection with the sale of receivables from the government, which I 
discuss later in my report (See, Exhibit 3). 
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would result in duplicative claims and a windfall for NHC and would be 

inappropriate as it results in claiming multiple times the same amounts from 

different or the same defendant. In fact, even assuming for the sake of argument 

that UHH and NHS were to be held responsible for the collapse of the NHC, my 

opinion is that such double counting by Mr. Fish, the SDR and Mr. DeVito, would 

result in a windfall of as much as approximately $818 million. (See, section C and 

Exhibit 3). 

7) The remaining analyses performed by the SDR and endorsed and presented as 

damages by Mr. Fish, due NHC by UHH/NHS, are flawed for the following 

reasons: 

• Based on my analysis, UHH did not make a profit and did not unjustly 

enrich itself by approximately $7.7 million. Mr. Fish failed to provide a 

basis for adopting the SDR’s calculations. 

• The reason why NHC did not collect approximately $6.2 million as 

claimed by the SDR is independent from UHH’s actions or inactions, and 

because Mr. Fish failed to analyze whether it was attributable to other 

parties and he ignored NHC’s and the United States government’s role, 

he failed to establish any causation between the alleged damages and 

UHH and thus these amounts could not constitute damages. 

• Uncollected premiums of approximately $510,000 are not damages 

caused by UHH. Mr. Fish failed to analyze or evaluate the actions of other 

parties such as Xerox and the Exchange in his analysis and therefore 

cannot conclude that these are damages are attributable to UHH/NHS.  

8) Plaintiff’s Experts rely on each other’s conclusions in a circular manner, and 

ultimately rely extensively on the SDR Draft Report or status reports, which were 

not prepared by anyone identified as an expert. They are mostly endorsing or 

adopting each other’s calculations, and ultimately the SDR’s calculations, without 

explaining the methodologies or the extent of their work to ascertain the 
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calculations performed by the SDR, their consultants, or the employees of NHC 

who remained with the SDR, as would be expected of damage experts.7  

V. Background 
A. Case Background 

13. NHC, a successor to Hospitality Health, Ltd. (“Hospitality Health”) was formed in October 2012 to 

provide Nevada citizens health insurance under the ACA.  NHC started writing policies effective as 

of January 1, 2014. After NHC started experiencing financial and operating difficulties, a 

Temporary Receiver was appointed on October 1, 2015 followed by a Permanent Receiver on 

October 14, 2015 as well as the SDR.8  NHC was declared insolvent and placed in liquidation on 

September 20, 2016.9   

14. On August 25, 2017, the Permanent Receiver in her official capacity as court-appointed receiver 

for NHC filed a complaint against NHC’s management, and some of its service providers, including 

NHS, its auditors, actuaries, consultants providing technology services, generally claiming their 

conduct led to NHC’s losses and subsequent liquidation.10  

15. The Amended Complaint, filed on September 24, 2018, added UHH as a defendant and lists 

seventy-two (72) causes of action against six providers of service, in addition to NHC’s 

management defendants. I understand that the claims include negligence, professional 

malpractice, fraud, breach of fiduciary duties, breach of contract and unjust enrichment.11 

16. In addition, on March 16, 2017, the Receiver for NHC sued the United States government to 

recover amounts due under various provisions of the ACA.12 I also understand that certain parties 

are engaged in arbitration proceedings, such as NHC’s actuarial firm and NHC has settled with 

others. 

 
7 In the SDR Draft Report, the SDR refers to NHC employees who remained with the SDR and shared 
information, but we do not know who they are. The SDR Draft Report includes place holders and approximately 
seventy footnotes with document titles that are not referenced to any underlying Bates number, even though 
the SDR claims that footnotes to documents relied upon are provided where necessary. 
8 See, 2016.01.13 SDR First Status Report, at p. 3. 
9 See, 2016.10.06 SDR Fourth Status Report, at p. 8. 
10 See, 2017.10.06 SDR Eighth Status Report, at pp. 8-9; 2018.09.24; 2018.09.24 Plaintiff Amended 
Complaint, at p. 2. 
11 See, 2018.09.24 Plaintiff Amended Complaint, at pp. 60-119. 
12 Barbara D. Richardson, in her capacity as Receiver of Nevada Health CO-OP v. U.S. Department of Health 
and Human Services, United States District Court of Nevada, Case No. 2:17-cv-00775-JCM-PAL, Complaint filed 
on 03-16-17 (“CMS Complaint”). 
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timely pay providers, among various other allegations.86   

10. Nevada State Exchange and Xerox  

53. The Exchange is a “state agency that operates the online [health insurance] Marketplace.”87  In 

2014, the Exchange was managing enrollment and determining eligibility status without 

assistance from the federal government. Starting in 2015, the Exchange was still a state-based 

exchange but relied on the federal government to “determine eligibility and enrollment 

functions.”88 Collections of premiums was also handled by the state and Xerox.89 As explained by 

Mr. Dibsie, “[w]e didn’t have to generate a bill, mail it to the members and collect the money.  That 

was all done [by the state and Xerox].”90 

54. Xerox was the contractor originally hired by the Silver State Health Insurance Exchange Board 

(“Exchange Board”) to manage the Exchange enrollment data.  The relationship was abruptly 

ended in May 2014 by the Exchange Board citing to “performance as the reason for dropping the 

contractor.”91 

55. I understand that NHC started experiencing issues with Xerox as early as October 2013.  A 

February 19, 2014, NHC Board Meeting mentions “three meetings a week with the Governor’s 

office, the other carriers and Xerox to communicate the challenges the CO-OP is experiencing with 

data submission from Xerox to the CO-OP […] with […] more than 3,000 members that are on Xerox 

pending list that the CO-OP has not received any data on to date.”92  Xerox’s mismanagement and 

issues were considered as “negatively impacting the CO-OP’s membership”93 and having failed to 

communicate eligibility to the CO-OP for some consumers.  These issues were discussed on several 

occasions during NHC’s subsequent Board meetings.94 Some of the concerns ranged from Xerox 

being “untimely in their reporting”, to the need to”[r]esolve Xerox issues”, the CO-OP “working 

through reconciling items with Xerox”, Xerox’s “payment collection process…only working at 45% 

 
86 State of Nevada, Ex Rel. Commissioner of Insurance, Barbara D. Richardson, in her official capacity as 
Receiver for Nevada Health CO-OP v. WellHealth Medical Associates. et. al, District Court, Clark County, 
Nevada, Case No. A-20-818118-C Original Complaint filed on 07-16-20, at p. 8. 
87 See, https://www.nevadahealthlink.com/sshix/, accessed 08-30-20. 
88 See, https://www.rgj.com/story/money/business/2014/05/20/nevada-health-board-dumps-xerox-
insurance-exchange/2285756/, accessed 08-30-20. 
89 See, 2019.03.27 Deposition of Basil Dibsie (“Dibsie Deposition 1”), at p. 35. 
90 See, Dibsie Deposition 1, at p. 43. 
91 See, https://www.rgj.com/story/news/2014/05/20/nevada-drops-xerox-health-insurance-exchange-
contractor/9354649/, accessed 08-30-20. 
92 See, 2014.02.19 NHC Board Minutes (LARSON014367-68). 
93 Id. 
94 See, NHC Board Minutes (LARSON014352-55). 
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capacity to accept payments […] and Xerox […] has drained the CO-OP’s resources as no less than 

50% of the CO-OP’s resources have been committed to Xerox and Xerox related issues since 

October 2013.”95 

56. I understand that ultimately, NHC assumed some of the responsibilities of the Exchange and Xerox, 

as a federal exchange was substituted.  At the end of 2014, the state “[…] fired Xerox and the 

functions that Xerox was performing got transitioned to health plans […] that’s the point where 

[NHC] had to start doing the billings to the members.”96  After that transition, IM was responsible 

for putting together the program for doing the billing to members.97  

57. I understand that the Receiver has also filed a separate lawsuit against the Exchange seeking to 

recover damages for unpaid insurance premiums in the amount of approximately $510,000, the 

same type and amount of damages it also seeks to recover against UHH in this lawsuit, which I 

address later in my report. 

C. Overview of the Affordable Care Act and Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan 
Programs  

58. Congress enacted the ACA in March 2010.98 The ACA included a series of reforms designed to 

make affordable health insurance available to more people, expand the Medicaid program, and 

support “innovative medical care delivery methods” to lower the cost of health care.99 

59. Additionally, under the ACA, insurers could not take “pre-existing conditions”100 into account when 

deciding whether to provide health insurance,101 and generally requires each person to maintain 

insurance coverage or make a payment to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and gives tax 

credits to certain people to make insurance more affordable. 

1. Overview Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan Programs 

60. I understand that under the CO-OP program, qualifying insurers were eligible for federal loans to 

establish and provide stability to insurers. Applicants were required to submit a feasibility study 

 
95 See 2014.05.23 NHC Board Minutes (LARSON014354, 355 and 388). 
96 See, Dibsie Deposition 1, at p. 58. 
97 Id., at p. 147. 
98 See, https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/affordable-care-act/, accessed 09-28-20. 
99 Id. 
100 A pre-existing condition is any personal illness or health condition that was known and existed prior to the 
writing and signing of an insurance contract. See, https://www.cigna.com/individuals-families/understanding-
insurance/what-is-a-pre-existing-condition, accessed 10-01-20. 
101 See, https://www.hhs.gov/answers/affordable-care-act/can-i-get-coverage-if-i-have-a-pre-existing-
condition/index.html, accessed 09-28-20. 
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October 2, 2020 

 
       
Re:     State of Nevada, ex rel. Commissioner of Insurance, Barbara D. Richardson, In Her 

Official Capacity as Receiver for Nevada Health CO-OP v. Milliman, Inc., et al, Case 
No. A-17-760558-C 

I.    Introduction and Professional Background 
 

      On July 25, 2019, Unite Here Health (“UHH”) and Nevada Health Solutions, LLC (“NHS”), 
or collectively, either “the Client” or “UHH/NHS”, retained the services of Coding Continuum, 
Inc. (“CCI”), to conduct an independent investigation in the aforementioned matter.  The purpose 
of CCI’s engagement was to review documents and formulate opinions in response to Plaintiff’s 
Amended Complaint submitted on September 24, 2018, the draft “Special Deputy Receiver’s 
Report for Nevada Health CO-OP, Causation and Damages for Key Vendors Unite Here Health, 
Nevada Health Solutions, and Insure Monkey” disclosed on August 5, 2019, and Plaintiff’s experts 
Suzanne Schlernitzauer’s and Henry Osowski’s opinions prepared on July 30, 2019 and disclosed 
by the Plaintiff on July 31, 2019.  On February 7, 2020, Plaintiff disclosed a second report prepared 
by Mr. Osowski.  The second report is substantially different than his July 30, 2019 report.    

 
CCI was asked to formulate opinions as more fully set forth below on the following seven 

issues: 
 

• Whether UHH materially contributed to the failure of the CO-OP1 by participating in the 
launch of the CO-OP. 

• Whether, under the circumstances, UHH properly performed TPA services for the CO-OP.  
• Whether UHH caused or contributed to the CO-OP’s backlog of claims.  
• Whether UHH was responsible for claims paid outside of eligibility for both medical and 

pharmacy services. 
• Whether UHH was responsible for overpayment of claims for both medical and pharmacy 

services. 
• Whether NHS properly performed utilization management services for CO-OP under the 

circumstances. 
• Whether NHS failed to protect the financial interests of the CO-OP by failing to conduct 

utilization management activities.  
 

 
1 The use of the acronyms “CO-OP” and “NHC” in this Expert Report refer to the Nevada Health CO-OP. 
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This case is comprised of millions of documents that serve as the basis for allegations made 
by Plaintiff.  Unlike Plaintiff, which has had nearly five (5) years to review this matter and, which, 
according to Plaintiff’s Response to Unite Here Health’s First Set of Requests for Admissions 
“[H]as not completed its investigation and/or discovery of all facts which support claims and 
defenses of this action”2, CCI has had a mere fourteen (14) months, including time constraints 
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, to review documents and formulate its opinions.  As of 
this writing, it is our understanding that approximately three million documents have been 
disclosed in the matter.  According to Donald L. Prunty, Counsel for Plaintiff, “There’s tens of 
millions of documents.” (Deposition of Kathleen Silver, Page 247, Line 13).  It is CCI’s 
understanding that discovery is ongoing.  Based on Plaintiff’s 26th Supplemental Disclosure dated 
September 18, 2020, Plaintiff has identified no fewer than 210 witnesses, the great majority of 
whom have not yet been deposed.   

 
On October 14, 2015, in Clark County, Nevada District Court, a Permanent Receiver was 

appointed, making the CO-OP’s receivership permanent.  On August 5, 2019, Plaintiff disclosed 
the Special Deputy Receiver’s (“SDR”) Draft Report.  According to the draft report, work by the 
SDR, specifically re-adjudication of health provider claims, commenced “upon assuming control 
of the daily operations of NHC.”3  The report states that, “Throughout 2017, these re-adjudications 
were performed, following a careful review of NHC’s network health agreements and other 
policies which affect the proper payment amount on health claims.”4   

 
In his expert report dated July 30, 2019, when discussing UHH, Mr. Osowski states, “Damage 

amounts were computed by the Special Deputy Receiver and appear reasonable based on the 
work I have performed.”5 (Emphasis added)  In an effort to determine the breadth and scope of 
Mr. Osowski’s work, CCI requested information regarding his retention date.  Despite requests by 
Defendants to determine the nature and timing of Mr. Osowski’s retention as a consultant and/or 
expert for Plaintiff, no information regarding the amount of time he and his staff have been 
accorded to conduct an independent evaluation has been forthcoming.  

 
The aforementioned factors, including an absence of time, such as that accorded to the SDR 

and Plaintiff, the dearth of critical deposition testimony from the majority of fact witnesses, the 
lack of disclosure of critical documents (e.g. Salesforce system notes), and the voluminous amount 
of documents and data in this case, have precluded a fulsome investigation of this matter by CCI.  
Nonetheless, its work includes a detailed assessment of claims associated with categories of 
damages asserted by Plaintiff in this case, notably claims allegedly paid outside of eligibility and 
those associated with alleged overpayments.  CCI’s analysis of each claim is memorialized in a 
series of exhibits attached hereto as Exhibits 8-12.  CCI also reviewed a voluminous number of 
documents and interviewed UHH and NHS personnel.  A list of sources consulted, and personnel 
interviewed is attached hereto as Appendices A1 and A2. 

 
      CCI will opine on the acts of third parties and the CO-OP that interrupted, disrupted, or 
materially impacted UHH’s and NHS’ services under their respective agreements.  It did not 

 
2 Plaintiff’s Response to Unite Here Health’s First Set of Requests for Admission, 8/7/2020, p. 2, Lines 18-19 
3 SDR Draft Report, PLAINTIFF02479819 
4 Ibid. 
5 Expert Report of Henry Osowski, July 30, 2019, p. 44 
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perform an exhaustive review of the basis and reasoning for the CO-OP’s actions and decisions 
under the circumstances that existed at the time those actions took place and decisions were made.  
CCI’s findings are memorialized in the body of this report and in spreadsheet exhibits that address 
myriad subjects including 1) Plans/Evidence of Coverage/Schedule of Benefits 
(“Plans/EOCs/SOBs”), 2) Xerox/Eligibility, 3) Networks/Out Of Network/Providers Not on 
List/Vendors (“Networks/OON/PROVNOL/Vendors”) and, 4) Claims/Crossover Issues.  
Appendix F is a key of employee/vendor initials and associated names referenced on CCI’s 
Exhibits 2-5.   

    
      In addition, CCI examined and will respond to Ms. Schlernitzauer’s expert opinions pertaining 
to the performance of NHS, and those of Mr. Osowski pertaining to UHH.  Separate exhibits 
attached hereto respond to each of Ms. Schlernitzauer’s case review findings.   

 
Coding Continuum, Inc.  

CCI is a nationally recognized consulting firm based in Tucson, Arizona.  Founded in 2000, 
CCI provides a variety of services, all of which are directly related to the management of health 
information and revenue cycle functions.  Services include vulnerability assessments, detailed 
medical coding and billing compliance reviews/audits, operational assessments, internal 
investigations, documentation reviews, and other client-requested services pertaining to the 
management of health information and revenue cycle operations.  CCI also conducts self-
disclosure audits for providers/practitioners who identify problems resulting in potential 
overbilling to federal health benefit programs.  Providers/practitioners voluntarily disclose 
information to the Health and Human Services (“HHS”) Office of Inspector General (“OIG”), 
including the estimated amounts of overpayments that must be returned.  

In addition to its work for the provider community, CCI provides litigation support services to 
both plaintiffs and defendants.  It provides expert testimony and consulting services to parties in 
matters pertaining to allegations of improper medical coding and/or billing.  Its experts have been 
qualified in both civil and criminal cases.  CCI clients include the U.S. Department of Justice 
(“DOJ”), including offices of the United States Attorney and Federal Bureau of Investigation 
(“FBI”), state Attorneys General (“AG”), some of the largest insurance carriers/health plans in the 
United States, welfare plans, self-funded plans, and nationally-recognized law firms.  In addition 
to its expansive work for the DOJ, CCI also functions as an Independent Review Organization 
(“IRO”), conducting independent reviews for a number of clients who are operating under 
Corporate Integrity Agreements (“CIAs”) pursuant to settlements with HHS-OIG. 

CCI’s coding/auditing and billing consultants have extensive experience evaluating the 
accuracy of ICD-9-CM/ICD-10-CM/PCS, CPT® (including Evaluation and Management [“E/M”] 
codes), HCPCS, and modifier use.  They are well acquainted with coding rules and conventions 
as well as guidelines regarding proper use of specific nomenclatures, reimbursement 
methodologies such as MS-DRGs, APCs, CMGs, RUGs, and federal/state claims submission 
requirements.  Most are dually credentialed by the American Health Information Management 
Association (“AHIMA”) and the American Academy of Professional Coders (“AAPC”).  CCI 
consultants have diverse backgrounds that include healthcare fraud examination and investigation, 
compliance, clinical practice, education, healthcare administration, health information 
management, clinical documentation improvement, revenue cycle operations, contracting, 
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reimbursement analysis, and cost report preparation.  Two of CCI’s experts have prior experience 
working for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”). 

 
CCI’s work for the provider community (including forensic audits and investigations, as well 

as operational assessments) includes engagements with large academic medical centers, 
community hospitals, large and small practice groups, and individual providers.  Engagements 
frequently include baseline and compliance audits, education, vulnerability assessments, ongoing 
monitoring, and comprehensive pre- and post-payment reviews.  CCI’s services are customarily 
associated with compliance program initiatives, defense audits and litigation support for both 
plaintiffs and defendants.   CCI has also conducted educational programs for its clients whose 
express purpose has been to provide general and individualized education on coding principles and 
applications, guidelines, regulatory requirements, medical necessity, and appropriate use of 
electronic health records (“EHRs”).    

 
II. Project Manager 

Christina Melnykovych, BS, RHIA, CFE, AHFI 
 

I am the President and CEO of CCI.  I am a health information management professional, a 
fraud examiner and fraud investigator.  I received my Bachelor of Science degree in Health 
Information Management from the University of Kansas in 1982 and am credentialed as a 
Registered Health Information Administrator (“RHIA”) by AHIMA.  I have maintained my 
AHIMA membership and credentialed status since 1982.  I am also a Certified Fraud Examiner 
(“CFE”) and an Accredited Health Care Fraud Investigator (“AHFI”).  In addition to AHIMA, I 
am a member of the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (“ACFE”), the National Health 
Care Anti-Fraud Association (“NHCAA”), the AAPC, the Health Care Compliance Association 
(“HCCA”), the Arizona Health Information Management Association (“AzHIMA”), the American 
Association of Healthcare Administrative Management (“AAHAM”), and the Women Business 
Leaders of the U.S. Health Care Industry Foundation (“WBL”).  I also serve as a Strategic 
Consultant for Epstein Becker Green Advisors (“EBGA”).  

 
I have managed health information management, patient financial services, quality 

improvement, case and utilization management, social work, and disease management 
departments in quaternary, tertiary and community hospital settings.  Since 1983, my 
responsibilities have included revenue cycle department operations at large teaching facilities and 
community hospitals, including hospital-owned practice locations.  I served as the primary point 
of contact for contracted review organizations both prior to and after the inception of Medicare’s 
Payment Error Prevention Program (Hospital Payment Monitoring Program).  While employed in 
the provider community, I served on Corporate Compliance Committees and was the primary point 
of contact for outside counsel on matters pertaining to organizational compliance. 

 
In my capacity working for the Veteran’s Administration (“V.A.”) and Valley Medical Center 

in Washington State, as the Medicare Part B contract administrator for the State of Washington, 
the Director of Health Information and Outcomes Management in Arizona, and the President and 
CEO of Coding Continuum, Inc., I have had extensive experience with regulatory compliance 
issues, both at the federal and state level, and have had administrative and operational 
responsibility for large programs and large staffs.  At the inception of my career as an RHIA, it 
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was imperative that I understand Medicare’s new Diagnosis Related Group (“DRG”) prospective 
payment system model and its associated regulatory language.  I provided physician education on 
the topic and was the primary point of contact for ongoing reviews performed by the local Peer 
Review Organization (“PRO”) that conducted routine audits of clinical records at St. Luke’s 
Hospital in Kansas City, Missouri, where I worked as the DRG Control Manager.  I was directly 
involved in installation of a sophisticated encoding and grouping product and was responsible for 
reporting hospital statistics both internally and to external organizations. 

 
My role as the Section Chief of Medical Information Services in Seattle required that I fully 

understand and apply policy language unique to the V.A., as well as Joint Commission 
accreditation standards. As the Acting Chief of Ward Administration and Chief of Medical 
Information Services, I was directly involved in administering and assuring adherence to policies 
addressing responsibilities of ancillary staff on patient care units and those that pertained to 
operations of both sections.  I conducted reviews of Soldiers’ Homes operated by the V.A. that 
were located outside of the Seattle metropolitan area.  The V.A. operated a Mental Hygiene Clinic 
as well as inpatient psychiatric units.  It was incumbent on me to ensure that policies related to 
documentation and management of health information for mental health and substance abuse were 
strictly adhered to.  I was also directly involved in selection of an encoding and grouping product, 
evaluation of a proposed Ambulatory Payment Group model, submission of critical, time-sensitive 
data directly influencing the hospital’s annual budget, conversion to a lab ordering system, and 
audits of the facility’s skilled nursing unit. 

 
As the Director of Medical Records and Patient Accounts at Valley Medical Center (a public 

hospital district facility), I was directly responsible for on-site surveys, particularly those 
associated with health record and billing reviews by the Washington State Department of Social 
and Health Services (“DSHS”) and the PRO.  Any on-site visits in association with complaints 
necessitating access to clinical records were coordinated and managed by me.  I was required to 
understand billing and payment policies for federal, state, and commercial payers and to respond 
to issues arising from the submission of claims to those entities.  I was directly responsible for 
management and administration of plans and contracts between the facility and third-party payers 
to assure proper billing, payment posting, collection activity, and reimbursement management.  I 
was directly responsible for two system installations, the design, development and testing of 
release of information software, the negotiation of a third party contract designed to provide 
dictation and transcription services to a private practice group that provided emergency care at the 
facility, and the establishment of the facility’s transitional care unit (“TCU”).  I represented 
management during negotiations with the local labor union. 

 
As Vice President, Medicare Part B, for the State of Washington, I was responsible for 

administration of the statewide Medicare Part B contract.  My responsibilities included claims 
processing, appeals, fair hearings, program integrity (i.e. fraud and abuse), medical and utilization 
review, coverage, Medicare secondary payer, Medicare IT, and provider relations.  The Medicare 
Part B Medical Director reported to me.  I was the principal point of contact for communications 
with the Seattle Regional Office of the HHS OIG for purposes of case referrals for further 
investigative follow-up.  During my tenure with Medicare, I was responsible for implementation 
of Physician Payment Reform and the education of 20,000 providers in Washington State 
regarding changes to Medicare Part B payment policy.  As a Part B contractor, I was accorded 
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millions of dollars in program investment dollars to assure that all necessary changes were made 
to the IT system,  that all  providers, statewide, received education and that an appropriate 
administrative structural framework was instituted to assure a smooth transition to Physician 
Payment Reform, in accordance with CMS (at that time the Health Care Financing Administration 
or “HCFA”)  requirements.   

 
I was also required by CMS to address its requirements for shared claims systems use by its 

contractors.  This resulted in the company providing a formal response to an RFP issued by the 
State of Montana.  As the selected shared system contractor, it was my responsibility to convert 
State of Montana Part B operations to our IT system, including training of personnel in Helena, 
MT in the use of our system.  This included all claims processing functions as well as those 
delineated above.  During my tenure, I was directed by CMS to consolidate Washington’s 
statewide bureau system to Seattle’s central operational location within a 90-day period.  

   
At University Medical Center (“UMC”) in Tucson, AZ, I was responsible for directing 

administrative, financial, and clinical activities.  Arizona’s Health Care Cost Containment System 
(“AHCCCS”) is one of the most innovative and progressive Medicaid systems in the United States.  
In addition to fee-for-service payment, AHCCCS contracts with numerous Managed Care 
Organizations (“MCO”) for services to its Members.  I was directly responsible for ensuring that 
health records were maintained in accordance with State requirements and that University Medical 
Center billed compliantly to Medicare, AHCCCS and commercial payers.  I routinely reviewed 
newly negotiated and amended payer contracts and was responsible for coordination of plans and 
contracts to assure compliance with preauthorization, quality and utilization, and billing 
requirements.  I was a permanent member of the Compliance Steering Committee and, prior to the 
appointment of a Compliance Officer, I was the principal point of contact for outside Counsel for 
compliance-related matters.  During my tenure, I was responsible for a major system upgrade to 
UMC’s Patient Financial Services (“PFS”) patient registration, billing, and collection system. 

 
As a teaching facility, UMC enjoyed a close relationship with a large practice group, 

University Physicians, Inc. (“UPI”) and the University of Arizona’s College of Medicine.  I 
worked closely with UPI’s CEO, department and section chiefs, and directors when the 
organization prepared for National Committee for Quality Assurance (“NCQA”) accreditation, 
including addressing implementation of the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set 
(“HEDIS”).  Critical issues involving faculty and the practice plan necessitated that I work with 
the Dean of the College of Medicine. 

 
Because of my background and experience with regulatory requirements, compliance, and 

physician issues, I was asked by the facility’s CEO and the Chief of Surgery to assume 
responsibility for UMC’s Quality Management Department in advance of the Joint Commission 
on Accreditation of Healthcare Organization (“JCAHO”) survey, including its addition of 
performance improvement (“IOP” or “PI”) standards to its survey process.  I was also asked to 
assume responsibility for Case and Utilization Management, Social Work, and development of 
disease management programs, including programs for the management of diabetes and wound 
care.  When CMS announced implementation of its Outpatient Prospective Payment System 
(“OPPS”) model, I provided education to more than three thousand employees at UMC, largely 
because of my regulatory background and intimate acquaintance with regulatory policy articulated 
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in the OPPS Final Rule in the Federal Register.  In my capacity as the Director of Patient Financial 
Services, I monitored clinical department performance to assure proper application of policies and 
procedures associated with the facility’s transition to an outpatient prospective payment model.  

 
During eight years with UMC, I was a point of contact for AHCCCS audits, Condition of 

Participation (“COP”) surveys and JCAHO (now “Joint Commission”) surveys.  When UMC 
acquired several UPI clinics and converted them to provider-based clinics, I was part of the 
integration team to ensure that compliant coding and billing of facility and professional component 
fees occurred.  Because UMC was a “teaching facility” with residency programs, I was relied upon 
for consultation pertaining to Medicare’s supervision standards for attending physicians.  I was 
also consulted regarding use of nonphysician practitioners (“NPPs”) in freestanding and provider-
based clinic settings and correct application of “incident to” regulatory requirements. 

 
Since founding CCI, I have worked directly with numerous jurisdictional offices of the DOJ, 

as well as the DOJ in Washington, DC.  Much of the work I perform is related to civil false claim 
matters and, in connection with those matters, I have worked both with federal and state 
governments and with law firms representing relators.  In addition, I have been retained to work 
on criminal matters with both DOJ and AG offices in several jurisdictions as well as by defense 
counsel.  In 2019, I provided testimony in the landmark “Escobar” case on issues of materiality 
and public policy.  

 
CCI routinely works on cases that concern claims that have been presented to fee-for-service 

Medicare, Medicaid and Tricare programs, and Medicare’s Part C program based on risk 
adjustment data. CCI has conducted large risk adjustment audits of Medicare Part C documentation 
to address proper coding and classification of diagnoses submitted by health plans administering 
Part C benefit programs. 

 
Our client case load is very diverse and includes work pertaining to outpatient hospital, 

freestanding clinic, inpatient, Partial Hospitalization Program (“PHP”), home health, hospice, long 
term acute care (“LTAC”), Durable Medical Equipment (“DME”), Independent Rehabilitation 
Facility (“IRF”), emergency room, urgent care, freestanding diagnostic, skilled nursing home 
(“SNF”), and other health care services.  We have evaluated issues related to dual-eligibility and 
state-funded Medicaid services.  The subject matter varies and is frequently based on alleged 
violations of specific language contained in federal and/or state statutes, the Code of Federal 
Regulations (“CFR”), and other regulatory policies.  

 
In addition to being a retained consultant and expert by DOJ and AG, I work with counsel for 

defendants who have come under scrutiny by federal, state, or commercial payers.  I have been 
engaged as an expert by firms that provide services to welfare plans, including preauthorization, 
claims processing and payment, and special investigations.  We have evaluated the work of TPAs 
and compliance with contracted obligations.  Our company has a reputation for independence and 
providing unvarnished opinions regarding allegations.  I conduct my work impartially and without 
prejudice.  As an RHIA, CFE, AHFI, and testifying expert, it is critical that I maintain the ethical 
standards of each professional organization that has accorded me credentials and that I subscribe 
to tenets associated with expert work.  
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During my career, I have been asked on numerous occasions to present information regarding 
coding and billing compliance at national, regional, and local seminars.  I have spoken at 
conferences sponsored by DecisionHealth, HCPro, American Healthcare Radiology 
Administrators, AHIMA, and AAPC.  I have been interviewed by Modern Healthcare, Briefings 
on APCs, and Radiology News.  I have provided technical expertise to the American Healthcare 
Radiology Administrators’ Link Coding Q & A and have served on the advisory boards of HCPro’s 
APC Answer Letter and CCH’s Compliance Edge.  I have taught the Compliance and 
Documentation chapters of the AAPC Professional Coders (“PMCC”) curriculum.  A copy of my 
resume is attached hereto as Appendix B. 

 
As I indicated above, I have been asked to provide expert witness services on numerous 

occasions during the last twenty years.  I have been retained by counsel for both providers and 
payers (including government payers) and have testified regarding coding, billing, accuracy rates, 
indicia of fraud, payer policies, regulatory language, materiality, and the propriety of clinical 
documentation.  A list of my deposition and trial testimony within the past four years is attached 
hereto as Appendix C. 

 
Tina Pelton, RN, MS, CCS, CPC, CEMC, CCDS, COC, CRC 
Project Lead 

 
      I am a Registered Nurse (“RN”).  I have a Master of Science (“MS”) from the University of 
California, San Francisco with a major in Adult Critical Care Nursing and a minor in 
Emergency/Trauma Nursing.  In addition to my nursing credentials, I have  multiple certifications 
and licenses, including current status as a Certified Coding Specialist (“CCS”), Certified 
Professional Coder (“CPC”), Certified Evaluation and Management Coder (“CEMC”), Certified 
Clinical Documentation Specialist (“CCDS”), Certified Outpatient Coder (“COC”), and Certified 
Risk Adjustment Coder (“CRC”).  I am a member of the American Association of Critical-Care 
Nurses (“AACN”), the American Academy of Professional Coders (“AAPC”), American Health 
Information Management Association (“AHIMA”), and the Association of Clinical 
Documentation Improvement Specialists (“ACDIS”).    

       
      During my extensive career, I have held several positions in community, academic and long-
term care settings.  My primary clinical orientation has been in areas providing Critical Care 
(Neonatal, Pediatric & Adult), Cardiovascular, Cardiothoracic, Emergency and Trauma Care 
(Pediatric & Adult), and Medical/Surgical services.  I have experience working as a Case 
Management and Utilization Review (“CM/UR”) nurse, a position which requires strong clinical 
background.  I am experienced in reviewing clinical documentation to determine the 
appropriateness of admission, care levels, and severity of illness.  I am skilled in the application 
of InterQual® and MCG (formerly known as Milliman Care Guidelines®) admission, concurrent, 
and discharge criteria.  I have extensive experience interacting with payers regarding concurrent 
and retrospective utilization review and facilitation of patient discharge planning needs.   
 
      In 2003, I assumed a role as a Clinical Documentation Specialist (“CDS”) in a highly complex 
quaternary care academic medical center in Tucson, Arizona.  In my capacity as a CDS, I routinely 
reviewed clinical documentation and interacted with healthcare providers regarding Medicare 
Severity Diagnosis Related Group (“MS-DRG”) patient populations.  My role required an 
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understanding of Medicare and other federal payer requirements for admission, medical necessity, 
International Classification of Diseases, 9th & 10th Clinical Modification (“ICD-9-CM/ICD-10-
CM”)  coding nomenclature, MS-DRGs (including Risk of Mortality and Severity of Illness), 
CPT® coding nomenclature, Recovery Audit Contractor (“RAC”) initiatives, rehabilitative 
services, and multiple other concepts associated with compliance and regulatory standards. 
 
      In my capacity as both a CM/UR and CDS nurse, I was required to access and review claims 
and associated billing information for individual patient accounts.  I was responsible to review and 
obtain, if missing, authorization for admission and continued stays.  I was required to document 
all my interactions with health plans and payers, including reviews and outcomes, in the claims 
and billing system.  As a senior level staff member, I was frequently involved in management of 
concurrent and retrospective payer authorization denials, aka “Denial Rebuttals”.  I was 
responsible for review of clinical records, application of UR criteria, coordination with medical 
team members as needed, and preparation of either verbal or written rebuttals.   

 
      In 2010, I joined CCI as a Senior Consultant.  My responsibilities include reviews of clinical 
records for the appropriateness of care levels and severity of illness, including the application of 
nationally accepted criteria set such as InterQual® and Milliman®.  In addition, my role includes, 
but is not limited to, conducting detailed charge audits; reviews of coding, claims and billing 
information, and MS-DRG assignments; and assessments related to Health Information 
Management and revenue cycle operations.  I have extensive experience accessing and reviewing 
claims and billing information in paper and electronic formats, including claims histories and other 
pertinent claims information for purposes of conducting forensic analyses.  In my capacity as a 
Senior Consultant/Operations Manager, I routinely review cases for plaintiffs and defendants.  I 
have worked on cases addressing the propriety of TPA services and those of Special Investigation 
Units (“SIUs”). 

 
      I have provided consulting and expert witness services on multiple occasions during the past 
ten (10) years.  I have been retained by counsel for both plaintiffs and defendants.  A copy of my 
resume is attached hereto as Appendix D.    

 
CCI’s rate for services in this matter is $350-$400 per hour.  Expert testimony is billed at a flat 

rate of $3,200 per day for the first eight hours and $400 per hour for every hour thereafter.  
Preparation of expert reports is billed at a rate of $500 per hour.  CCI’s fees are not contingent on 
the outcome of this lawsuit.   

III. Background Information 
 
      Relevant background information is attached hereto as Appendix E. 
 
IV. Project Scope and Approach 
 

Project Scope 
 
The scope of CCI’s work, as discussed in Section I, focused on four (4) aspects of operations, 

including UHH’s participation, as the CO-OP’s TPA, in the launch and ongoing claims operations, 
payment of claims outside of eligibility, overpayment of claims, and utilization management 
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activities6.  It also includes opinions regarding the work of the SDR and Plaintiff’s experts, 
Suzanne Schlernitzauer and Henry Osowski. 

 
Approach 
 
As part of its investigation, CCI initiated a three-pronged approach:  1) document review,     

2) teleconference and in-person interviews of UHH and NHS personnel, and, 3) analysis of 
statistically valid random samples (“SVRS” or the “samples”) of Medical and Pharmacy claims 
drawn from the universe(s) of claims alleged by Plaintiff and the SDR to have been paid outside 
of eligibility and overpaid by UHH.   As referenced earlier in this report, the SDR represented in 
its draft report (disclosed on August 5, 2019), that throughout 2017, it re-adjudicated claims after 
carefully reviewing NHC’s network health agreements and other policies affecting the proper 
payment amount on health claims.   

 
CCI requested that a SVRS from each universe identified by Plaintiff be drawn by a qualified 

expert.  CCI requested that samples be drawn for each of the two calendar years of the CO-OP’s 
operations (2014 and 2015), and that the samples represent Medical and Pharmacy claims.  
Pursuant to its request, Counsel delivered stratified samples to CCI, with instructions to review 
one hundred percent (100%) of each Certainty Stratum and a minimum of thirty (30) non-Certainty 
Stratum claims.  Each group of selected claims was bifurcated by Medical and Pharmacy claims.  
CCI was instructed that, time permitting, it should evaluate additional non-Certainty Stratum 
claims in groups of thirty (30) claims with each increment of claims it reviewed, i.e. Medical and 
Pharmacy claims.  A depiction of samples reviewed by CCI is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 
At CCI’s request, it was granted “live system” access to Eldorado’s Javelina system on January 

23, 2020, with training in use of the system conducted on January 28, 2020.  The purpose for 
according “live system” access to CCI was to assure that the system available to CCI replicated 
the contemporaneous system available to UHH during its tenure as the CO-OP’s TPA7.  The “live” 
version CCI worked with included contemporaneous eligibility and claims processing modules 
and associated data, images, and system notes entered by UHH, the CO-OP, and InsureMonkey 
Customer Care Center personnel during the timeframe encompassing calendar years 2014 and 
2015.  As referenced earlier in this report, CCI did not have access to the Salesforce system.   

 
Exhibits detailing CCI’s findings of its review of documents and claims samples are attached 

hereto and are specifically enumerated in later sections of this report. 
 

V. Expert Opinions:  Summary 
 
      Based on our expertise, experience, and review of materials relative to this matter,  
it is our opinion that: 

 
6 In addition to UHH, the CO-OP processed claims, including adjusting, pricing, and paying claims.  Under a Per 
Member Per Month (PMPM) arrangement, WellHealth paid providers directly until a change was made to FFS (Fee-
for-Service) processing by UHH, at the CO-OP’s direction.  Eldorado assisted the CO-OP with claims processing, 
including adjustments and “clearing” queues. It also was retained by the CO-OP to load plan and network information 
in 2015. In addition, the CO-OP engaged First Health to perform prior authorization, pre-certification, transitional 
care, and pricing. 
7 Ibid. 

2156



11 
 

Expert Report - Confidential 
Case No. A-17-760558-C 
October 2, 2020  CODING CONTINUUM, INC. 

 
1. The CO-OP was solely responsible for the decision to “launch” on January 1, 2014, 

and for all operational decisions, prior to and after the launch (until receivership). 
External and internal factors, none of which are attributable to UHH, contributed to the 
demise of the CO-OP. 

a. UHH properly performed TPA services for the CO-OP under the 
circumstances. 

b. The CO-OP, not UHH, caused its own backlog of claims. 
2. UHH did not improperly pay Medical or Pharmacy claims outside of eligibility.  
3. UHH did not improperly overpay Medical or Pharmacy claims. 
4. NHS properly provided utilization management services to CO-OP members, complied 

with  industry  standards  and,  in  doing  so,  protected  the  financial  interests  of  the  
      CO-OP. 
5. Mr. Osowski fails to address consequential factors associated with the CO-OP’s 

operations and, in doing so, errantly assigns responsibility to UHH for the CO-OP’s 
failure. 

6. Mr. Osowski’s representation that he conducted an analysis resulting in damages to the 
CO-OP is not substantiated by an articulated methodology and associated work 
product. 

7. Mr. Osowski’s opinion that damage amounts computed by the SDR appear reasonable 
is unsupported by a documented, independent methodology supporting his opinion. 

8. Mr. Osowski’s characterization of acts by UHH is baseless, inappropriate and does not 
comply with ethical standards of conduct for experts. 

 
VI.      Basis and Reasoning for Opinions 
 

1. The CO-OP was solely responsible for the decision to “launch” on January 1, 
2014, and for all operational decisions, prior to and after the launch (until 
receivership).  External and internal factors, none of which are attributable to 
UHH, contributed to the demise of the CO-OP. 

a. UHH properly performed TPA services for the CO-OP under the 
circumstances. 

b. The CO-OP, not UHH, caused its own backlog of claims. 
 
      Based on its review of documents in this matter, CCI has concluded that, as the entity 
contracted with HHS-CMS, the CO-OP had sole purview regarding the decision to “launch” or 
“go live” on January 1, 2014, and for all decisions, prior to and after the launch.  In addition, CCI 
isolated three principal factors that contributed to the CO-OP’s operational challenges, and which 
contributed to its demise.  These three factors materially impacted UHH operations, including 
claims processing.  Because of the complexity of each, CCI has provided some basic background 
regarding the development of all the CO-OPs, in general, in Appendix E.  The report narrative 
addresses the basis, reasoning, and context for CCI’s opinions.  Exhibits that substantiate each 
factor’s influence on the CO-OP’s operations and its deleterious impact on UHH operations and 
claims processing are attached hereto and referenced, as applicable.   
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      Xerox Data Reconciliation: “Board of Directors heard CO-OP attorneys prospective (sic) on 
this topic.   Action:  Ms. Egan  will  provide  CO-OP  legal  counsel  a  narrative of the issues the    
CO-OP encountered as a result of the bad data the CO-OP received from Xerox’ termination 
file.”92 
             
      Minutes  of  the  Regular  Meeting  of  the  Formation  Board  of  Directors  of  Nevada  Health     
CO-OP:  November 25, 2014 
 
      CEO Report [Xerox Reconciliation]: “COOP sent letters to 1,900 members on the termination 
list as directed by the Board. To date, 53 members were found to be on the termination list in 
error, 9 members made payment arrangements and other have asked to be terminated.  At the end 
of the month, all members that have not responded will be terminated.  Action: A re-analysis of 
all members suspended/pended as of November 1, 2014 will be conducted including an assessment 
of liability. The findings will be brought to the Board for discussion at the next meeting.”93 (Bolded 
and italicized for emphasis) 
  
      Minutes  of  the  Regular  Meeting  of  the  Formation  Board  of  Directors  of  Nevada  Health     
CO-OP:  February 4, 2015 
 
      Enrollment: “The COOP had daily combined calls with Eldorado, InsureMonkey, NHC 
enrollment and operations teams’ regarding data reconciliation for eligibility and payments. 
Enrollment data is received by the COOP through the federal exchange, NHC portal and paper 
applications. Payments are being received through: 1) Healthcare.gov 2) Authorize.net 3) NHC 
web portal 4) US mail 5) Bank drafts. The COOP experiences challenges receiving payments when 
the Healthcare.gov portal crashes and gives an error message to members that the carries (sic) will 
contact them for payment but the carrier is unaware of the member trying to make payment.”94 
 
      Minutes  of  the  Regular  Meeting  of  the  Formation  Board  of  Directors  of  Nevada  Health     
CO-OP:  April 1, 2015 
 
      Legal/Compliance [Xerox Reconciliation] “The Silver State Exchange has proposed to carriers 
that the reconciliation process with Xerox be discontinued”95. [This is also addressed in Exhibit 3, 
CCI#47] 
 
      Despite public information and private discussions regarding the detrimental impact of Xerox’s 
failure in its administration of the Silver State Exchange, Plaintiff, including her expert, (Henry 
Osowski), fails to acknowledge Xerox’s catastrophic impact on CO-OP operations and carriers, in 
general.  Moreover, Sections 2.2 (c) and 2.2 (e) of the ASA are clear in addressing the 
responsibility of the CO-OP to assure timely, valid, accurate, and complete information to its TPA 
(UHH), including regular scheduled eligibility data transfers.  From all the evidence examined by 
CCI, that simply did not happen. 
 

 
92 LARSON014415 
93 LARSON014419 
94 LARSON015837 
95 PLAINTIFF00237320 
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      There is no acknowledgement by Plaintiff or Mr. Osowski that Xerox played a significant role 
in consuming 50% of the CO-OP’s resources from open enrollment on October 1, 2013 through 
May 2014, when it was reported to the Formation Board.  CCI’s Exhibit 3, titled 
“Xerox/Eligibility”, chronicles how Xerox-related issues plagued the CO-OP during the entire 
2014 calendar year, and thereafter.  On July 28, 2015, Dr. Nicole Flora addresses the work of 
Indegene, a company retained by the CO-OP to assist with submission of the CO-OP’s risk data 
to HHS-CMS. “While, clearly, I would have liked a better financial outcome, I was pleased with 
them as our vendor. Our (mainly Xerox) data was hugely problematic and consumed all of the 
resources we had planned, limiting our ability to be proactive.”96 (Bolded and italicized for 
emphasis) 
 
      Emails reviewed by CCI (and referenced herein, unless otherwise specified, on Exhibit 3), 
between CO-OP personnel and those that include UHH, reveal communications with Xerox that 
include inaccurate information conveyed to CO-OP personnel, changes to the testing schedule, 
clarification of previously-provided information, all of them occurring perilously close, or after, 
the open enrollment period.  On October 3, 2013 (Exhibit 3, CCI #8C), the CO-OP’s CEO sends 
an email to Tanchica Terry (CMS) to address “Opening day report”.  He tells her, “Our biggest 
challenge remains the functionality of the state exchange.  Since the vast majority of our individual 
market will be eligible for subsidies (advance premium tax credit), much of our fate is tied to the 
performance of the Exchange.  The technical issues at the Exchange prevented people across 
the state, including our enrollment specialists, from completing applications for subsidies in 
order to formally enroll in subsidy-eligible plans.”97 (Bolded and italicized for emphasis) 
 
      On  October 15, 2013   (Exhibit 3, CCI #9), Shane Gruchow  (Xerox)  informs  Pamela  Egan  
(CO-OP) and Gwen Harris (CO-OP), “Based on recent issues, it was not feasible for us to produce 
the EDI transactions this week, so we have had to delay EDI testing until the end of the month.  
This was not something we wanted to do, but the result of a challenging schedule and 
unforeseen issues.” (Bolded and italicized for emphasis) 
 
      By November 4-5, 2013, testing continues and it becomes obvious that Xerox is failing to 
provide sufficient testing data, “We did learn on a recent call with the Exchange that they sent the 
full spreadsheet including cases for which they did not send 834s.  They did this in order to meet 
their stated deadline of last Friday.” (Exhibit 3, CCI #12).  By the end of November, 2013, Pamela 
Egan sends an email to CO-OP personnel and Gary Odenweller and Brooke Gearhart, “All – Gwen 
[Harris] has agreed to take on the challenge of keeping track of our issues re: EDI testing and 
making sure we get the information we need back and forth from our team to the Exchange and 
Vice Versa, so I’m copying her on this note. If you could all copy Gwen on your correspondence 
with the Exchange, that will help her help us!” (Exhibit 3, CCI #16) (Bolded and italicized for 
emphasis) 
 
      On December 30, 2013, the CO-OP realizes it has a problem related to unique ID numbers 
when Randy Plum (CO-OP Director of Operations) sends an email to Lisa Simons (CO-OP 
Enrollment Manager) and Pamela Egan (Exhibit 3, CCI #20A), “Lisa, There is going to be a 
problem using one cert number for all family members, and that is when a person goes to a 

 
96 PLAINTIFF01131000 
97 PLAINTIFF00962798 
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      Assertions by Mr. Osowski in his report that UHH “failed to track eligibility”102 demonstrates 
not only his lack of understanding of industry standards, as discussed above, but his failure to fully 
investigate the CO-OP’s organizational structure, its eligibility processes, and directives such as 
the one issued on August 12, 2014, by CO-OP personnel.    
 
      Communications regarding the aforementioned issue continued into early-August 2014 
(Exhibit 5, July 2014 [7/17-8/2] CCI#15) and culminated with an email from Randy Plum to Lisa 
Simons, “I don’t think you have the ability to delete lines (correct?). I suggest then that the pending 
line get added, deleted by UHH after the claim is processed, and lots of documentation put into 
notes both in the enrollment and claims notes.” (PLAINTIFF00014968).  In its review of 
allegations pertaining to claims paid outside of eligibility, CCI found no instance of improper 
“tampering” with the eligibility file by personnel at UHH.  The function described and authorized 
by Mr. Plum was restricted to UHH supervisory personnel. (Italicized for emphasis) 
 
      Any assertion by Plaintiff, or Plaintiff’s expert Henry Osowski, that UHH acted improperly or 
in violation of the terms of the ASA, as it pertains to eligibility, is patently false.  The failures of 
Xerox sapped CO-OP and UHH resources.  It impeded timely claims adjudication by UHH, while 
claims sat in the eligibility queue awaiting confirmation of eligibility status by CO-OP personnel.  
Off-exchange issues, including the decision to omit the SSN from off-exchange member 
enrollment requirements was a CO-OP decision that exhausted resources.  The CO-OP was 
directly responsible for the costly impact of merging member IDs, calculating accumulators for 
members with multiple numbers, and other sequelae resulting from “dubious decisions”, to quote 
Mr. Odenweller. (Underlined for emphasis) 
 
      Xerox’s failure impacted the CO-OP’s ability to provide timely, reliable information to UHH, 
as required by Sections 2.2 (c) and 2.2 (e) of the ASA.   
       

C.  Timely, Complete, and Accurate Network and Associated Provider Information 
 
      Grant Application Package: Submitted January 1, 2012 
 
      In the Grant Application Package submitted to HHS by Hospitality Health, Ltd., dated January 
1, 2012, the following representations were made regarding provider networks and plans for 
network expansion in the Proposal Narrative: 
 
      “In 2014, HHC will begin providing coverage to Southern Nevadans (home to 70% of the 
state’s population) using a large PPO network.”103  (Bolded and italicized for emphasis) 
 
      “CHF (“Culinary Health Fund”) will provide the stability of an existing large provider 
network.”104 (Bolded and italicized for emphasis) 
 

 
102Osowski Expert Report, February 7, 2020, p. 7 
103 MGT002715 
104 Ibid. 
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Part I: Introduction and Qualifications 

Background 
My name is Martin Hand and I am the Founder and Principal Advisory Consultant for Manibus Consulting, 
LLC, a consulting firm based in Denver, CO.  Manibus Consulting provides services to health plans and 
software vendors that service the healthcare payer market.  I have over thirty (30) years of experience 
working exclusively for software vendors and consulting organizations that provide software and 
professional services to health plans.  I hold a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer & Information Sciences from 
the University of Alabama in Birmingham. My Curriculum Vitae is provided as Exhibit A. 

As Founder and Principal at Manibus Consulting, I provide consulting services in an independent contractor 
capacity to organizations across the United States and Puerto Rico.  For healthcare payer organizations, 
these services include system procurement (vendor solicitations for information & proposals, system 
selection, vendor contracting), program & project management (system implementation, operational 
improvement, change management, system testing, training, system configuration, software development), 
account management and interim leadership services.  For software vendors these services include project 
program /project management, product management, systems development management, contracting 
process management, sales, sales support, client account management and interim leadership services.   

Prior to founding Manibus Consulting, I worked for 13 software vendors (includes acquisitions) in multiple 
leadership capacities - VP, AVP, Director, Manager - in varying roles, including program management, 
project management, system configuration, system development, contracting process management, sales, 
sales support, and customer service.  The size and complexities of these vendors range from start-ups (13th 
employee for one, 23rd employee for second) to Fortune 500 companies.  The larger organizations include 
HP, EDS, Computer Sciences Corporation, Perot Systems, SunGard, TriZetto, and Cognizant. 

My experience with software vendors has resulted in an extensive exposure to software solutions 
supporting most health plan operational ecosystems, including claims, provider credentialing, member 
services, provider services/relations, care management, case management, utilization management, 
disease management, broker servicing, enrollment, billing and EDI.  Solutions I’ve sold, implemented or 
consulted on include TriZetto’s FACETS, CareAdvance, NetworX, SEAKO’s (now DST’s) powerMHS, 
Utilization Management System, MACESS’ Entrendex, I-MAX, Doc-Flo, and OCR, among others. 

I founded Manibus Consulting, LLC to serve the software and healthcare payer markets, providing health 
plans and software companies with implementation and optimization services.  These efforts include 
standard solution implementations for claims, imaging, workflow, CRM, OCR projects.  Non-standard 
projects include crisis management and multi-system consolidation engagements.   

Over my career I have performed project management, software implementation, software sales, 
contracting, support and services for over forty (40) health plans organizations, including 14 Blue Cross & 
Blue Shield plans, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, multiple Third Party Administrator servicing 
entities, national health plans, such as Aetna, Cigna, and UnitedHealth Group, as well as many regional and 
local health plans. 

I am being compensated for my testimony on this case at a rate of $450 per hour, plus expenses. 
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Part III: Conclusion 
 
In my professional experience and based on the record in this case, the failure of NHC can be distilled down to 
three factors – any one of which would raise significant challenges in an implementation of any complexity and 
the combination of which all but insured that NHC would join the ranks of eighteen (18) other CO-OPs that 
didn’t survive implementing the ACA:  

 The Federal Government’s failed launch of the ACA created complexities that nearly all other 
organizations attempting to implement the ACA found insurmountable; 

 The decisions made by the State of Nevada to initially implement their own enrollment technology 
platform through Xerox then, as a result of that failed launch, switch to HealthCare.gov occurred at 
a critical time in the project implementation and lead to unrecoverable delays in implementation; 
and  

 An inexperienced leadership team at NHC was incapable of managing through the complex issues 
created and exacerbated by both the Federal Government (ACA) and the State of Nevada (SSE). 

The Federal Government’s Failed ACA Program Management, Technical Development and Launch Created 
Insurmountable Complexities for CO-OPs 
By all accounts, the ACA was a massive program whose complexity was matched only by its size.  The complexity 
of the ACA coupled with the inexperience of the Federal Government and CMS in development and deployment 
of massive technology solutions in the healthcare sector led to unsurmountable delays.108  CMS had not 
implemented a program of this magnitude in almost 50 years. As documented by the GAO CMS Accountability 
Report, HealthCare.gov failed to launch as planned109.   The HeathCare.Gov technology platform was not 
operational on NHC’s enrollment go-live date of 10/1/2013 and was in actively addressing its post-enrollment 
go-live issues only months before the State of Nevada directed NHC to connect to it.  CMS was underprepared 
for rolling out a program of this magnitude, evidenced by missing critical delivery dates and a highly public failed 
enrollment go-live.  

HealthCare.Gov was a causal factor in the failure of NHC.  While failures existed within the State of Nevada 
Exchange and NHC’s Board, the record makes clear that the Federal Government’s launch of the ACA directly 
caused the failure of 82.6% of the ACA CO-OPs.110 

State of Nevada Technology Deployment Decisions Caused Unrecoverable Impact on NHC 
Enrollment Go-Live for all CO-OPs across the country was initially set for October 1, 2013.  As discussed above, 
the State of Nevada opted against using HealthCare.gov for enrollment and chose to develop its own enrollment 
technology platform to avoid the cost of outsourcing enrollment processing to the Federal Government.  The 
State of Nevada, through the Silver State Exchange and its technology platform, NevadaHealthLink.com, owned 
the seminal responsibility for member enrollment. The State of Nevada abruptly pulled the plug on 
NevadaHealthLink.com several months after it went live because of the failure of Xerox’s technology supporting 
NevadaHealthLink.com to accurately process enrollment for the citizens of the State of Nevada.  The State of 
Nevada made the critical decision of switching this core enrollment functionality to the Federal Government’s 
HealthCare.gov technology platform for enrollment data after NHC had already gone live on 

 
108 The Federal Government didn’t provide enough launch time to the CO-OPs for implementation.  Of the ten (10) CO-OPs 
receiving CMS Loan Awards prior to February 28, 2012, six (6) failed.  All remaining thirteen (13) CO-OPs that received CMS 
Loan awards after February 27, 2012 failed. The Federal Government took nearly two years in preparation prior to its first 
CMS Loan Award. 
109 “As a result, CMS launched Healthcare.gov without verification that it met performance requirements”, United States 
Governmental Accountability Office (2014). HEALTHCARE.GOV Ineffective Planning and Oversight Practices Underscore the 
Need for Improved Contract Management (GAO-14-694). Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/665179.pdf. 
110 The Federal CO-OP Program, implemented nationally, was so poorly defined and launched that only four (4) of 23 CO-
OPs remain in business as of this writing. 
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Part I: Introduction and Qualifications 
 
Background and Assignment 

My name is Henry William Osowski and I am co-founder and Managing Partner with 

Strategic Health Group LLC (“SHG”) a consulting firm based in Burbank, California that 

provides strategic and financial services to health plans and health systems throughout the 

United States. My Curriculum Vitae is attached as Exhibit 1.  I have more than forty years of 

experience in the insurance industry, of which more than thirty years has been in the health 

insurance industry.  In my current role with SHG, I provide a broad range of services to 

SHG’s health clients, including strategic planning support, new health plan start-up and 

operational implementation, new product and market growth activities, and 

merger/acquisition services.  In my career, I have provided leadership in more than a dozen 

health plan start-ups, including evaluation, selection and contracting of administrative 

support and information technology options.  These start-up health plans have included 

commercial, Medicaid and Medicare Advantage1 organizations.  Clients have included 

Providence St. Joseph Health, Adventist Health, Blue Shield of California, Care Wisconsin, 

Humana, Stanford University Hospital and Clinics, United Health and Devoted Health among 

others. 

 

Prior to the founding of SHG, I was the Senior Vice President of Corporate Development for 

SCAN Health Plan, based in Long Beach, California. SCAN is a large non-profit regional health 

plan with more than 204,000 enrollees. In this role, I was the architect of the plan’s growth 

from four counties to fourteen counties.  Through my leadership, SCAN added more than 

                                                      
1 Medicare Advantage (“MA”) is a private health plan option available to Medicare Beneficiaries 
in-lieu-of Original Medicare; MA is administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 
Services (“CMS”) with plan performance requirements similar to Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) 
Qualified Health Plan requirements. 
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40,000 members in its expansion areas.  I also served as the founding President of SCAN’s 

Arizona Medicare Advantage and Arizona Long Term Care Medicaid plans. 

 

Before my work at SCAN, I established a consulting firm, Osowski & Associates, that 

provided strategic services to health plans and related organizations throughout the United 

States. These services included health plan start-ups in Michigan (for CareAmerica Health 

Plan) and in California (for CareMore Health Plan). I moved to California in 1987 as part of 

the senior management team responsible for the financial turnaround of Blue Cross of 

California. In this capacity, I served as Vice President of Finance for the Individual/Small 

Group Division and later as Vice President of Strategic Planning. 

 

Prior to moving to California, I served as Vice President of International Operations for 

American Family Life Assurance Company and had responsibility for the company’s 

Canadian and European operations.  I also previously served as Director of Insurance 

Consulting for Coopers & Lybrand.  I began my insurance career with the Kemper Insurance 

group of companies. 

 

I am a frequent featured speaker on relevant topics of interest in the area of health 

insurance, especially market development and growth strategies, care integration for Dual 

Eligible beneficiaries and the implications of changing Administration and Congressional 

policies. Some specific speaking engagements include: 

• Medicare Market Innovations Forum – 2012 to 2019 

• Medicaid Innovations Forum – 2013 to 2020 

• Medicare Marketing and Sales Conference – 2015 to 2020 

 

In addition, over the past ten years, I have authored or co-authored several articles on 

health plan development and health plan business strategies, including: 

• “Provider-Sponsored Health Plans, 5 necessities for launching a successful plan are 

revealed” Executive Insight, March 2014, pages 34-35 
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• “MA market downside could be a deal-breaker” Managed Healthcare Executive, 

February 11, 2015 

• “New Horizons for Behavioral Health” Healthcare Business Today, April 27, 2016 

• “FTC and DOJ May Spoil Mega-Mergers among Payers” Health Leaders Media, July 2, 

2015 

• “Disruption: The Health Care Sectors Constant Companion” Payers & Providers, March 7, 

2019 

• “Thought Leaders’ Corner” commentary on value of population health, Population 

Health News, May 2019 

• Value-based Care interview, Care Analytics News, Volume 12, Number 10, September 

2019 

• “An Exciting New Frontier for Medicare Advantage Plans”, Population Health News, 

Volume 6, Issue 12, December 2019 

• “Thought Leaders Corner” commentary on trends/issues that could have a potentially 

significant impact for healthcare stakeholders, Managed Care Online Thought Leaders, 

December 2019 

 

I have previously testified as an expert on behalf of the Respondent in the American 

Arbitration Association, Case No.  011500034226, in the matter of Sutter Health and Sutter 

Health Plan, California nonprofit public benefit corporations, Claimants v. OptumInsight, Inc. 

f/k/a Ingenix, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Respondent. The subject of the case was a 

dispute relative to the health plan start-up and information technology services for a 

commercial health plan. 

 

In this matter, I was asked to opine on the start-up and initial operation of NHC, the 

administrative and technical support provided by United Here Health (“UHH”), Eldorado, 

InsureMonkey and others as well as how any deficiencies or lack of competencies of these 

vendors contributed to the ultimate failure of NHC. I was also asked to opine on NHC 

management responsibilities for failures and deficiencies of UHH, Eldorado, InsureMonkey, 
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and others.  During the completion of this assignment, I reviewed extensive documentation, 

including all the documents referenced in Exhibit 2: Documents Relied Upon. 

 

 I am being compensated in the above-captioned matter (or “this case”) at a rate of $450 

per hour, plus expenses. 
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my opinion that NHC should have required that the system limitations and processing issues 

identified by NHC and UHH staff would have been tested and fixed by UHH and Eldorado 

long before the system was introduced into production. 

 

The basic core of any health insurance system is its ability to receive, validate, and 

accurately record who has met eligibility criteria, who has actually enrolled and who has 

paid any required premium. However, from the first day of operations, Javelina could not 

properly maintain an accurate picture of paid enrollment for NHC. One key example of 

Javelina’s inability to support the enrollment process include issues with pre-processing on 

inbound 834 enrollment files from the Exchange to Javelina.126 UHH and Javelina could not 

accept and accurately record NHC’s membership files. The capability to capture federal 

payment subsidies would not be functional in Javelina until 2015.127 Other failures, such as 

“[u]ncertainty if enrollment date is received and retained in Javelina,”128  would continue to 

plague NHC well into 2015.  The failures of the entire enrollment loading and maintenance 

process had a cascading effect on other business support functions, most notably claims. 

Failure to accurately capture and maintain eligibility, enrollment, and payment information 

in UHH’s core system creates and environment where claims were paid for individuals who 

were not eligible, who had not paid the proper premium amounts, and who were not 

effectively enrolled on the date medical services were received. 

 

A series of email exchanges129 between Eldorado, UHH, and NHC, documents that testing of 

enrollment in Javelina was still occurring in March and April of 2014.  It is not clear if the 

enrollment issues were ever fully resolved, even into 2015, suggesting it is very possible 

that NHC never had an accurate picture of its enrollment nor its premium receivables. In 

light of the problems with the reliability of reports from Xerox/Silver State Exchange, UHH 

                                                      
126 Email chain between Tim Kneuss, Lisa Simons, et. al., regarding CO-OP EDI Testing – File 
Reconciliation, PLAINTIFF 00053364-376, at PLAINTIFF 00053364. 
127 Email from Gary Odenweller to Basil Dibsie., dated December 3, 2014, PLAINTIFF 00522354. 
128 Id. 
129 Email exchanges between Tim Kneuss of Eldorado and various UHH and NHC recipients, PLAINTIFF 
00053364-PLAINTIFF0053376. 
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2020

2 (Case called at 12:15 p.m.)

3 THE CLERK:  Page 11 and 12, State of Nevada

4 Commissioners of Insurance versus Nevada Health CO-OP, Case

5 No. A-725244.

6 THE COURT:  Well, thank goodness we saved this easy

7 one for last.  Will counsel enter your appearance, please.

8 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  Your Honor, this is Dennis

9 Kennedy, and I am here with my partners, John Bailey and

10 Joseph Liebman.  We are appearing on behalf of the moving

11 parties, Unite Here Health and Nevada Health Solutions.

12 THE COURT:  Okay.

13 MR. FERRARIO:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Mark

14 Ferrario and Don Prunty appearing on behalf of the CO-OP and

15 the Receiver.

16 THE COURT:  That can't be the Mark Ferrario I knew. 

17 Are you sure you're not his father?

18 MR. FERRARIO:  Okay.  Fair point.  I'm -- I'm so

19 tired of looking at myself on these Zoom things, Judge.  I get

20 older by the day is all I can tell you.

21 THE COURT:  It gets you, doesn't it?  It -- it just

22 -- after awhile it gets you down.  I mean, look at Dennis

23 Kennedy -- 

24 MR. FERRARIO:  You don't think.

25 THE COURT:  -- for example.  Gees. 
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1 MR. FERRARIO:  Thank God the camera is not from

2 behind because I have -- my kids make fun of my -- my little

3 spot up top, so.

4 THE COURT:  Um-h'm.  Um-h'm.  You have a pate

5 showing.  Okay.

6 MR. FERRARIO:  That's true.

7 THE COURT:  So who else do you have here?

8 MR. FERRARIO:  Don Prunty is also here with me.  And

9 then we have general counsel for the firm, Jim Tolpin.  

10 Also, the Special Deputy Receiver, Mark Bennett.

11 And then I will let the person who's going to argue

12 this and who represents Greenberg Traurig, to introduce

13 himself, Your Honor.  He -- 

14 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Judge, he's -- he's concerned

15 about getting my last name wrong, which is a legitimate --

16 legitimate concern, I think.

17 MR. FERRARIO:  You are exactly right.

18 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Judge, it's David Jimenez-Ekman

19 -- that's how it goes, Mark -- of Jenner & Block from Chicago,

20 appearing pro hac vice on behalf of the law firm, Greenberg

21 Traurig.

22 THE COURT:  Can you say that name again?

23 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Sure, Judge.  If -- you -- you

24 can pretend that the J is an H, it's David Jimenez-Ekman, just

25 like it's written.
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1 THE COURT:  Ekman.  Ekman?

2 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Yes.  Yes, Your Honor.

3 THE COURT:  Like, E-k-m-a-n?

4 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  E-k-m-a-n.

5 THE COURT:  Well, you know what's amazing about

6 that?  My wife is an Ekman.

7 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Really?  

8 THE COURT:  She was -- 

9 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  With a C or no C, Judge.

10 THE COURT:  She was born an Ekman.  So I don't

11 perceive that that gives me any problem here.  I'd be just

12 happy to rule against you as for you, at least on the basis of

13 being an Ekman.

14 All right.  Shall we -- shall we tear into this?

15 Hang on a sec. 

16 (Court/Law Clerk confer)

17 THE COURT:  I am reminded that we also have the --

18 the Motion to Associate Counsel and Pro Hac Vice, I think, is

19 -- is on the slate for today.  Am I correct, there's no

20 opposition to that?

21 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor, Dennis Kennedy.  No

22 opposition.

23 THE COURT:  Well, in that case, welcome to the club. 

24 You -- the motion is granted.

25 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.
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1 Your Honor, I'm not sure if this is necessary, but

2 also we were hoping that this -- this portion of the hearing

3 could be recorded and transcribed subsequently.

4 THE COURT:  Yes.  It's recorded, definitely.

5 Lisa, what do they need to do to get this

6 transcribed?  Just put in an order?

7 THE COURT RECORDER:  Yes.

8 THE COURT:  All you do is put in an order and you'll

9 get a transcript.

10 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

11 THE COURT:  It'll cost you a million dollars.

12 Okay.  So who's going to argue?  Are you going to

13 argue, Mr. Kennedy?

14 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, sir.  I am.

15 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go for it.

16 MR. KENNEDY:  All right.  

17 There are two parts to the motion.  The first is to

18 disqualify Greenberg Traurig and its members, and to order

19 Greenberg Traurig to disgorge and return to the receivership

20 estate the fees that it has collected in this matter, which

21 now exceed $5 million.

22 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

23 MR. KENNEDY:  The basis of the disqualification part

24 of the motion is this.  At the time that Greenberg Traurig was

25 approved by this Court to act as counsel for the Receiver, it
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1 labored under and suffered from two irreconcilable conflicts

2 which had they been disclosed to the Court at the time of

3 their appointment or the application for appointment to

4 represent the Receiver, it is more likely than not, in fact,

5 it's extremely likely that the Court would not have appointed

6 them.

7 Those conflicts are first, Greenberg Traurig

8 represented Valley Health Systems, UHS, a creditor of the CO-

9 OP, who had a $5 million claim.  When they -- Mr. Ferrario

10 stood before the Court and sought to be approved as the

11 counsel for the Receiver, his firm represented that creditor

12 and had put a $5 million claim in against the estate.

13 Secondly, Xerox, whose breach of contract and

14 negligence were -- were certainly related to the CO-OP'S

15 failure, and the reason that the Receiver was appointed was

16 represented by Greenberg Traurig in three pending matters that

17 related directly to, or arose out of the failure of the CO-OP

18 and of the system.

19 Neither one of these conflicts, neither one of these

20 four things were ever disclosed to you.  There was not a

21 mention, there was not a hint that these conflicts existed. 

22 And it is extremely likely, if not a certainty, that had you

23 been apprised of these conflicts, that you would not have

24 approved the retention of Greenberg Traurig by the Receiver. 

25 It -- it would have -- 
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1 THE COURT:  You don't -- 

2 MR. KENNEDY:  -- been a simple matter where I am -- 

3 THE COURT:  You don't -- you don't agree with the

4 notion that an attorney can get involved in a case, the way

5 that Greenberg Traurig did here, by having a conflict counsel

6 then?  I mean, don't we hear of -- 

7 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor -- 

8 THE COURT:  -- don't we hear of conflict counsel in

9 any number of big cases?

10 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, sir.  We do.  And here's how that

11 works.  You get conflict counsel.  You get proposed retainer

12 agreements with conflict counsel and all of the other parties.

13 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

14 MR. KENNEDY:  And then you know what you do with

15 that?  You present it to the Court.  You present it to the

16 Court.  Because the parties themselves in a receivership do

17 not have the power to consent to conflicts or to waive them. 

18 That's the Court's decision.  And we've cited a number of

19 cases in our Brief where that argument has been made by the

20 lawyers.  And the courts say, without exception, to the

21 lawyers, you don't approve conflicts, I do.  I'm the Judge and

22 I have the responsibility for overseeing the Receiver -- 

23 THE COURT:  Could you -- 

24 MR. KENNEDY:  -- and the lawyers.

25 THE COURT:  Could you -- 
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  And just because -- 

2 THE COURT:  Could you just touch on what you would

3 consider to be the lead case that -- that holds that you can't

4 just have conflict counsel, but you must first provide it to

5 the Court and ask for the Court to okay it before you do

6 anything?

7 MR. KENNEDY:  Sure.  That it has to be disclosed to

8 the Court, the principal one is CFTC v. Eustace, that is where

9 the parties privately agreed that there was no conflict.  And

10 the Court said, I have to -- I have to make that decision.

11 THE COURT:  Can you -- 

12 MR. KENNEDY:  In the -- 

13 THE COURT:  Can you -- I know I'm slowing you down

14 here, but can you give me a notion of about where those cases

15 appear in your Brief?

16 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  I will.  

17 THE COURT:  And I'm sorry to slow you down, but -- 

18 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.

19 THE COURT:  -- there's been a lot of paper destroyed

20 in this case.

21 MR. KENNEDY:  Starting on page 15 of the Reply, Your

22 Honor.

23 THE COURT:  Oh, the Reply.  Okay.

24 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  These cases are -- are

25 discussed.  
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1 THE COURT:  Let me just get to that.  

2 Okay.  So the lead case then would be down at the

3 bottom, the In Re BH&P?  Is that -- 

4 MR. KENNEDY:  Right.  That's one of them.  And the 

5 -- in the Buckley case which is also cited, page 16 of the

6 Reply, there is a -- 

7 THE COURT:  It's -- it's the -- oh, the -- yeah,

8 sorry.  Which case is it that you're talking about?  Where is

9 it?

10 MR. KENNEDY:  This is Buckley versus -- 

11 THE COURT:  Oh, yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.

12 MR. KENNEDY:  -- TransAmerica.  In that case, I'm

13 looking at -- in the opinion, it's on -- it's at the -- it's

14 on page 19 of the -- of the opinion itself.

15 THE COURT:  All right.

16 MR. KENNEDY:  Well, actually, it's on page -- 

17 THE COURT:  This is -- this is the Buckley -- 

18 MR. KENNEDY:  -- 20, now -- 

19 THE COURT:  -- opinion?

20 MR. KENNEDY:  -- that I'm looking.

21 THE COURT:  You're citing to the -- the Buckley

22 opinion that was given?

23 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.

24 THE COURT:  Okay.

25 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  It -- it -- what it says is
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1 this requirement, and that is that the attorney cannot hold or

2 represent an interest that's adverse to the estate with

3 respect to the matter for which the attorney would be

4 employed.  

5 It says, "This requirement prevents the employment

6 of special counsel who, on any matter of substance, represent

7 or have represented a client that is an actual or potential

8 opponent of the estate in the dispute for which counsel would

9 be engaged."

10 THE COURT:  Okay.

11 MR. KENNEDY:  And basically what that says is, that

12 the same conflicts principles apply to counsel as they do to

13 special counsel.  

14 In other words, you -- you -- all of these conflict

15 rules apply across the board to lawyers, regardless of their

16 title, and these matters have to be presented to the Court. 

17 If there is a conflict or a potential conflict, this matter

18 has to be brought before the Court, and all of this has to be

19 disclosed to the Court.

20 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

21 MR. KENNEDY:  And it's the Court's decision as to

22 whether or not lawyers who either suffer from conflicts, or

23 from potential conflicts can be employed.  And, of course, the

24 way that decision is made, is that if an Application for

25 Employment of Counsel or Special Counsel comes before the
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1 Court, all of the creditors and other related parties are

2 given notice and have the right to appear before the Court and

3 to argue whether or not the Court should allow the retention

4 or disallow the retention.

5 THE COURT:  So in this case -- 

6 MR. KENNEDY:  And -- 

7 THE COURT:  -- in this case when they did come

8 before the Court, about appointing Greenberg Traurig, you're

9 saying that no notice was given to the other parties?

10 MR. KENNEDY:  No.  There was no notice of any

11 conflict or potential conflict.  That comes from two places,

12 Your Honor.  And it's really not even subject to dispute.  If

13 you look at the Motion for Appointment -- 

14 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

15 MR. KENNEDY:  -- it contains nothing about any kind

16 of a conflict or a potential conflict.  

17 THE COURT:  Okay.

18 MR. KENNEDY:  And the fact is that all these

19 conflicts existed as of that time.  What we have is, first,

20 with respect to the Valley Hospital conflict, on August the

21 8th of '16, Greenberg submitted a claim to the Receiver and

22 filed with the Court saying, we have a $5 million claim

23 against this estate.  That is August of '16.

24 Well, four months later the matter -- there's a

25 motion filed in front of the Court where Greenberg Traurig
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1 seeks to represent the Receiver.

2 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

3 MR. KENNEDY:  And that's December 12th of 2016.  Not

4 a word about any kind of a conflict or a potential conflict. 

5 So if anybody read that -- that motion, you would have no idea

6 of the existence of the conflict.

7 And then -- and this is Exhibit 8 to our Motion --

8 that's the transcript of the hearing which occurred on July

9 the 10th of 2017, in front of Your Honor.  And that's where

10 Mr. Ferrario -- 

11 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  January.

12 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, January 10th of 2017.  That's

13 where Mr. Ferrario is present.  And you can read that

14 transcript until you wear the ink off the page.  There is not

15 a single mention of any conflict at that time, Your Honor.

16 At that time, in January of 2017, not only did

17 Greenberg Traurig represent Valley Hospital, or the Valley

18 Health System, who had a claim against the receivership of $5

19 million, there were three other matters pending where

20 Greenberg Traurig was representing Xerox.

21 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

22 MR. KENNEDY:  And Xerox, of course, as the Court

23 know -- 

24 THE COURT:  Pending -- I assume you're saying three

25 matters pending, not in this case, but in some other case?

Page 12

2216



1 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  In other cases, all of -- yeah. 

2 THE COURT:  Yeah.

3 MR. KENNEDY:  All arising out of Xerox's work done

4 in this matter, in the matter of the Silver State Health

5 Program.

6 The first two -- and this is -- we describe these in

7 the motion itself, starting at page 10.  There was a class

8 action brought by consumers against Xerox, called the Basich

9 Class Action.

10 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

11 MR. KENNEDY:  There was a second class -- and Xerox

12 was represented by the Greenberg firm.  There was a second

13 class action called Casale v. Xerox.  That was a class action

14 brought by brokers.  Greenberg represented Xerox in that case,

15 as well.  

16 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

17 MR. KENNEDY:  There was a third matter, and this is

18 Exhibit 10 to our motion, that was an Insurance Division

19 investigation and Consent Order that was ultimately entered

20 where Xerox had to pay some disputed claims to insureds. 

21 Greenberg Traurig was also counsel to Xerox in that case.  

22 Not one of these three cases, not one of them was

23 disclosed to the Court in the Motion for Approval, or in the

24 hearing on the Motion for Approval, where Mr. Ferrario

25 appeared.  Mr. Ferrario knew about all these cases, because
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1 he's the lawyer in those cases.

2 So as a -- as an aside, this is not a conflict case

3 where something pops up unknown to the lawyer, and the lawyer

4 says, oh my gosh, my -- oh, I didn't know my firm was

5 involved.  He knows his firm was involved.  He's the lawyer. 

6 And he stands before this Court getting approved as counsel to

7 the Receiver knowing that he and his firm have four conflicts.

8 And I say it again, if those are disclosed where

9 he's adverse to the estate, or adverse to Xerox -- or

10 representing Xerox in a matter where Xerox's conduct is

11 directly at issue, if I'm standing out there, I'm going to

12 say, Judge, you can't let him do it.  You have to get an

13 unconflicted lawyer.

14 Back to the Court's question; could a conflict

15 lawyer have been retained then?  Maybe.  Maybe.  But none of

16 that happened.  Not one thing was disclosed to the Court.  And

17 so, of course, the Court has no idea, and nobody else has any

18 idea either.  Now -- 

19 THE COURT:  So in each of these cases -- 

20 MR. KENNEDY:  Uh -- 

21 THE COURT:  -- in each of these instances, you're

22 saying that at the time that Greenberg stepped in and made

23 representation, there was not conflict counsel.  And -- 

24 MR. KENNEDY:  There was not in the -- 

25 THE COURT:  -- and so it's not just a matter of no
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1 notice to the Court and letting the Court decide, you're

2 saying that, in fact, there was a conflict, because otherwise

3 they wouldn't have gotten conflict counsel.

4 MR. KENNEDY:  That's right.  Well, they say now, oh,

5 we had conflict counsel.

6 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

7 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.  So here's what I say, going

8 back to the step one.  They say, we got conflict counsel.  

9 Okay.  So what we said in the Reply was, if conflict

10 counsel was retained, where is the retainer agreement?  I

11 mean, conflict counsel doesn't just walk in and say, I'm here.

12 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

13 MR. KENNEDY:  There's got to be a retainer

14 agreement.  Where is it?  What were the duties of conflict

15 counsel?  

16 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

17 MR. KENNEDY:  And once there is a conflict involving

18 a current client, i.e. Xerox, all the parties have to consent. 

19 That means Xerox had to consent.  That also means that the

20 Receiver would have to consent.  

21 And if all of that happened, then they had to

22 present it to the Court, because as -- as the cases we've

23 cited say, one of them very directly, the parties say -- and

24 that case is In Re Coastal Equities which -- which we cite in

25 the Brief.  And I'll tell you what page that is -- 
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1 THE COURT:  In the motion itself?

2 MR. KENNEDY:  -- in a minute.

3 THE COURT:  You cite it in the motion itself?

4 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Both the motion and -- 

5 MR. KENNEDY:  Motion and the Reply. 

6 THE COURT:  Okay.

7 MR. KENNEDY:  If -- if you look at In Re Coastal

8 Equities -- 

9 THE COURT:  Coastal Equities. 

10 MR. KENNEDY:  -- the lawyers are saying, hey, hey,

11 we -- we took care of everything, Judge.  Judge, you didn't

12 need to know any of this, because we had it all covered, even

13 though we have nothing in writing and it was never disclosed,

14 and so all these things were waived.

15 In Footnote 2, in the last two sentence, in Footnote

16 2 of the Coastal Equities -- 

17 THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  In the last -- what did you

18 say?

19 MR. KENNEDY:  In Footnote 2, the last two sentences.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.  Footnote 2, on what page?

21 MR. KENNEDY:  It -- 

22 THE COURT:  Oh, you're talking about Footnote -- 

23 MR. KENNEDY:  It's -- 

24 THE COURT:  -- in the -- in the opinion?

25 MR. KENNEDY:  In the opinion.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.

2 MR. KENNEDY:  The Court in that case, in response to

3 that argument, which was, Judge, don't concern yourself with

4 any of this.  We've got it covered.

5 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

6 MR. KENNEDY:  And this is on page 27, we cite this.

7 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  In the Reply.

8 MR. KENNEDY:  In the reply.

9 THE COURT:  Okay.

10 MR. KENNEDY:  The Court says to the lawyers, "There

11 exists an independent duty to comply with the Code and Rules

12 and fully inform the Court.  This was the applicant's

13 responsibility, and it was not discharged by informing those

14 who were not in a position to judge the fitness of an attorney

15 for employment.  Only the Court can make such a determination,

16 and it has not granted a waiver."

17 So to the Court's point -- and there are other cases

18 that say the same thing.  This is particularly cogent

19 statement of it.  

20 To the argument that, oh, we got conflict counsel. 

21 Everything was okay.  All the conflicts were waived.  My first

22 response is, let's see all those retainer agreement and

23 conflict waivers.  They don't exist.  Not a single page on all

24 of that, which suggests to me that maybe that never happened. 

25 But it also confirms that these agreements don't exist.  They
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1 were never, ever presented to the Court.  

2 And as the Court in Coastal Equities said, I don't

3 care what all you people did among yourselves.  I'm the one

4 that makes the decision.  I'm the Judge.  And if you don't

5 disclose any of this to me, you're violating your duties and

6 I'm going to disqualify you.

7 Now, we go on.  And here are -- here are the

8 consequences of Greenberg Traurig never disclosing the

9 conflicts, and this relationship never being approved by the

10 Court.  

11 What happened?  Well, my firm was involved in this

12 matter, the receivership matter, only as local counsel when it

13 began.  We were just filing papers and formatting pleadings

14 and doing that stuff.  But there came a point in this case in

15 2020, earlier this year, where my partners, Mr. Bailey and Mr.

16 Liebman, took on a larger role.  And they looked at the

17 conduct of Greenberg Traurig who was suing everybody on behalf

18 of the Receiver, except Xerox, who was their client in all

19 these other matters.

20 And Mr. Bailey -- and this is Exhibit 14 to the

21 motion -- Mr. Bailey wrote to Greenberg and said -- he asked

22 the, what exactly are you guys doing?  You have sued everybody

23 except Xerox, which appears to be the principal wrongdoer.

24 And if you look then, I think it's Exhibit 15, the

25 next Exhibit in order, Mr. Bailey is told by Greenberg Traurig
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1 to butt out.  That this is none of his business, and that this

2 is all protected by the attorney-client privilege.

3 Greenberg says, it has an attorney-client privilege

4 that prevents it from telling Mr. Bailey why Xerox was not

5 sued.  And, of course, now Greenberg Traurig is saying, we

6 never represented anybody with respect to Xerox.  We were not

7 involved in that.

8 Okay.  If they weren't, why are they claiming the

9 privilege on Xerox's behalf?  But it doesn't matter.  Okay. 

10 Because what we did was Mr. Liebman and Mr. Bailey asked me,

11 they said -- and this is what got me involved -- isn't there a

12 conflict here?  What in the world is Greenberg doing?  It's

13 defending Xerox in three cases and -- or it has defended them,

14 and was defending them at the time of his -- of their

15 appointment, and now they're not suing them, where Xerox is

16 the principal wrongdoer.  What's going on?

17 I looked at it, and my words were, and my thoughts,

18 how in the world did Judge Cory ever approve this.  I said,

19 this is just not possible that -- that this got approved.  

20 And sure enough, the answer to the question was, It

21 wasn't Judge Cory's fault.  He was never advised of any of

22 this.  And you weren't, Your Honor.  The motion, the hearing,

23 and on top of that, Greenberg Traurig filed 15 quarterly

24 Status Reports with this Court, 15 of them.  You can search

25 through them, and we did.  There is no mention in those Status
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1 Reports where Greenberg Traurig says, we represent the

2 Receiver.  

3 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Represents [inaudible].

4 MR. KENNEDY:  Represents -- 

5 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  [Inaudible].  Never mind.

6 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.  Never mind.

7 In those Status Reports, yeah, that's right, they're

8 representing the Receiver but they never say in there, oh, we

9 also represent Xerox, and we've also retained special counsel. 

10 Nowhere.  But they are representing Xerox.  

11 And what is really interesting is if you look -- and

12 we referenced this at page 12, in Footnote 52 of our motion.

13 THE COURT:  Okay.

14 MR. KENNEDY:  Xerox is mentioned.  And if you look

15 at page 12 of the motion, and you look at -- actually it's --

16 it's Footnote 52, which tells you where to find the eighth

17 Status Report -- Footnote 53 contains an excerpt from the

18 Status Report.  

19 And you know what?  The Status Report to this Court

20 talks about some dealings with Xerox.  But the Status Report

21 does not say Greenberg Traurig represents Xerox.  It talks

22 about counsel for Xerox takes a certain position.  That's

23 Greenberg Traurig.  They're talking about the negotiations

24 they're having with themselves about the two clients they

25 represent.  That's the closest they ever got to making this
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1 disclosure.  So, 15 quarterly Status Reports; nothing.  

2 Now, they come back and say, oh, no, this was all

3 worked out.  We had all this done.  Retained special -- 

4 THE COURT:  Let me -- 

5 MR. KENNEDY:  -- counsel -- 

6 THE COURT:  -- ask you a question.  Let me ask you a

7 question, Mr. Kennedy.

8 At that point in time, was there already a conflict

9 counsel appointed for Xerox in this matter?

10 MR. KENNEDY:  No.  And you know why I say that?

11 THE COURT:  Why?

12 MR. KENNEDY:  Because the Court never appointed one. 

13 The Court never approved the retention of conflict counsel. 

14 And that is the only way conflict counsel gets appointed -- 

15 THE COURT:  Okay.  

16 MR. KENNEDY:  -- is the Court has to approve -- 

17 THE COURT:  Then let's -- 

18 MR. KENNEDY:  -- it.

19 THE COURT:  -- let's delve deeper though.  Is -- is 

20 -- are you saying that, in fact, there was no conflict counsel

21 at that point, or simply that there was conflict counsel,

22 perhaps, on paper, but never with the Court?

23 MR. KENNEDY:  No.  There wasn't anybody on paper,

24 Your Honor.  And here's why I say that.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  Greenberg now says it was Jim Whitmire

2 who was conflict counsel. 

3 THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

4 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay? 

5 THE COURT:  Whitmire was at the hearing on January

6 10th of 2017.  He was approved by the Court, along with Mr.

7 Ferrario.  But nobody said to the Court, he's conflict counsel

8 for any particular matters.  Nobody said to the Court,

9 Greenberg can't represent Xerox.  Nobody said a word.  

10 What I said, once we got involved in this case was,

11 and I've said that -- I put this in the Reply; I want to see

12 the retainer agreements and the conflict consents and waivers. 

13 If all of this happened, then Greenberg has a retainer

14 agreement with the State -- or with the Receiver -- that says,

15 I can represent you in the following matters, but not with

16 respect to anything having to do with Xerox.  It has to be in

17 writing under the rules. both Rule 1.2, which talks about

18 limited engagements, and 1.7, which is current conflict

19 clients.

20 Where, I asked, is that agreement.  Well, it's -- it

21 hasn't ever been produced, which leads to the presumption that

22 it doesn't exist.  Where is Mr. Whitmire's agreement to act as

23 conflict counsel?  Where is that?  Because the Receiver has to

24 enter into a retainer agreement with him.  He can't just come

25 walk -- walk in and say, I'm going to do certain things.  That
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1 agreement has to be entered into.

2 If there are conflict waivers and consents, which

3 there would be by Xerox and the Receiver, there have to be

4 written conflict disclosures and waivers generally approved by

5 an additional separate counsel.  None of that exists.  Zero.

6 And that leads me to conclude, and of course I cited

7 the presumptions out of Chapter 47, that it doesn't exist. 

8 And if Greenberg now says, oh, all of that was in place, my

9 question is, in all these years, it was never presented to the

10 Court, it was never disclosed in one of the 15 Status Reports,

11 never even a word whispered about it.

12 If all of this exists, it had to be presented to the

13 Court, because these lawyers are riddled with conflicts.  And

14 if these conflicts are going to be waived and consented to,

15 there's only one person that can do that, and that is Your

16 Honor.  And that is clear, that the parties themselves in a

17 Receiver might put together a proposed agreement, but the

18 Court's the one that makes those decisions.  It never happened

19 in this case.

20 So when you asked me, was special counsel ever

21 appointed, the answer is, no.  There's only one guy that can

22 appoint him, and that's you and that never ever happened. 

23 Whitmire was -- 

24 THE COURT:  Okay.  And what I -- I think what I was

25 really trying to ask is, was -- was special counsel or
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1 conflict counsel ever engaged?  Is there any evidence, is

2 there any anything that -- that indicates that -- that while

3 the Court had not approved it, that there was, in fact, a

4 conflict counsel?

5 MR. KENNEDY:  The only thing that we have is

6 Greenberg's statement now that all of this happened.  

7 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

8 MR. KENNEDY:  But when we asked to see the retainer

9 agreements, if it happened, it's got to be in writing.  

10 THE COURT:  Yeah.

11 MR. KENNEDY:  You can't -- you can't do this orally. 

12 They don't exist. 

13 THE COURT:  Yeah.

14 MR. KENNEDY:  If they existed, we'd be seeing them

15 right now.

16 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

17 MR. KENNEDY:  And -- and there's nothing in writing. 

18 And, of course, these agreements, under the Rules of

19 Professional Conduct, special counsel, conflict counsel,

20 waivers of -- they all have to be in writing.

21 THE COURT:  Yeah.

22 MR. KENNEDY:  This suggests to me that those

23 agreements do not exist, because these lawyers, operating at

24 the level they operate at in a case with this much money, and

25 representing clients like Xerox, these things are not done
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1 with a wink and a nod.  They must be in writing.

2 Now, if we had all of this done in writing and

3 somebody says, gosh, we just forgot to tell Judge Cory, well,

4 that's a different -- a different game.  Not a single word on

5 paper about any of this.  Zero.

6 So that's -- that's where we stand.  

7 Now, what we did, because we were told in a polite

8 and professional manner by Greenberg to shut up and stop

9 asking questions, what we did was, we did our own dive into

10 public records requests, into the docket, and everyplace we

11 could look to try to figure out how this all happened.  And we

12 quickly concluded, as I told you, that you didn't approve any

13 of this.

14 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

15 MR. KENNEDY:  There was no notice, nothing said at

16 the hearing.  So we said, okay, not surprisingly, Judge Cory

17 knew nothing about this.  How'd it happen?  And of course the

18 answer is pretty simple, it was all done by the Greenberg firm

19 with no notice to anybody, because if there had been notice,

20 the creditors would have appeared, there would have been a

21 hearing.  Your Honor would have made a decision.  And nothing

22 had -- 

23 THE COURT:  Let me ask you this.  You know what one

24 of the things that they say in response is that they say,

25 basically, well, I mean, everybody -- everybody knew that they
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1 represented Xerox and that they were here representing the

2 Receiver.  How come you're raising this issue three years down

3 the road?

4 MR. KENNEDY:  And here's the answer to that

5 question.  First off, what they're saying is everybody could

6 have known if they searched the public record as to what their

7 involvement was.  

8 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

9 MR. KENNEDY:  I mean, you -- you'd have to go search

10 the public record to find out what their involvement was.  And

11 keep in mind that if you searched the public record, if you

12 looked at the record where you would normally go, which is the

13 record of the proceedings in this receivership matter, there

14 is not a word.  Not a word about this.  

15 And so when they say, you should have looked at the

16 public record; we did, and we couldn't figure out what -- how

17 this happened.  

18 Secondly, this was all concealed.  It was concealed

19 at the hearing January 10th of 2017 where Ferrario appears in

20 front of Your Honor at the hearing on his retention and

21 doesn't say a word, knowing of the four conflicts, the three

22 matters where they represented Xerox and the one where they

23 represented Valley.  He doesn't say a word.

24 So if you search the public record, you're not going

25 to find anything about their representation of Xerox, because
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1 if they're not disclosing it to the Court, or in any of the

2 Status Reports after they're retained, you can pretty much

3 conclude that this is not an issue, because you can't imagine

4 that they would be doing this, and not disclosing it, that --

5 that their lawyers would be standing in front of the Court and

6 not saying anything about this.

7 But that argument, which is, you've got to go search

8 the public records, we found a couple of cases where that was

9 raised.  And it essentially was raised by lawyers who said,

10 hey, the parties should have search the public record to

11 determine whether or not we as the lawyers had a conflict. 

12 Oh, and by the way, if you didn't, too bad.  

13 And by the way, Judge, you should have search the

14 public records yourself, in this case.  And if you didn't do

15 that, well, it's not our fault.  It's your fault.  And it's

16 the other party's fault.  Of course, we didn't disclose it. 

17 Of course, we concealed it.

18 Hey, and it took you three years to figure out that

19 that's what we had done.  Those cases, Your Honor, and we --

20 we've -- we cite them in the Brief.  The first is In Re Glenn,

21 G-l-e-n-n, Electric Sales, and -- at -- this is contained at 

22 -- at page 9 of that opinion, of the Glenn -- 

23 THE COURT:  Oh.

24 MR. KENNEDY:  -- Electric opinion.

25 THE COURT:  Do you -- before you get to that -- 
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  And -- 

2 THE COURT:  -- before you get to that, you don't

3 happen to know where you cited it in your -- in your Brief, do

4 you?

5 MR. KENNEDY:  I'll tell you in just a second.

6 THE COURT:  All right.  

7 MR. KENNEDY:  Anyway, I'll get -- I'll get that page

8 to you -- 

9 THE COURT:  Okay.  

10 MR. KENNEDY:  -- in just a minute.  We're scrolling

11 through.

12 THE COURT:  All right.

13 MR. KENNEDY:  That argument is made, strangely

14 enough, saying, hey, this is everybody else's fault here.  And

15 the Court says, on page 9 of the Glenn opinion, the reviewing

16 Court has no duty, quote, "to search a file to determine for

17 itself that a prospective attorney is not involved in actual

18 or potential conflicts of interest," end quote.

19 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Page 26 of the motion.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.

21 MR. KENNEDY:  Footnote 78, page 26 of the motion.

22 THE COURT:  Okay.

23 MR. KENNEDY:  And in that case, the -- the Court

24 says, it's not my job to search the public record to see if

25 you have a conflict.  You have a duty to me, to tell me if you
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1 do.  

2 The second case is In Re Tinley Plaza, and we'll

3 find out what page.

4 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  It's page 16 of the Reply,

5 Footnote 42.

6 MR. KENNEDY:  Page 16 of the Reply, Footnote 42.

7 The same argument is made by conflicted lawyers

8 there.  Those conflicted lawyers say, well, yeah, we may not

9 have disclosed it, but it was everybody else's obligation to

10 go out and search for it.  And if you didn't do that, and

11 didn't find it, you know what, Judge, it's your fault, and the

12 other party's.  It's your fault in that case, in the Tinley

13 Plaza case, and this is at pages 17 and 18, the quote runs

14 over, of the opinion.  

15 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

16 MR. KENNEDY:  I quote, "The Court has no duty to

17 rummage through files or conduct independent fact-finding

18 investigations in order to determine whether prospective

19 attorneys are involved in actual or potential conflicts of

20 interest, period."  

21 And there are more cases that say that, but these

22 two suffice. 

23 So that's their first argument is gee, you know, we

24 concealed this.  We never disclosed it.  But you didn't catch

25 us.  It took you a long time to catch us.  
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1 And, in fact, when you asked us, when Mr. Bailey

2 wrote to Greenberg and said, hey, what's going on here, they

3 told him to be quiet.  So we had to go out and do our own

4 investigation, which we did at that point, because the

5 situation was such that they were representing the Receiver

6 and they had absolutely irreconcilable conflicts, and we were

7 trying to find out what happened.  So when we did, we filed

8 the motion.  

9 And one of the arguments they make is, well, you

10 know, you just waived your right to raise that.  Our response

11 to that is real simple.  

12 First off, and this is -- well, there's, Judge, no

13 dispute as to the validity of this principle nd that is that

14 the Receiver and the Receiver's lawyer both -- and this comes

15 out of the -- the CFTC, the Commodity Futures Trading

16 Commission v. Eustace, E-u-s-t-a-c-e.  And there's a couple of

17 Nevada cases on this, too.

18 Joseph, what -- what is the page for CFTC versus

19 Eustace in the -- 

20 MR. LIEBMAN:  It's discussed in the motion.

21 THE COURT:  Where was that referenced?

22 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, what -- what this says is, in

23 the Eustace case, and I'm looking at page 19 of the opinion.

24 MR. LIEBMAN:  It starts on -- it -- it's first cited

25 on page [inaudible].
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  Begin -- first cite is page 20 of the

2 motion.

3 THE COURT:  Okay.

4 MR. KENNEDY:  The Court in Eustace says, The

5 Receiver and any counsel employed by him were obligated to

6 fully disclose to the Court his and his firm's prior

7 relationships with certain UBS entities -- UBS being the Bank

8 involved.  And it goes on to say, The Receiver is the

9 fiduciary to the Court and to -- in this case, the investors

10 who were the creditors.  

11 What that means is, is that the lawyer and the

12 Receiver are both fiduciaries to the Court and to the -- and

13 to the creditors that it would include my clients.  And they

14 have an obligation to everybody involved to make these

15 disclosures.  They simply never did.  They never did.  

16 In fact, it is reasonable to conclude that they

17 consciously concealed it.  And I say that, respectfully, but

18 when you stand in front of the Court and you've got four

19 conflicts and you don't say anything to the Court, that's a

20 wilful concealment.

21 The other prong of this argument is, and it's

22 related to the waiver, and that is there's an unreasonable

23 delay in raising this issue.  But we raised it as soon as we

24 could.  But here's the point of that.  The Court is the body

25 that has to make the decision on whether there is a waiver or
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1 not by delay.  This is the first time the Court has seen this,

2 I'm quite sure.

3 And as the cases that we mentioned earlier, say the

4 Judges in those cases -- and I read those quotes for the Court

5 -- to the Court -- they said, I -- I am the one.  I'm the

6 Judge.  I make the decision here as to what to do, and I

7 certainly have not waived anything with respect to this

8 decision.  

9 The integrity of the Court is at stake here, and I

10 have just learned of this.  I didn't waive anything by a

11 delay.  I just found out about it.  

12 And that's the same thing that we're saying,

13 although we found out about it a little bit before we filed

14 the motion.

15 Now, on to the substance of -- because these things

16 about waiver, those arguments don't go anywhere.  Waiver --

17 and you should've known from looking at the public record,

18 those have been flatly rejected.  

19 The substantive arguments that they make, there's

20 really two of them.  They are that -- you know, there really

21 is no conflict here.  And secondly, well, we've got conflicts

22 counsel, so we -- we -- we've dealt with all of that.

23 THE COURT:  Say that last part -- 

24 MR. KENNEDY:  As to the argument -- 

25 THE COURT:  -- say that -- repeat that last part,
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1 would you?  I didn't quite get it.

2 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, the first one is there's no

3 conflict.

4 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

5 MR. KENNEDY:  And I'll discuss that.  The second one

6 is, well, if there was a conflict, we've got conflicts counsel

7 to deal with that.

8 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

9 MR. KENNEDY:  Those are the two substantive

10 arguments they make that are really worthy of consideration.

11 And what I would suggest to the Court, and this is

12 the way I analyzed it; when you look at those substantive

13 arguments and if -- if I was asking the questions, I would ask

14 him three questions about every one of these substantive

15 arguments they make.  

16 Number one, it is true, you knew you had a conflict

17 when you appeared in front of me, and at -- and at all times

18 thereafter.  You knew that.  And, of course, they did.  They

19 admitted it.

20 Second, it is also true, is it not, that you never

21 disclosed to this to me, while you had a duty to do so?  

22 I mean, lawyers have the duty to full inform the

23 Court of everything that might be material to the Court's

24 decision.  You knew you had a conflict.  You never disclosed

25 it to me.  
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1 Third question, why or why not?  Why not?  After

2 years of both appearing here and filing Status Reports every

3 three months, not once did you disclose these things to me. 

4 Why?  I don't know what the answer is.  But those are the

5 questions I would ask.

6 First off, Greenberg says, oh, we didn't -- there

7 was actually no conflict.  That's one of the arguments they

8 made.  Set aside for the -- the moment the fact they went out

9 and say they retained conflicts counsel, they say, you know

10 what, Judge, there was no conflict here.

11 Okay.  So what has happened is, they have said, we

12 don't have a conflict because Xerox isn't -- isn't possibly

13 liable here.  There's no liability here.  

14 Let me run through what we know.  When the health

15 insurance system was first set up, it was a disaster.  It --

16 Xerox was hired to run it.  But it was a disaster.  It never

17 worked.  And the CO-OP Board Minutes -- and these start at

18 Exhibit 3 to the Motion -- the CO-OP Board Minutes say, this

19 is Xerox's fault.  Xerox is not performing.  There is a report

20 from Deloitte, where Deloitte says, yeah, there were hundreds

21 and hundreds of problems with Xerox's performance.

22 THE COURT:  Did they say what kind of problems?

23 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, they're all -- they're all

24 detailed.  There we go.  It's Exhibit 3.  And -- 

25 THE COURT:  To your -- to your motion?  Is it
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1 Exhibit 3 to your motion?

2 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  Exhibit 3, yes.

3 THE COURT:  All right.  

4 MR. KENNEDY:  And I will tell you, Xerox was

5 required to handle -- its general duties were develop,

6 administrator and manage -- administrate and manage the case,

7 the system.  That started with applications and enrollments,

8 getting data from consumers, and distributing it, sending it

9 to insurers and vendors.  Financial management and reporting

10 of the system, providing assistance to consumers,

11 communicating with consumers and with the government.

12 These are in Exhibit 2.  And if you look, there's a

13 chart as to all the duties.  And it's kind of a spreadsheet. 

14 And it starts, I think, at about page of Exhibit 2.  Well,

15 it's -- it's Bates No. 010.  And all of these are set up, all

16 the things Xerox had to do.

17 Of course, it didn't do them.  Deloitte says it

18 didn't do them.  The CO-OP itself writes a letter to Governor

19 Sandoval.  And this -- this letter is in the series of

20 exhibits beginning with Exhibit 3 to our motion -- saying to

21 Governor Sandoval, the system's failing because of Xerox, and

22 its failure to perform.  The State then fires Xerox and

23 terminates the contract.

24 At the same time -- well, not at the same time, but

25 a little bit later, the cases, the two class actions that
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1 Greenberg is representing Xerox in, settled.  And we -- at

2 Exhibit 10, we have the motion to settle those two

3 consolidated cases, with Xerox paying $5 million, plus $1.75

4 million in fees.  

5 They represent Xerox.  There goes in settlement $6

6 million and $750,000, all arising out of Xerox's failure to

7 perform.

8 THE COURT:  When you say they represented Xerox, you

9 mean Greenberg?

10 MR. KENNEDY:  Greenberg.  Yep. 

11 THE COURT:  All right.

12 MR. KENNEDY:  In both those cases.  Both those

13 cases.

14 Then in the next matter, there is a Consent Order

15 entered in the Exhibit 10 to our motion -- thank you.  There

16 is a Consent Order entered into by Xerox, in the Insurance

17 Commissioner's investigation of its performance.  And Xerox,

18 in that Consent Order, represented again by Greenberg Traurig,

19 agrees to pay a series of disputed claims.  

20 So at this point, okay, Greenberg has represented

21 Xerox and it cannot be said that Greenberg is unaware of the

22 deficiencies in Xerox's performance.  But it gets a lot worse,

23 because Xerox then files a lawsuit, and it's called the

24 Milliman case.  That's just the lead defendant or, pardon me.

25 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The Receiver is the one -- 

Page 36

2240



1 MR. KENNEDY:  The Receiver files the lawsuit.

2 And it -- the Receiver sues everybody, except, guess

3 who?  Xerox.  They don't get sued.  And all the defendants are

4 alleged to have contributed to the failure of the system.  But

5 Xerox is not sued.

6 THE COURT:  Who represented the Receiver?

7 MR. KENNEDY:  Greenberg Traurig.  

8 THE COURT:  Okay.  

9 MR. KENNEDY:  Of course, they didn't sue Xerox. 

10 This is the point at which Mr. Bailey, when we get involved,

11 Mr. Bailey contacts Greenberg and says, hey, you know, we have

12 a client here, who's been sued.  You didn't sue Xerox. 

13 I mean, they're the -- Xerox is the principal

14 wrongdoer.  They didn't sue them.  He's told, mind his own

15 business.  In the Milliman case there are seven expert

16 witnesses.  Seven of them.  And we quote all of them in our

17 Reply.  We quote excerpts from their reports in the Milliman

18 case.  And those -- 

19 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Page 4.

20 MR. KENNEDY:  -- begin at page 4 of the Reply.  

21 Judge, there are seven experts.  Every single one of

22 those experts, who have evaluated Xerox's performance, say it

23 was the cause, or the likely cause, or the principal cause of

24 the failure of the system, because it just didn't perform.

25 All of those expert witnesses say that.  And yet,
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1 Xerox did not get sued by the Receiver who is represented by

2 Greenberg Traurig who also represents Xerox, or who had

3 represented Xerox in at least three matters arising out of its

4 performance here.

5 Now, what does Greenberg say?  Because we send an

6 interrogatory to -- in -- in the Milliman case, we sent an

7 interrogatory -- 

8 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  For Exhibit 16.

9 MR. KENNEDY:  -- Exhibit to the motion.  We sent and

10 interrogatory to the Receiver and we -- we say, in light of

11 all of this, in light of all of this, which is really

12 overwhelming evidence of -- of failure of Xerox to perform,

13 after all it didn't perform, Deloitte says it didn't perform. 

14 It got fired by the State and its contract was terminated. 

15 There were two class actions settled against it for $6.75

16 million.  There was a Consent Order entered by the Insurance

17 Division.  And there -- there's seven expert reports that say

18 the problem was Xerox.  

19 Exhibit -- in Exhibit 16, this is the answer to that

20 question.  And it's Exhibit 16, at page 4.  Interrogatory No.

21 31:  Explain why plaintiff -- that's the Receiver -- did not

22 include Xerox and/or any of its affiliates, parent entities

23 and/or subsidiaries as a defendant in this action.

24 And going down, after all the objections are made,

25 at line 23, it says, Plaintiff elected to pursue those
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1 entities and individuals that were most directly responsible

2 for the damages.

3 Oh, and did I fail to mention who signed that

4 interrogatory for the Receiver?  Well, it was submitted by,

5 Mark Ferrario and other members of the Greenberg firm.  And,

6 at the top of the caption, they list themselves as counsel for

7 plaintiff, the Receiver. 

8 So in light of all that evidence, we get a response

9 from Greenberg on behalf of the Receiver saying, well, we just

10 went after people who -- who might be responsible.  And, of

11 course, that didn't include our client, Xerox.  

12 And now, of course, you -- you know what has

13 happened, Your Honor.  The Statute of Limitation has likely

14 run on claims against Xerox.  

15 Now, what's the upshot of all of that?  If they had

16 come to the Court and said, let's make a full disclosure here,

17 and this is what we're planning on doing, well, then everybody

18 could have been heard.  And it's the Court's decision,

19 ultimately, as to whether or not the Receiver is going to be

20 allowed to just let defendants go.  

21 And if these facts had been known to Your Honor,

22 that Greenberg Traurig had elected with its client not to sue

23 Xerox who it also represented, I believe at that point that

24 all of the creditors, I know my clients, would have said, no,

25 you can't do that.  You have a conflict, and this is the most
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1 culpable party.

2 But because we have conflicted counsel, this is the

3 result that we get.  Xerox is now, essentially, because of the

4 Statute of Limitation, going to walk free.  And if you -- you

5 can look at all of the prior activity and you can look at the

6 report of the seven experts, including the Receiver's own

7 expert who -- who acknowledges the problems, that's the

8 problem you have, when you have conflicted counsel.  They have

9 conflicted loyalties.  And this is an example of the result of

10 those conflicted loyalties.

11 Again, I ask the three questions; you knew you had a

12 conflict.  You never disclosed the conflict to the Court, or

13 anybody else.  You just let your other client walk free.  Why? 

14 Why?  Why are you -- I mean, do whatever you want, but at

15 least disclose it to the Court.  Never happened.  Not a single

16 word.

17 Lastly, this idea that conflicts counsel was

18 retained, we've already discussed that.  And what I'm saying

19 is, if you retain conflicts counsel and you get a waiver of

20 certain conflicts, and your engagement then becomes limited,

21 and conflicts counsel comes along and says, I'm going to

22 handle all these other matters, there's only one person that

23 can approve that.  Waivers by a Receiver of claims against

24 people like Xerox, to just let them go, they can't -- they're

25 not allowed to do that.  They have to come to the Court and
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1 say, here's what I'm going to do, or I've retained conflicts

2 counsel.  Here are the retainer agreements, can we please get

3 them approved, so the Court and all of the other parties and

4 creditors understand what's going on here.  Never happened.

5 We found out about all of this after Xerox didn't

6 get sued.  We had to go do our own independent investigation. 

7 There was no disclosure of any of this, anywhere, anytime. 

8 Nothing in writing.  And now, look at the damage to the

9 estate.  The principal wrongdoer who had a $75 million

10 contract, and who -- and the estimation of all these experts

11 caused the system to fail, is walking free.

12 Sure, it got sued in a couple class actions and

13 defendant, by Greenberg, and had to pay some money.  But the

14 principal claims for destroying this system will never, in no

15 likelihood, will these ever be brought because their lawyers

16 allowed them to walk free without any disclosure to anybody,

17 despite their fiduciary obligations to the Court and to all

18 the other parties.

19 This is the harm that we see, which brings me to the

20 second part of the motion, which is in light of all of this,

21 most of which can't even be disputed.  

22 The second part of the motion is, the forfeiture of

23 the fees.  If -- the Nevada Supreme Court has said several

24 times, and this is the law virtually everywhere; if you take

25 an engagement and you have a conflict and you don't disclose
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1 the conflict, then you can't recover any fees for that

2 engagement, because bad things are likely to happen.  And they

3 sure happened here.

4 The principal wrongdoer has walked away and is now

5 barred by the statute, their other client, Xerox.  And so

6 where you have knowingly, taking a case in the fact of these

7 irreconcilable conflicts, and concealing it from the Court at

8 the hearing where they were approved, not a word was said. 

9 Fifteen Status Reports, not a word.  No notice to anybody.  

10 And when we tried to find out, we were told to shut

11 up.  We had to go do all the work on our own, despite the fact

12 that Greenberg is counsel for the Receiver, owed a fiduciary

13 obligation to us, as creditors and parties, and owed a

14 fiduciary obligation to the Court.

15 And what's their response now?  Nah, sorry.  We

16 concealed it for so long, and you didn't find it.  Too bad. 

17 And they're saying to you, Judge, you can't do anything  

18 about it -- 

19 THE COURT:  Let -- 

20 MR. KENNEDY:  -- despite the fact that all of this

21 has come to your attention.  As I said, that argument has been

22 made several times, and I quoted you the language out of the

23 cases.  The Judges say, Nah, that's not how it works.

24 THE COURT:  Let me ask you a question.

25 MR. KENNEDY:  When I find out about it, I deal with
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1 it.

2 THE COURT:  Let me ask you a question, Mr. Kennedy,

3 about your statement that the Statute of Limitations has run,

4 and the -- whoever would be the aggrieved party can -- cannot

5 sue Xerox.

6 Is that true, if a party conceals the existence of a

7 cause of action until after the statute runs?  If Xerox -- 

8 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor, that's -- 

9 THE COURT:  If Xerox participated -- 

10 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.

11 THE COURT:  -- let's just say -- 

12 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.

13 THE COURT:  -- if they participated and were

14 involved in concealing the existence of a cause of action,

15 until the statute ran, can they avail themselves of the

16 Statute of Limitations?

17 MR. KENNEDY:  It -- that's why I said, in all

18 likelihood, they have escaped.  

19 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

20 MR. KENNEDY:  Because it's possible that if there

21 was concealment by Xerox, with the aid of its lawyers,

22 Greenberg Traurig, that that concealment would toll the

23 running of the statute.  That's possible.

24 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

25 MR. KENNEDY:  And once this case moves on, I think
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1 you -- you can be sure there is a likelihood that those claims

2 are going to be examined, and the claims may be brought

3 against all the parties who were involved in this.  But right

4 now, it -- just based on what we know, because we don't know

5 anything about what Xerox did, we just know what their lawyers

6 did, there is still some work to be done on that.  

7 That's why I say, Xerox has -- it may well be that

8 they have escaped, but that's not a certainty.

9 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

10 MR. KENNEDY:  And that will be looked into.  But

11 right now, without the fraud exception, we -- we would be out

12 of luck.

13 So anyway, that is the sum and substance of the

14 argument.  They ought to be disqualified.  They had a --

15 conflicts in which they could not escape.  When they were

16 retained, they concealed them, all the way up until we filed

17 this motion.  And because of that, because of that, they have

18 to forfeit the fees that they have earned.

19 Last point, and this goes back to the argument they

20 make, oh, well, there'll be delay and there'll be some cost

21 associated with that if new counsel come in.  That's why the

22 $5 million that they have received goes back to the estate. 

23 Because new counsel, unconflicted counsel, is going to have to

24 come in here make an evaluation of all of this, and -- I -- I

25 would say, report to you, but report to the -- to the Judge
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1 who ends up being in charge of this case.

2 Disqualification, forfeiture, the only possible

3 remedies here, based on this conduct.

4 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

5 MR. KENNEDY:  That -- that's my argument.

6 THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

7 Okay.  Mr. Ferrario, do you speak for your client

8 here?

9 MR. FERRARIO:  At this point, I'll turn it over to

10 Mr. Jimenez-Ekman.  I will be available to answer any

11 questions that the Court may have, in light of some of the

12 things that Mr. Kennedy speculates happened.  Certainly,

13 Judge, I'm here at your disposal.  But in terms of the legal

14 arguments, Mr. Jimenez-Ekman will handle that initially.

15 And also, Mr. Bennett is here to answer any

16 questions that you may have that touch upon, again, some of

17 the -- I -- I can't even -- I'm just going to bite my tongue -

18 - the -- the absolute speculation, misstatements that were

19 made by Mr. Kennedy and the -- the -- the motives and things

20 like that.  I'll be happy to answer any questions you have,

21 Judge.  We've got nothing to hide here.  We're an open book.  

22 Mr. Jimenez-Ekman will now handle the argument.

23 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

24 Mr. -- do you -- do you wish to be called Jimenez-

25 Ekman or Mr. Ekman, or how -- how do you wish to be addressed?
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1 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Your Honor, whatever suits you. 

2 I get called a lot worse things around my household, so as

3 long as I can figure it out.

4 Judge, I want to start where Mr. Ferrario started a

5 little bit with an observation.  I'm going to go through this

6 methodically.  I'm going to talk about the facts and the law.

7 But it has to be said, that what Mr. Kennedy has

8 said about the officers of the Court, and an appointed State

9 official is offensive here.  It's untrue.  It's unsupported

10 and it is offensive.  You won't hear that kind of rhetoric

11 from me.  But I -- this is not just an issue of dollars and

12 cents.  This is somebody impugning the integrity of people who

13 appear before the Court and -- and it's totally unfounded.

14 Let me start off with a couple of observations, and

15 then I'm going to talk about the facts, and then I'm going to

16 go into some of the specific arguments.

17 The first observation, Judge, is I -- I don't want

18 it to be lost, how extraordinary what Mr. Kennedy is asking

19 the Court to do, is.  There is an appointed Nevada official,

20 who has selected her own counsel, and the -- the undisputed

21 facts show that there -- that full disclosure was made to her

22 about what they could and couldn't do.

23 And Mr. Kennedy, whose client sat for years on these

24 issues, is now asking three years into the litigation for one

25 client, two years in another, to deprive this official of her
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1 chosen counsel.  It is an extraordinary remedy.  It is a last

2 resort under Nevada law.  And it is totally uncalled for here.

3 The second thing that -- 

4 THE COURT:  Is there -- I would ask -- 

5 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- I want to point out is -- 

6 THE COURT:  -- I would ask this, in relation then to

7 your -- to your -- your argument here on the motion; two

8 things.  

9 One, if you know of a case that -- that indicates

10 that a firm is not required to disclose the existence of

11 conflict or a potential conflict, to the Court, but rather

12 that they can simply make sure that their client has conflict

13 counsel, because I -- if there were a Nevada case,

14 particularly, but some cases somewhere that -- that

15 countenanced that resolution of the issue, then I would -- and

16 perhaps you have cited to it already in your Brief, and if so,

17 maybe you could just point it out to me.

18 Secondly -- 

19 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Well -- 

20 THE COURT:  Secondly -- 

21 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Oh, I apologize, Your Honor.

22 THE COURT:  Yeah.  The second thing is, somewhere in

23 your Response, if you -- if you care to, it would be

24 interesting to me, let's put it that way, to know what your

25 answers would be to the three questions that were put out
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1 there by Mr. Kennedy.

2 One is -- 

3 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  I -- I think -- 

4 THE COURT:  -- did -- did you know that you had a

5 conflict?  Second is, is it true, you never disclosed that to

6 the Court?  And number three, well, why not?

7 What that, now, I'd like to hear your -- your

8 argument.

9 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Your Honor, I figured you might

10 want to hear some answers to those questions.  And I will

11 answer them directly.  

12 Let -- let me start off, I'm going to go a little

13 out of my planned order here, but if you -- I haven't had a

14 chance to reply yet to Mr. Kennedy's Brief, which was the

15 Reply Brief.  And if the Court looks closely, the -- the

16 opening (indiscernible), you know, the Complaint on the first

17 page of the Opening Briefing, was that Greenberg Traurig was

18 involved in evaluating claims against Xerox.  And then we

19 submitted factual evidence that completely forecloses that. 

20 You have three undisputed affidavits in the record.

21 And so, in the Reply Brief, what Mr. Kennedy is now

22 focusing on is a failure to disclose.  But if you look

23 closely, Your Honor, these cases are all bankruptcy cases. 

24 There a few -- 

25 THE COURT:  Yeah.  That's true.
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1 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- receivership cases.  There's

2 not a single Nevada case.  And Judge, I don't know if you can

3 see this.  I realize I'm taking a risk, because it's -- the

4 screen is smaller here.  But I don't know if you can see this,

5 but this is -- 

6 THE COURT:  Yes, I can see it.

7 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- the rule.

8 THE COURT:  I can see it.

9 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  This is the rule that applies in

10 bankruptcy cases.  The rule says, you've got to disclose all

11 the people's connections.  There is an affirmative rule that

12 says, whether it's a conflict or not, you've got to disclose

13 all of those connections.  

14 And in contrast, you're familiar with the

15 receivership statute, and it doesn't say anything like that. 

16 It doesn't have any affirmative requirements at all.  So all

17 these cases, all these cases that are cited in the Brief from

18 these other jurisdictions and these bankruptcy cases, are

19 applying a standard that did not apply here.  That's -- that's

20 the -- that is the answer to much, if not all, of the

21 arguments that Mr. Kennedy has made on these points.

22 And in fact, the Eustace case on which he

23 specifically replied -- or relies at some length, Your Honor,

24 says, specifically, it would be unfair to apply the bankruptcy

25 disclosure requirements here.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.

2 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  So but let me -- let me -- 

3 THE COURT:  Well, if you -- if you don't mind, tell

4 me -- tell me why Eustace says it would be unfair.

5 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Well, because Eustace was not a

6 bankruptcy case, Your Honor.  That's a case out of the -- the

7 District of Pennsylvania, and the -- it was a receivership,

8 and -- it was -- by the CFTC, and the -- the Court

9 specifically notes in that -- in -- in that Footnote -- and

10 let me -- if you give me a second, I'll -- I'll direct the

11 Court specifically to it.

12 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

13 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Well, actually, I apologize,

14 Judge.  It -- it's not -- it's -- it's in the text of the

15 case.

16 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

17 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  And Judge, rather than wait for

18 me to look at it, I'm going to get -- I'm going to phone a

19 friend and -- and go on with the argument because -- 

20 THE COURT:  All right.

21 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- but that -- that language -- 

22 THE COURT:  Okay.

23 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- does appear in there.

24 THE COURT:  All right.

25 THE COURT:  You asked, Judge, whether there are

Page 50
2254



1 cases that -- that permit the -- you know, the retention of

2 counsel with specific scope and then conflicts counsel, and we

3 -- we've cited a number of cases in our Brief.  And they are 

4 -- they -- they start on page 13, the Stoumbos case, the

5 Bartelt case, the Fondiller case; these are cases where --

6 that -- that make clear that it is perfectly appropriate to

7 hire counsel to -- for a specific purpose, rather than a

8 general purpose.  And that furthermore, if there are conflicts

9 involved, you can also remediate those with conflicts counsel.

10 So, I think, Your Honor, I -- it would be helpful,

11 before I answer the specific three questions, however, to talk

12 a little about the facts here, because it -- it describes what

13 the answer to the questions is -- questions are.

14 As I said, there is a State official here, the

15 Commissioner of Insurance who has appointed the Receiver in

16 this case.  Mr. Bennett's firm was appointed the Special

17 Deputy Receiver in October of 2015.  Mr. Bennett, without the

18 help or assistance of Greenberg, or contacting Mr. Greenberg,

19 spent some time -- Mr. Bennett and his firm spent some time

20 analyzing the situation, almost a year before he contacted Mr.

21 Ferrario at Greenberg Traurig.

22 Mr. Bennett concluded that he had a number of

23 entities and people that he preliminary thought was

24 responsible, and Xerox was not among them.  Among the reasons

25 for that is that Xerox, as indicated in his Declaration and as
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1 a matter of public record, had no direct contractual

2 relationship with the CO-OP and therefore the -- the entity

3 under which the Receiver -- or into whose shoes the Receiver

4 stepped.

5 It was in that context that the undisputed evidence

6 -- there are three Declarations in the record, including from

7 Mr. Bennett, from Mr. Ferrario, and a corroborating

8 Declaration from -- from Mr. Whitmire.  Mr. Bennett approached

9 Mr. Ferrario, because of his knowledge and skill in -- in

10 these sorts of cases, and discussed the possibility of

11 retaining him to pursue specific claims.

12 Those claims did not include claims against Xerox or

13 have anything to do with Valley.  This not Mr. Bennett's first

14 rodeo.  He has served as a Special Deputy Receiver before, in

15 two other receiverships, and in those receiverships he had

16 retained primary counsel, and conflicts counsel.  And that's

17 exactly what he did here.

18 And it was agreed at the outset that -- that Mr. --

19 Mr. Ferrario clearly disclosed that Greenberg Traurig

20 represented Xerox, to Mr. Bennett.  Mr. Ferrario clearly

21 disclosed that he had -- or not he had, but the firm had

22 previously represented -- represented Valley, to Mr. Bennett.

23 And it was agreed -- I mean, at that point, Mr. Bennett did

24 not believe that the Receiver intended to pursue any claims

25 against any of those entities.
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1 At that point, it was agreed that Mr. Ferrario, and

2 Greenberg Traurig, would be retained to prosecute specific

3 claims.  They would not be a general lawyer to the Receiver. 

4 And that any claims, Xerox, Valley, or otherwise, or any

5 issues that implicated parties with whom Greenberg Traurig

6 might have a conflict, would be handled by Mr. Whitmire.

7 And so based on that agreement, in December of 2016,

8 the motion was filed before Your Honor, and it was granted in

9 January of 2017.  And it is true, that these -- the specific

10 contours of Greenberg Traurig's retention were not

11 specifically described.  That's because Mr. Bennett, as the

12 Receiver's Special Deputy, and under his authority to manage

13 the affairs of the receivership, only to be reviewed for

14 arbitrary and capricious misconduct, wanted to maintain

15 maximum flexibility.  And that motion was granted.

16 Now, so the first question you want to know; is it

17 true that they knew they had a conflict?  The answer to that

18 is, no, Judge.  They -- they did not have a conflict, because

19 they were not retained for any purposes adverse to Xerox or

20 adverse to Valley.  

21 You don't have a conflict if you're not hired to do

22 something, if it's not within the scope of your

23 representation, to take a position adverse to a different

24 party.  So they did not have a conflict.

25 And they were not under the Rule that is carelessly,
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1 to put it generously, cited repeatedly in Mr. Kennedy's Brief,

2 they were not under the Rule that required them to disclose

3 all of their connections.

4 So there was absolutely no intent to conceal

5 anything.  Nothing was concealed.  Greenberg Traurig was hired

6 to pursue the claims that it did.  Mr. Bennett, in the

7 exercise of a common practice and a high level of prudence,

8 had conflicts counsel in place, to the extent any other issues

9 came up.  

10 But it is undisputed there is no -- 

11 THE COURT:  Are you -- are you -- are you indicating

12 that Mr. Bennett already had conflict counsel in place?

13 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Well, yes, Your Honor.  And I

14 was quite confused by Mr. Kennedy's answer to that question,

15 because it's the same motion.  It's the motion that's filed in

16 December of 2016, and it is granted in January of 2017.

17 THE COURT:  Okay.

18 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  So, Mr. Bennett filed a Motion

19 to retain a number of professionals that -- that included

20 Greenberg Traurig and the -- and -- and James Whitmire and his

21 firm.  

22 But they weren't described specifically as conflicts

23 counsel and lead counsel, and they're not required to be. 

24 There's -- there is absolutely no requirement of any kind

25 under the receivership statute or anything in Nevada law that
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1 would require those specific roles to be delineated in that

2 motion.  There was no intent to hide anything.  But the entire

3 time, Mr. Whitmire has been in place, as needed.

4 Now, that brings us to the evidence here, Judge, on

5 -- on what happened here.  Don't forget, there's no allegation

6 here, unlike in a number of the cases that Mr. Kennedy has

7 cited, there is no allegation that the Receiver herself, an

8 appointed public official, has any conflict, or that Mr.

9 Bennett, who is their Special Deputy, has any conflict.

10 They are specifically, under that statute I showed

11 you, and under the Order that appoints them, they are

12 empowered to make the decisions on their own, with whatever

13 help they desire.  But they have the authority to decide who

14 to sue and who not to sue.

15 And we are here because this is not the first time

16 that these parties have disagreed with the discretionary acts

17 that the Receiver have taken -- has taken.  But this has

18 nothing to do with any improprieties.  

19 I don't get to the second and third questions,

20 because there was no conflict here that needed to be

21 disclosed.  There's no conflict when you're not retained to do

22 something adverse to these other folks, and that is why it was

23 not disclosed at the time.

24 To suggest that these lawyers intentionally hid this

25 from you, as I said, is offensive, untrue and there is simply
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1 no basis of any kind in the record.

2 So let me step back a little bit to what I -- my --

3 my -- what I had in mind.  Judge, I think it's incredibly

4 telling that when you asked Mr. Kennedy during his

5 presentation what the lead cases are that support his

6 position, he gives you a case out of the Eastern District of

7 Pennsylvania, he gives you a case out of -- a bankruptcy case

8 out of the Southern District of California, and he gives you a

9 case out of the District -- a bankruptcy case out of the

10 District of Minnesota.

11 There is absolutely no authority under Nevada law

12 for you to order the kind of extraordinary relief that they

13 are requesting here.  There is not a single case that has any

14 facts remotely resembling this under Nevada law.  And frankly,

15 these other cases, if you take the time to read them, are also

16 very, very far afield.

17 Let me talk about the four points that we made and

18 the responses that we saw in the Reply.  I mean, just as a

19 threshold matter, Judge, I know you're familiar with the --

20 the Nevada Supreme Court law, which points out that

21 disqualification is an extraordinary remedy.  It's -- it's a

22 drastic measure that you should not impose unless absolutely

23 necessary, and that the party seeking disqualification bears

24 the burden of showing it's proper in presenting evidence, not

25 merely unsupported allegation -- allegations in support of its
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1 claim.

2 And here, I want to point out, there's no sworn

3 evidence supported by the movants here, or by Mr. Kennedy. 

4 We've submitted four Declaration.  Mr. Kennedy suggested

5 apparently that Mr. Bennett, the Special Deputy Receiver, was

6 acting ultra vires.  And so we submitted yesterday a very

7 short Declaration from the Receiver herself, indicating that

8 the papers we filed represent the Receiver's position in the

9 case.

10 So we have submitted affirmative evidentiary quality

11 materials that foreclose the arguments that Mr. Kennedy is

12 making.  And there is not a single shred of evidentiary

13 quality materials, no Declarations at all, showing the points

14 that Mr. Kennedy has tried to make.  And this becomes

15 important on the timing issue, which I'll get to later.

16 So let -- let me start off with the first issue we

17 raised, which is a threshold issue and its standing.  There --

18 the movants here simply do not have standing.  To be clear --

19 I think this is clear, Judge, but just to emphasize this,

20 neither -- sorry -- neither UHH or NHS were ever the client of

21 Mr. Ferrario or Greenberg Traurig.  There's no allegation that

22 they provided them any -- any confidential material. 

23 There's no allegation that Greenberg Traurig has any

24 fiduciary or other obligation or duty of loyalty whatsoever to

25 the movants here.  So we are in a situation where we are
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1 outside of -- 

2 THE COURT:  To -- to -- to whom?  I didn't quite get

3 that.  To whom?

4 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  I'm sorry, Judge.  The movants

5 here.  

6 THE COURT:  Oh, okay.

7 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  I mean, if you've seen these --

8 if you've seen these motions before, usually, what you have is

9 a client who comes in, or a former client who says, wait a

10 minute, that is my lawyer.  Or, wait a minute, that was my

11 lawyer; right?  That's not what we have here.

12 We have the very situation that all the case law

13 warns you about, which is, you have a litigation opponent who

14 is using this at the last minute to try and severely prejudice

15 its opponent.

16 So you don't have a situation -- Mr. Kennedy is --

17 is asserting that there's prejudice here because maybe the

18 Statute of Limitations has run.  I'll get to that.  But he's

19 not suggesting that the normal prejudice that a client or

20 former client would assert, is present, because it's

21 undisputed that Greenberg Traurig was never the -- I'm sorry,

22 that neither of the movants, UHH or NHS, was the -- was -- was

23 ever the clients of Greenberg Traurig.

24 And Judge, that should end your inquiry right there. 

25 The -- the law -- the Nevada Supreme Court is pretty clear
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1 that you can't come into a case like this, and as a litigation

2 opponent, assert someone else's interests, to try and get a

3 strategic advantage, which is exactly what's going on here.

4 So there's a suggestion in the Reply Brief, Your

5 Honor, I think it's at page 25, that because UHH is a creditor

6 of the receivership, that -- that it somehow has standing

7 here.

8 Well, number one, there is no Nevada law that

9 suggests that's the case.  

10 Number two, the other cases that are cited in Mr.

11 Kennedy's Brief on this issue involves situations where, in

12 fact, it was the -- a former client who is -- who was making

13 the assertion.  It's not just a creditor of the estate.

14 Number three, the case law -- and -- and -- shows

15 that generally speaking, the -- a lawyer can represent both

16 the -- either the Trustee, or the Receiver and the creditors

17 because they're aligned.  If -- if Greenberg Traurig recovers

18 on behalf of the -- the estate, that -- that benefits all the

19 creditors here.  

20 So there is no standing here.  This is -- this is

21 the sort of situation that the courts constantly guard against

22 where you have a litigation opponent and they just don't have

23 standing to bring this sort of a motion under the law and for

24 very good reason.

25 There's a suggestion by Mr. Kennedy that -- in the
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1 briefs, at least, that there could be standing here because

2 Greenberg Traurig's has somehow so infected the litigation,

3 that the -- the administration of justice is called into play

4 here.  But I have to go back and emphasize.  It is undisputed,

5 the -- there is evidence -- evidentiary -- quality evidence in

6 the record that Greenberg Traurig has had nothing to do with

7 the failure to pursue Xerox.  

8 That is a decision made by Mr. Bennett on -- with

9 the authority of the Receiver herself, based on an analysis

10 that they performed before Greenberg Traurig was retained, so

11 that also does not confer any standing here.  There is simply

12 no Nevada law that supports this.  

13 And there are really good reasons to prevent this

14 litigation opponent, these litigation opponents after three

15 years from trying to disqualify Greenberg Traurig.  That's

16 number one, Judge.

17 Number two, Greenberg Traurig does not have a

18 conflict here.  I've talked about the evidence, which is

19 undisputed, that Greenberg Traurig was not retained to take

20 any actions that were in any way adverse to Xerox, or to

21 Valley.  We've cited all these cases in our Opposition Brief. 

22 And, Judge, you asked the question of Mr. Kennedy;

23 this a common practice.  It's sometimes difficult to find

24 completely unconflicted counsel.  And so -- 

25 THE COURT:  Let me ask you -- 
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1 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- what you do, is you bring in

2 lawyers for specific tasks.  That is what happened here. 

3 There -- the evidence is -- 

4 THE COURT:  Let me ask a question.

5 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- completely undisputed.

6 THE COURT:  Let me ask a question before you move on

7 to that point.

8 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Yes, Your Honor.

9 THE COURT:  Mr. Kennedy says, well, the claim is

10 that, there's no conflict here, or was not retained for these

11 purposes, but they -- they don't show us in any retainer

12 agreement.  What do you say to that?  Would it be helpful to

13 the Court, to see the retainer agreements, to verify that

14 argument?

15 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Well, Judge, I don't think

16 that's required at all.  There's -- you have undisputed sworn

17 testimony from -- from both the clients -- remember, Mr.

18 Bennett here is a client -- and the lawyer saying that this is

19 the case.  And there is no requirement, I will add.  I -- I

20 disagree with Mr. Kennedy and I challenge him to point out

21 where under Nevada law or ethics rules the scope of a limits 

22 -- the scope of an engagement.

23 So, for example, if you hire me to sue Ford, okay? 

24 That doesn't need to be in writing, Judge.  There are -- there

25 are some things that the Rules require you to put in writing. 
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1 Many states, for example, a contingency fee, and so on.  Some

2 aspects of engagements have to be in writing.

3 But as -- as both a -- an ethical and legal matter,

4 and as a practical matter, after doing this for almost 30

5 years, the things that hire -- that -- that clients hire

6 lawyers to do change, and they can be changed orally.

7 And what happened here is that these things were

8 discussed orally, and that is fully sufficient under Illinois

9 -- I'm sorry -- under Nevada law.  I'm talking to you from

10 Chicago, Judge, right now, where I assume it's much drearier

11 than it is in Las Vegas.  So -- 

12 THE COURT:  Well, we're cutting -- we're cutting

13 into your -- 

14 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- I -- I hope I'm -- 

15 THE COURT:  -- we're cutting into your dinner hour

16 then, aren't we?

17 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Not -- not yet, Judge.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Go ahead.

19 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  So, that's the answer to -- to

20 that.  There is absolutely no requirement that this be in

21 writing.  

22 Let me speak -- focus briefly on Nevada Rule of

23 Professional Conduct 1.2, which talks about limited scope

24 representation.  That is not what we're talking about here. 

25 Limited scope representation is if you hire me to sue Ford,
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1 and I tell you I'm going to write the Briefs, but I'm not

2 going to help with discovery, that is what that refers to.

3 And those sorts of limitations, where you take on a

4 matter such as suing the defendants here, or suing Ford, and

5 you can't do all of the steps that are necessary to completely

6 discharge your obligations for that matter, you don't have to,

7 if you're hired to sue Ford, say, by the way, I'm not going to

8 be suing Chevy for you, I'm not going to be suing GM.  Those 

9 -- you don't -- those are not required to be put in writing,

10 and they are not the subject of Rule 1.2.

11 And there's nothing cited in the Briefs that -- that

12 -- that establishes any sort of writing requirement for these.

13 Did I -- did I sufficiently address that, Your

14 Honor?

15 THE COURT:  Yes.  Yes, thank you.

16 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  So what we saw in Mr. Kennedy's

17 Opening Brief is the citation of a number of cases, for

18 example, starting on page 15, where the -- the limit -- the

19 representation was not of limited scope.  So if -- if it's

20 true that -- if it were true here -- it's not, it's completely

21 untrue -- but if Mr. -- if the Receiver had hired Greenberg

22 Traurig to serve as its all purpose lawyers, those are the

23 sorts of situations that are involved in the -- the cases

24 citing at page 15 of the Brief.

25 That didn't happen here.  You have the client and
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1 the lawyer -- and by the way, you know, you have James

2 Whitmire also swearing that he was -- he -- he was retained as

3 conflicts counsel at the time.  

4 So, I guess Mr. Kennedy is asking you to believe

5 that all of these people are liars, but that's not the way

6 that the law works.  It's -- he's got to come forward with

7 some evidence when he's trying to disrupt a three-year

8 attorney-client relationship.  And that's exactly what he's

9 doing here.

10 I want to point out, Judge, that the Reply Brief, as

11 I said, kind of did a -- did a -- a twist.  And rather than

12 dispute any of the cases that we cited where these sorts of

13 arrangements, where you had principal counsel prosecuting

14 certain claims, and you had conflicts counsel to deal with any

15 conflicts that came up, rather than say, that's not the law,

16 what -- what -- what the movant's brief did was, instead,

17 concentrate on this disclosure requirement which Mr. Kennedy

18 has blown way all -- way out of proportion, because it simply

19 does not apply here.

20 But the -- the -- none of the case law in our Brief

21 -- and I think Mr. Kennedy admitted in the response to your

22 question, that of course you can have principal counsel, and

23 of course you can have conflicts counsel.  Those arrangements

24 are -- are -- are permitted all the time.

25 Judge, I -- I -- I guess, I should talk briefly on
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1 this point, about some of the specific things that Mr. Kennedy

2 has put in his Brief and mentioned here, that he thinks raise

3 doubt about the accounts of the lawyers and the State official

4 who have submitted Declarations here.

5 So, for example, there's the -- there's the point

6 that Mr. Whitmire has only billed a small amount to the

7 estate.  That is totally irrelevant here, because as we've

8 described, it's Mr. Bennett, and the Special Deputy Receiver,

9 which has made the determination whether to sue Xerox or not.

10 Mr. Whitmire was lined up and ready to go as

11 necessary, but so far -- so far, at least, it has not been

12 necessary.

13 I think, I've already answered the kind of -- the

14 question about producing documents that relate to this.  As

15 I've said, these things are not required to be memorialized in

16 writing.  Nothing is cited in the Briefs.

17 Let me move on to my third point, Your Honor, which

18 is that this qualification is unwarranted because it would

19 prejudice the Receiver.  So here, we've submitted a

20 Declaration from Mr. Bennett that explains -- it's not just

21 the money that's at issue here.  

22 It's not just the -- the -- the monetary investment. 

23 But the Receiver has been represented by her preferred counsel

24 for just shy of three years now.  That counsel has done the

25 discovery, has been -- been engaging in the strategy, has --
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1 has, you know, it -- the -- Greenberg Traurig is the lawyer

2 who understands this case on behalf of the Receiver.

3 And Mr. Bennett has -- has explained in his

4 Declaration, that it would be quite prejudicial to the

5 Receiver for non-monetary reasons, if Greenberg Traurig was

6 disqualified now.  So there's evidence in the record for you

7 to consider about that. 

8 On the other side, you have argument and rhetoric

9 from Mr. Kennedy, and nothing else.  There is no Declaration

10 about -- about prejudice.  Nothing.  

11 Let me talk about the one thing he did identify,

12 which is the idea that Xerox -- that -- that somehow claims

13 against Xerox are stale, and this is somehow the -- the result

14 of this conflict.

15 The -- the materials -- Judge, if you -- do you have

16 the moving papers available?  Because I -- if you take a look

17 at -- 

18 THE COURT:  I do.

19 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- Exhibit 4 of their -- their

20 Brief, is -- you have some Meeting Minutes from February 2019. 

21 I'm sorry, 2014.  February 19th, 2014.  

22 THE COURT:  Okay.  I have -- I have right here the 

23 -- the Briefs, or the -- the Motion, Opposition, Reply.  I

24 don't have the -- all the Exhibits attached.  I wasn't -- 

25 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  All right.  Well, that's -- 
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1 that's probably a sensible decision.  But, Judge --  

2 THE COURT:  But I'll -- I will be looking -- 

3 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- what I've -- 

4 THE COURT:  -- I will be looking at this Exhibit

5 before -- before we come to a conclusion here.  Exhibit 4 to

6 the -- to the Motion, then is what you're talking about?

7 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Correct, Judge.  

8 And what these are, are Meeting Minutes from the 

9 CO-OP, when -- when it was still in existence and running. 

10 And it shows that one of -- one of the defendant's current

11 lawyer, James Clough, from Seyfarth Shaw, attended this

12 meeting telephonically.  And in these Meeting Minutes, it is

13 quite clear that Xerox had a number of technical issues.

14 So from the time that the defendants here were sued

15 three years ago, and two years ago, if they believed that

16 Xerox was at fault, they were able to implead them, or try to

17 implead them if they thought it was -- it was proper.  

18 Nothing Greenberg Traurig or the Receiver did

19 prevented them from doing that.  If the claim is blown, it is

20 the fault of these parties, not the -- not Greenberg Traurig

21 or the Receiver.  

22 There is no prejudice at all from -- well, I should

23 say there's no unfair prejudice, Judge.  

24 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

25 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  As we put in our -- in our
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1 Response Brief, the defendants here have dragged out, at one

2 point, they asked for a one-year extension for completion of

3 expert discovery here.  They started focusing on this highly

4 collateral and strategic issue when they started to actually

5 face the prospect of a trial on the merits.  That's what's

6 going on here.

7 They would be prejudiced by Greenberg Traurig

8 staying in, but that's prejudice on the merits.  It's not

9 unfair prejudice.  There is no evidence, as I said, no -- no

10 Declarations, nothing demonstrating how Greenberg Traurig

11 staying in would prejudice.

12 And the way that this factor works under the case

13 law, under Nevada law, Your Honor, is that you weigh -- you

14 weigh the two showings.  

15 THE COURT:  Now, all of this -- 

16 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Let me move on to -- 

17 THE COURT:  -- all of this argument depends upon

18 there being no authority, no Nevada authority, on their first

19 preposition that there was some obligation to disclose to the

20 Court, not just to discuss -- or disclose to Mr. Bennett;

21 correct?

22 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  No, Your Honor.  I respectfully

23 disagree with that.

24 THE COURT:  Okay.  

25 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  These -- these are independent
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1 factors.  You -- you can -- 

2 THE COURT:  Okay.

3 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- you can find that there was a

4 conflict.  

5 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

6 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  And Courts do find that there

7 was a conflict.  But that when you weigh the prejudice from

8 the disqualification against the prejudice from leaving the

9 lawyer in place, disqualification is unwarranted.  And courts

10 do that, and these are -- this is what's happened in some of

11 the cases we had cited in our Brief.

12 And I want to point something out here, since you

13 raised that point, Your Honor.  Ordinarily, when the courts

14 are weighing that prejudice, they're weighing the prejudice of

15 a current or former client because they share confidential

16 information, you know, those sorts of things here.  Things

17 where there could be future harm to the -- the party seeking

18 disqualification.

19 THE COURT:  Um-h'm.  Um-h'm. 

20 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Mr. Kennedy has not suggested

21 that that's even a possibility here.  His -- his issue here is

22 that in the past, Xerox was not pursued.  There -- there is no

23 future harm indicated.  And you could -- you could rule

24 against us.  I -- I don't think you should.  I think the facts

25 are undisputed, there's no supporting law.  But even if you
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1 get to this third point here, Your Honor -- 

2 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

3 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  -- you could find, yeah, there

4 was a conflict.  You can find, hey, I think Greenberg Traurig,

5 you know, prudently should have disclosed this.  

6 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

7 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  I -- you can make all those

8 findings.  But you still have to weigh the -- the prejudice

9 from not granting disqualification against the prejudice for

10 granting disqualification.  And there's no evidence to show

11 that there is actual prejudice here.

12 THE COURT:  Okay.  

13 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  The fourth point is on waiver. 

14 And I -- I feel -- this happens around my household, as well,

15 as I mentioned.  I feel a little misunderstood here, because

16 nobody is suggesting, Your Honor, that somebody had to ferret

17 this all out.  It was not concealed, for all the reasons that

18 I've said.

19 But the issue here is whether there was unreasonable

20 delay.  Whether there was unreasonable delay, which of course

21 is a sign of the strategic conduct that I've been talking

22 about here.  And in determining whether there was unreasonable

23 delay, Mr. Kennedy suggested you ask me a question.  I'm going

24 to ask that you -- I'm going to suggest, very respectfully,

25 that you ask him a question and that is, when did his clients
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1 or their counsel or agents first learn -- first learn that

2 Greenberg Traurig had represented Valley and/or Xerox?

3 Because what you have very artfully in the papers is

4 a side step to that question.  There is no evidence or

5 argument even as to when this first came to their attention. 

6 And, of course, the Valley conflict, or alleged conflict that

7 they've proposed here, was in the pleadings, in these matters.

8 So if it's true that they really just found out

9 about this, and started writing letters about it right away,

10 and when I say "this", that Greenberg Traurig had represented

11 Xerox in these prior matters.

12 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

13 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  If it's true, where is the

14 evidence of that?  I don't think that's the case.  I'm going

15 to speculate that they have known about it.  They certainly

16 knew about Valley for quite some time.  But I suggest that you

17 -- you ask for, you know, evidentiary quality materials on

18 that specific issue.

19 If you give me second, Judge, I think I'm getting

20 close to what I wanted to say here.  Obviously, the most

21 important thing is, I want to make sure I've addressed any

22 questions you have, or concerns you have.  But I also want to

23 check my -- my notes.

24 THE COURT:  Okay.  I think I've been popping my

25 questions off as they occur to me, so I don't have any
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1 additional questions at this moment.

2 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  I'm just checking my -- my own

3 notes here, Your Honor.

4 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

5 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor, because we're virtual

6 here, it's hard -- I can't communicate with Mr. Ekman, and he

7 can't communicate with me.  

8 THE COURT:  I kind of like that notion.  

9 MR. FERRARIO:  I know. I know, Mr. Kennedy was able

10 to have his brain trust in his -- in his office with him, so I

11 could see them milling around.  I -- I would like to speak to

12 Mr. Ekman for a second, Your Honor, about a couple of things

13 that I'm not sure that they're missed -- things that were said

14 that need to be corrected on some, you know, tangential

15 points.  But -- 

16 THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.  Say it.

17 MR. FERRARIO:  Can I just call him on the phone

18 here, real quick?

19 THE COURT:  Oh, you mean, secret.  You mean

20 confidential discussions.  

21 MR. FERRARIO:  Well, no, I'll -- 

22 THE COURT:  Sure.  But we -- 

23 MR. FERRARIO:  Yeah.  Just very -- 

24 THE COURT:  -- we really do, of course, have to move

25 along.  I've pushed my staff way beyond.
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1 MR. FERRARIO:  You know what, Judge, I'll -- I'll

2 let it go.  It's okay.  

3 THE COURT:  Well, if you -- if you feel it's

4 important, Mr. Ferrario, you can do it.

5 MR. FERRARIO:  Well, there were things that -- that

6 Mr. -- Mr. Kennedy said, again, for example, on the Xerox

7 settlement, he said it was a $5 million settlement.  I think

8 that's a mischaracterization of what the settlement was, Your

9 Honor.

10 I think, and again, part of -- some of the

11 difficulty I have with some of these points is -- is -- is,

12 you know, what -- when you start, you know, misstating the

13 record, and -- and you start overreaching on facts, that's --

14 the reason you do that, is because your principal argument

15 really isn't that strong.  And I think this undercuts a lot of

16 what they're saying and it goes to the credibility that I

17 actually texted the associate that was working with me on

18 this.  The settlement was to pay up to $5 million.  I think

19 Xerox paid out a total to the alleged claimants of $99,000.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.  So that -- that's -- 

21 MR. FERRARIO:  The biggest payout -- 

22 THE COURT:  -- that's what they actually -- 

23 MR. FERRARIO:  -- went to attorneys fee -- 

24 THE COURT:  That's what they actually paid out on

25 that one?
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1 MR. FERRARIO:  Yeah.  And I -- I'm doing this on the

2 fly, Judge.  And I -- I -- 

3 THE COURT:  Yeah.

4 MR. FERRARIO:  -- I think she -- 

5 THE COURT:  Okay.

6 MR. FERRARIO:  -- she did that correctly.

7 The other thing that was troubling was when Mr.

8 Kennedy starts talking about the system failed, the system

9 failed; the case that we brought, and I stand by it, that Mr.

10 Bennett hired us to bring, was a case against people that

11 provided services to the CO-OP.  The CO-OP was an insurance

12 company.  The CO-OP is not the system.

13 And he starts to blur things.  And he said the

14 system failure.  We brought a claim against the service

15 providers because the CO-OP failed.  And there's a dramatic

16 difference to that.

17 And I want to reemphasize what Mr. Ekman just said. 

18 If you look at Exhibit 4, any notion that -- that Mr.

19 Kennedy's new client didn't have some knowledge of Xerox or

20 the interrelationship of Xerox is belied by the very exhibit

21 that they filed where the lawyer from Seyfarth Shaw who is

22 their co-counsel in this case, attended a Board Meeting where

23 that was discussed. 

24 Furthermore, at the Board Meetings are people that

25 are affiliated with and are clients of Mr. Kennedy's now.  So
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1 they've known about the Xerox situation since 2013, 2014.

2 Let's see.  And so, I -- I think one thing that's

3 gotten lost here is, was when we were retained, we were

4 retained by Mr. Bennett to go after people that were providing

5 services, or companies, to the CO-OP, who were -- all had, I

6 think, pretty much -- 

7 THE COURT:  And was that -- 

8 MR. FERRARIO:  -- a contractual relationship -- 

9 THE COURT:  -- Mr. Ferrario, is that -- is that in

10 writing somewhere?

11 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor, it is is -- it is

12 basically the retention agreement.  And when Mr. Bennett came

13 to us, he gave us a roster of the clients, and those clients

14 are the service providers to the CO-OP.  That's what we ran

15 the conflict on.  And that was what Mr. Ekman spoke to.

16 And those were the defendants that ended up finding themselves

17 in the Complaint.  

18 THE COURT:  So Bennett -- 

19 MR. FERRARIO:  And -- 

20 THE COURT:  -- had his own list of -- of service

21 providers for you to look at?

22 MR. FERRARIO:  Yes.  And -- and Mr. Ekman -- 

23 THE COURT:  And none of -- 

24 MR. FERRARIO:  -- really -- I -- 

25 THE COURT:  -- none of those on the list -- none of
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1 those on the list included Xerox?

2 MR. FERRARIO:  None, Your Honor.

3 THE COURT:  Okay.  Or -- 

4 MR. FERRARIO:  Absolutely not.

5 THE COURT:  -- or Valley?

6 MR. FERRARIO:  No.  Valley -- Valley, actually, we 

7 -- the Valley thing is -- is kind of a -- I don't even know

8 why that's being raised, quite frankly.  We filed a claim for

9 Valley.  We have handled none of that.  That's being handled

10 by Mr. Bennett administratively.  We will never -- Greenberg

11 will never weigh in on that. 

12 And I think that matter's fixed, but Mr. Bennett can

13 -- can talk to it.  There's nothing further to be done on the

14 Valley issue.  That's over. 

15 Yeah.  Mr. Bennett came to us and said, here, I want

16 you to look -- run conflicts on this group of people.  We've

17 investigated this.  This is who we're thinking of suing. 

18 These were essentially services providers to the CO-OP.  Do

19 you have any conflicts?  We ran the conflicts.  No.

20 But as we said in -- in the Briefing, I did disclose

21 to Mr. Bennett that I had represented Xerox previously in

22 other things, because they actually did have a contract with

23 the State to essentially develop the portal for -- for the

24 roll out of the -- of Obamacare.

25 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 
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1 MR. FERRARIO:  But we're not suing -- we're suing

2 the service providers for their failure to discharge their

3 duties to the CO-OP.  And the easiest example is that if you

4 take a look at it, we're suing the accountant who provided

5 accounting services to the CO-OP, okay, saying they failed in

6 their duties.

7 But with -- 

8 THE COURT:  Are you saying that -- 

9 MR. FERRARIO:  -- that I'm going -- I'm going to

10 argue -- 

11 THE COURT:  -- are you saying that Xerox did not

12 perform any service to the CO-OP?

13 MR. FERRARIO:  Xerox was not under contract to the

14 CO-OP, Judge.  It provided no direct services to the CO-OP. 

15 Xerox was hired to design the portal the -- and I'm -- I'm not

16 a computer guy, but it was like a computer program.

17 THE COURT:  I understand.

18 MR. FERRARIO:  Yeah.  For -- through the State. 

19 They had a contract with the State.  The State hired them and

20 paid them to perform the service.  

21 THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

22 MR. FERRARIO:  David, I'm sorry, I cut you off. 

23 I'll shut up.

24 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  No, I -- I -- I had reached a

25 pause, Mark, so -- but Judge, I -- I'm -- I can -- I think I
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1 can finish up briefly.  I was reminded that I had not

2 addressed the disgorgement point.  

3 Judge, number one, none of the cases cited in the

4 Brief would -- would authorize or requirement disgorgement

5 under these circumstances.

6 Number two, for all the reasons that there's no

7 conflict and there should be no disqualification, disgorgement

8 is totally inappropriate here.

9 And then, let me talk briefly about the Xerox issue

10 a little bit more just to -- that dovetails with what Mr.

11 Ferrario said.  

12 There is a lot of time spent in the Reply Brief

13 where Mr. Kennedy has submitted these litigation experts

14 who've not surprisingly, have a view that's favorable to his

15 new clients.  

16 Well, guess what?  The Receiver disagrees with that. 

17 There is a big dispute about that.  And the Receiver is within

18 her power to determine whether or not it is appropriate to

19 pursue Xerox.  And she's made that determination with no input

20 of any kind from Greenberg Traurig.

21 Remember, Judge, this morphed from a completely

22 unfounded accusation that Greenberg Traurig just determined

23 who to sue, that was the Opening Brief.  Then we, without a

24 chance to reply until now, in the Reply Brief we -- we see all

25 these allegations that really the problem was the failure to
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1 disclose, and maybe it would have been approved, but maybe

2 not, but we needed to disclose.  And we cite all these

3 bankruptcy cases and the bankruptcy law clearly doesn't apply

4 here.

5 So, Judge, bottom line, number one, there's no

6 standing here.  

7 Number two, there's no conflict because the

8 representation does not include taking positions adverse to

9 these parties.  

10 Number three, the Receiver, a State official, would

11 be very severely prejudiced by granting disqualification.  And

12 the -- the movants have not shown any prejudice at all and

13 submitted no evidence on that.

14 And number four, this issue has been forfeited. 

15 Waiver can be confusing, because we're not suggesting that

16 people sign waivers.  We're saying they forfeited by failing

17 to timely raise it.  And they've made no showing, none, Judge,

18 about when they first learned. 

19 We know that they are charged with knowledge of

20 Xerox's potential involvement as early as 2014.  That's from

21 Exhibit 4 to their Brief.  They've made no showing when they

22 first learned that Greenberg Traurig had some prior

23 relationship with Xerox.

24 For all those reasons, Your Honor, we respectfully

25 request that you deny both aspects of this totally unfounded
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1 motion.

2 THE COURT:  Okay.  That's a fairly dramatic ending

3 to the argument.

4 Back to you, Mr. -- I can't even remember who we've

5 got -- Kennedy.

6 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, sir.  Well, I have a -- I have a

7 couple things to say.  It's odd that we're hearing Greenberg

8 Traurig say that bankruptcy cases don't apply, because if you

9 look at their Brief, they cite quite a few of them.

10 But I'll let that -- let that go and direct the

11 Court's attention, once again, to the CFTC v. Eustace case

12 which we've cited several times.  In that case, that that was

13 a receivership case.  And it was not a bankruptcy case.

14 And the Court in Eustace said, listen, the same

15 principles apply as they do in the bankruptcy cases.  It cited

16 a few bankruptcy cases.  

17 And it said, A court-appointed Receiver is subject

18 to a higher standard of conduct with respect to handling

19 conflicts.  As such, the Receiver and any counsel employed by

20 him, were obligated to fully disclose to the Court his and his

21 firm's prior relationships with certain UBS entities, the UBS

22 entities being those that are related to the alleged

23 wrongdoer.

24 Now, we heard several times, when the Court asked

25 the -- the three questions, we only got to the first one,
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1 because counsel said, no, we're not required to disclose this.

2 Well, Your Honor, every -- every case that we've

3 cited says, you are obligated to make a full disclosure to the

4 appointing Court, because the integrity of the case and the

5 judicial process is at issue.  And -- 

6 THE COURT:  And you have indicated that the -- these

7 cases that you cite are not all bankruptcy cases anyway,

8 they're from -- 

9 MR. KENNEDY:  That is correct.  The one I just

10 talked about, Eustace is just a receivership case.

11 THE COURT:  Okay.

12 MR. KENNEDY:  And next we hear, well, we -- all we

13 had to do, to check for conflicts, was to look at the list

14 that we were given by the Receiver.  And that's what we did.

15 Xerox wasn't on there.  You know, that's the same

16 argument that was made in the Buckley v. TransAmerica case. 

17 And the Court rejected that position flat out.  And I'm

18 looking at the opinion in the Buckley case and -- 

19 THE COURT:  Where is the Buckley case out of?

20 MR. KENNEDY:  The Buckley case is District of

21 Minnesota Bankruptcy Court.

22 THE COURT:  Okay.  

23 MR. KENNEDY:  And the Court in Buckley says,

24 potential conflicts on the subject dispute are just as

25 disqualifying as actual current ones.  And that is at -- the
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1 case is reported in two different places.  This is, in the

2 Bankruptcy Reporter is page 827.  In the opinion itself it's

3 page 21.

4 And it -- the Court goes on to say, Regardless of

5 whom a Trustee has identified as an opponent, if a past or

6 present client of proposed counsel was involved in any way

7 with the events that gave rise to the dispute, or could

8 otherwise be the subject of a claim based on those events, the

9 client has an interest adverse to the estate and

10 disqualification results.  Several courts -- 

11 THE COURT:  Did that say -- 

12 MR. KENNEDY:  -- have applied -- 

13 THE COURT:  Did that say that the client can raise

14 the issue?

15 MR. KENNEDY:  It says, if you are -- if you are a

16 lawyer, regardless of what the Trustee tells you about

17 potential adverse parties -- 

18 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

19 MR. KENNEDY:  -- you have to determine whether or

20 not a current or former client of your firm is involved in the

21 case.  In other words, you can't rely on what the Trustee

22 tells you.

23 THE COURT:  Who brought that case?

24 MR. KENNEDY:  You've got to look at the case -- 

25 THE COURT:  Who brought the Buckley case?  Who was
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1 the -- the -- 

2 MR. KENNEDY:  The Buckley case was brought by -- 

3 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The company witness.

4 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, somebody who had been sued by

5 the conflicted counsel, and said to the conflicted counsel,

6 you have -- you have a -- you have a conflict here.  You're

7 not allowed to sue me, because your firm also represents

8 people with claims that are adverse to the estate.

9 THE COURT:  So it was the client of the -- 

10 MR. KENNEDY:  And that's what gave rise to -- 

11 THE COURT:  -- law firm?

12 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  Clients of the law firm.

13 So when Greenberg says here, hey, we didn't have a

14 conflict because we just looked at the list that was given to

15 us by the Receiver.  Well, okay, but you knew you represented

16 Xerox and Xerox is involved in the middle of all of this.

17 And all they're saying is, well, the Receiver didn't

18 -- they weren't on that list, so we were fine.  And the Court

19 in Buckley said, no, no, no.  You can't do that.  You have to

20 look at everybody who's involved, and if somebody involved,

21 who is a client currently or formerly of your firm, you've got

22 a conflict there.  You can't just say, we didn't look at them,

23 and just -- just say, we closed our eyes as to that person.

24 In -- so in this case, the argument of, well, you

25 know, we were only retained to -- to sue certain people,  
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1 well, fine, but your client, Xerox is -- is at the heart of

2 the wrongdoing.  And so you can't say, well, you know, we only

3 sued certain people.  We just closed our eyes as to our other

4 client, didn't sue them, and let them go.

5 THE COURT:  What do you say -- 

6 MR. KENNEDY:   That was the -- 

7 THE COURT:  -- about their argument -- 

8 MR. KENNEDY:  -- argument in Buckley, you know -- 

9 THE COURT:  -- that only the client has standing to

10 raise that?  

11 MR. KENNEDY:  Well, only the client is a -- is if

12 you're trying to disqualify somebody under the Rules of

13 Professional Conduct, that's the general rule.  

14 The Nevada Supreme Court in a case called Liapis, 

15 L-i-a-p-i-s, which we cited, said, well, that rule doesn't

16 apply.  If somebody else is aware of a conflict or of

17 misconduct, that calls into question the fairness or the

18 propriety of the proceeding.

19 And Liapis says that.  It says that you can --

20 anybody can raise these issues, if they're involved, and then

21 the Court decides what to do about it.  

22 But more importantly here, because it's a

23 receivership case, and the Receiver, and the Receiver's lawyer

24 owe fiduciary obligations to both the Court and to the other

25 parties.  What my clients are saying, you breached your
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1 fiduciary obligations to us.  It doesn't matter if we were

2 your clients.  We weren't.  But you had obligations to us and

3 you breached them.  And you had obligations to the Court,

4 which you breached.  We are calling those things to the

5 Court's attention.

6 Now, we heard a number of statements about, we were

7 not required to make these disclosures to the Court.  We were

8 not required to make these disclosures.

9 Okay.  Two things.  Number one, in Rule of

10 Professional Conduct 3.3, subsection (d); 3.3 is candor to the

11 Court, and 3.3(d) deals with counsel's obligation in an ex

12 parte proceeding, where the lawyer is simply saying something

13 to the Court.

14 In this case, the appointment of the -- of the

15 lawyers to act as counsel to the Receiver was completely ex

16 parte.  They just came in, said to the Court -- the Receiver

17 said, here's who I want to hire.  

18 What 3.3(d) says is, "In an ex parte proceeding, a

19 lawyer shall inform the tribunal of all material facts known

20 to the lawyer that will enable the tribunal to make an

21 informed decision, whether or not the facts are adverse." 

22 Rule of Professional Conduct 3.3(d).

23 Counsel says, we had no obligation to disclose these

24 things.  Of course, you did, under that Rule of Professional

25 Conduct, and you have a fiduciary obligation to the Court if
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1 you represent a Receiver.  

2 And the statement was made, well, all of these

3 things were not specifically described.  Yeah, that's right. 

4 And they weren't generally described.  They weren't even

5 mentioned.  All of these various fee agreements and conflict

6 waivers and all this stuff, not a word was spoken.

7 Every time they filed a Status Report, which --

8 which are all ex parte, they had a duty to make these

9 disclosures.  They never -- 

10 THE COURT:  Question -- question, Mr. Kennedy.

11 Is it -- is it your understanding that in all other

12 receivership cases in Nevada that this type of disclosure is

13 going on?  Is that the pattern, practice, in other words?

14 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah, it has to.  It has to.  If you

15 are retaining a lawyer for a particular purpose, you have to

16 go to the Court under generally -- the general receivership

17 law -- 

18 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

19 MR. KENNEDY:  -- and get that approved.  If there is

20 a conflict, or if you are waiving a conflict, or if you are

21 hiring conflict counsel, you have to take those retainer

22 agreements to the Court.  Only the Court can approve the

23 hiring.  Only the Court can approve the waiver.  And this is

24 so important, because these things have to be set down for a

25 hearing and all of the creditors have to be given notice.
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1 THE COURT:  Do you have a -- 

2 MR. KENNEDY:  And in this -- 

3 THE COURT:  -- do you have any examples of, perhaps,

4 cases we could look at to see that that's the -- the pattern

5 and practice in -- in receivership cases in Nevada?

6 MR. KENNEDY:  I -- I'd have to talk -- and I'd have

7 to do some research and talk to other people.

8 THE COURT:  Okay.

9 MR. KENNEDY:  What we have done is we've cited all

10 the cases from other jurisdictions where courts just simply

11 say, look, you have to do this.  The closest -- 

12 THE COURT:  Am I correct -- 

13 MR. KENNEDY:  -- I've been involved -- 

14 THE COURT:  Am I correct that there is no Nevada

15 case which squarely holds exactly what your position is here?

16 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  We are not aware of any Nevada

17 cases squarely holding that.  That's correct.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  Nor -- 

19 MR. KENNEDY:  Or even addressing -- yeah, or even

20 addressing it.  

21 THE COURT:  Yeah.

22 MR. KENNEDY:  You know, what we've got is the Rule

23 of Professional Conduct and the rule is set out -- 

24 THE COURT:  Yeah.

25 MR. KENNEDY:  -- in all these other cases.
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1 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.

2 MR. KENNEDY:  The -- the closest I can come for you

3 is a case I had in the Bankruptcy Court about two years ago

4 where the Court approved a lawyer and a law firm to represent

5 a Debtor.  It turned out the lawyer had a conflict.  We raised

6 it.  The Court disqualified the lawyer, made him forfeit all

7 the fees, and didn't even reimburse him for his costs.

8 That was August -- the Judge, I can't remember his

9 last name.  But he just said, look, I'm sorry, you had a

10 conflict which you didn't disclose to me, and you knew about

11 it.  And that's that.  No fees.  You've -- 

12 THE COURT:  That was -- 

13 MR. KENNEDY:  -- your costs are gone.

14 THE COURT:  -- what -- was that -- 

15 MR. KENNEDY:  You're disqualified.

16 THE COURT:  -- did you say that's a Bankruptcy

17 Court?

18 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  I can -- I -- I'll send you a

19 copy of that opinion and order.

20 THE COURT:  No.  What I'm -- what I'm really

21 interested in is to see whether -- if there's no Nevada case,

22 which is precisely on point, whether it is already the pattern

23 and practice of counsel in receivership cases in Nevada to

24 always disclose any conflict to the Court at the time that

25 they're appointed.
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  And I -- Your Honor, I don't

2 know the answer to that, but I -- I know some lawyers who

3 practice in this area and one of them recently retired.  And

4 I'll -- I'll ask.  I can't image that the practice is anything

5 other than full disclosure.  It's inconceivable -- 

6 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

7 MR. KENNEDY:  -- that -- that it's anything other

8 than full disclosure.

9 THE COURT:  Okay.

10 MR. KENNEDY:  What -- what else.  Oh, they -- they

11 say, well, you've known about the problems with Xerox for

12 years.  And the answer is, yes, we have known about these

13 problems.  But our knowledge of the problem with Xerox is not

14 the issue.  The question is, why didn't the Receiver sue

15 Xerox?  Not whether we knew about problems, but the Receiver's

16 job was to sue these people and recover this money.  Why

17 didn't the Receiver do that?

18 And the answer is, as Greenberg says in its

19 pleading, oh, we decided that Xerox didn't have any liability

20 here, which is -- is -- is pretty absurd based -- 

21 THE COURT:  I thought -- 

22 MR. KENNEDY:  -- on the evidence which Greenberg

23 knew.

24 THE COURT:  I thought that he didn't say that "we

25 decided" but rather that either the Receiver or conflict
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1 counsel decided.

2 MR. KENNEDY:  Yeah.  That's what they said, except

3 that if you look at the answers to interrogatories -- 

4 THE COURT:  Um-h'm. 

5 MR. KENNEDY:  -- it's -- the answer to

6 interrogatories is, Greenberg's saying, here's what the

7 Receiver decided.  Now, if Greenberg's not the Receiver's

8 lawyer, how can it be sending us those answers to

9 interrogatories?  It doesn't say, in consultation with

10 conflict counsel.  It doesn't say anything like that.  It

11 lists them as the lawyer for the Receiver, and says the

12 Receiver has made the following decision.  Nobody else is

13 mentioned in there.

14 THE COURT:  It is true, I gather that -- 

15 MR. KENNEDY:  So for Greenberg to say -- 

16 THE COURT:  It is true, is it not, that if this

17 matter had been raised when Greenberg had been paid, oh, let's

18 just say $10,000, so at the beginning of this, that it would

19 be asking the Court to put an order on them, they have to pay

20 back $5 million, it would be -- 

21 MR. KENNEDY:  No.  And that's because if they only

22 received $10,000 and then said, hey, we have a conflict, that

23 would be up the Court to say, tell me the circumstances under

24 which that conflict was discovered.

25 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  If they said, oh, yeah, we knew it

2 going in, but we did this anyway and never disclosed it -- 

3 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

4 MR. KENNEDY:  -- I would argue to the Court that

5 they have to give that money back.  Because as the -- the case

6 that we cite in our motion at the end, the Settelmeyer case,

7 from the Nevada Supreme Court, it says flatly, without any

8 question, if you take a case, and you are violating the Rules

9 of Professional Conduct, you may not recover fees for those

10 services.  That is at page 27 of the motion.

11 THE COURT:  And that is -- 

12 MR. KENNEDY:  So when counsel says -- 

13 THE COURT:  -- that is a Nevada Supreme Court case?

14 MR. KENNEDY:  That is.  And so when counsel said,

15 there is no case on this point, there is a case dead directly

16 on that point.  That quote is contained in a Footnote toward

17 the end of the case.  But that's generally the law everywhere.

18 If you get into a case and start taking money, and

19 you should have never been in that case in the first instance,

20 you can't keep that money.  That -- that has to be refunded,

21 because you had a conflict that was disqualifying.  Had it be

22 disclosed, you never would have got the money.

23 So in your hypothetical of the $10,000, if they knew

24 going in and -- and it turns out they didn't tell Judge Cory

25 and he appointed them, I'd be back in front of Judge Cory
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1 saying, they've got to give that money back, $10,000.

2 In this case, this -- all of this stuff doesn't come

3 to light until they have billed over $5 million.  And we go

4 back and we look.  

5 Now, there's, oh, elaborate explanation of all this

6 stuff, about what was going on, to which I say, and it's the

7 questions that the Court asked that never got answered, which

8 is, okay, you knew you had a conflict.  And they said, oh, we

9 didn't have a conflict.  Well, of course they did, it's

10 obvious conflict.  

11 And they say, well, we hired conflict counsel. 

12 Okay.  The next question is -- I don't know how you say that. 

13 We hired conflict counsel, but we didn't have a conflict.  

14 The next question is, did you disclose that to the

15 Court?  And the answer is, no.  They say, well, it was

16 generally discussed.  No, it wasn't.  It's nowhere.

17 And so when I say to them, okay, if all of this

18 stuff happened, as you say, can we see the retainer agreements

19 that you have with all these lawyers outlining who is

20 responsible for what, what conflicts are waived, and -- and

21 who has what duties?

22 Now, counsel says, well, there's no rules that

23 govern that.  No, there are.  Supreme Court Rule 1.2 says, If

24 a lawyer -- 

25 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Rules of Professional -- 
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  Rules of Professional Conduct.

2 It says, If a lawyer is going to limit -- or a law

3 firm -- is going to limit the scope of its representation, if

4 the limitation is reasonable under the circumstances and the

5 client gives informed consent.

6 Okay.  So they say, we retained Greenberg.  And it 

7 -- we limited their involvement, because we say, they're not

8 going to do anything with regard to Xerox.  Okay.  Where is

9 the client's informed consent?  Where is the writing, okay,

10 that sets this forth?  Because you don't do these things on a

11 wink and a nod and a couple people hitting elbows.  These

12 things have to be in writing.

13 Again, counsel says, no rules on this.  

14 Okay.  Rule 1.7, conflict of interest, current

15 clients.  The current clients that Greenberg has, of course,

16 are the Receiver and Xerox.  You -- the rule says, you can

17 represent current clients who may have a conflict under

18 certain conditions -- and this is Rule 1.7(b)(4) -- so long as

19 each affected client gives informed consent confirmed in

20 writing.

21 Greenberg says, there's no rule that governs this. 

22 Yeah, there sure is, 1.7(b)(4).  It says, if you are going to

23 do this, if you are going to get conflicts waived and consents

24 between existing clients, it -- there must be an informed

25 consent confirmed in writing.
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1 So when they say, you know, we never did any of this

2 in writing, and there's no rule that requires that, there sure

3 is.  There sure is; 1.2 and 1.7(b)(4).

4 And, Your Honor, these lawyers are not amateurs. 

5 These are not people who aren't engaged in all of -- in this

6 sort of stuff.  On the call, we have the general counsel, or

7 the assistant general counsel of Greenberg.  They know how to

8 do this, if they're going to do it.  

9 The fact of the matter is, they didn't do it.  Not

10 only did they not do it, they never disclosed a thing to the

11 Court.  And, Your Honor, if -- if -- I'll conclude just by

12 saying this.  If you -- and I know you will -- look through

13 the cases that we've cited and I've discussed today, it --

14 there is absolute unanimity on the point that if there is a

15 conflict or a potential conflict with the lawyers, the

16 Receiver and the lawyers have to disclose it to the Court. 

17 The Court makes the decision -- 

18 THE COURT:  And that unanimity -- 

19 MR. KENNEDY:  -- on these matter.

20 THE COURT:  -- that unanimity in the cases includes

21 Nevada?

22 MR. KENNEDY:  Well, there -- there are -- there are

23 no cases.  But if you read Rule 1.7(b)(4) -- 

24 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

25 MR. KENNEDY:  -- and 1.2, subsection (c) -- 
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1 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

2 MR. KENNEDY:  -- they both say that these things

3 have to be agreed to and -- and the client has to consent, and

4 1.7 says, confirmed in writing.

5 THE COURT:  All right.

6 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay?

7 THE COURT:  Yeah.

8 MR. KENNEDY:  All that means is, once all of that is

9 done, if you go to the Court, which you have to do to hire

10 counsel, and you go to the Court and say, I want to hire

11 counsel, here are the terms of the engagement; of course, you

12 have to get the Court's consent.  You can't do it without

13 doing that. 

14 That's why I'm pretty sure that this is usual and

15 routine practice in receiverships, because you're not allowed

16 to retain counsel or spend money -- 

17 THE COURT:  Does that mean -- 

18 MR. KENNEDY:  -- if you haven't got the Court's -- 

19 THE COURT:  Does that mean that the Receiver would

20 bear some responsibility here for -- 

21 MR. KENNEDY:  Yes.  

22 THE COURT:  -- doing all of that -- 

23 MR. KENNEDY:  And I'll tell you what the law -- 

24 THE COURT:  -- should -- should we split the $5

25 million and have Greenberg give back two-and-a-half and the
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1 Receiver cough of two-and-a-half -- 

2 MR. KENNEDY:  Well, I -- let me put -- 

3 THE COURT:  -- and maybe -- 

4 MR. KENNEDY:  -- it this way; the Receiver didn't

5 get any money, Greenberg got the money.  And this is

6 disgorgement of fees, which the Supreme Court says is a proper

7 remedy.  So Greenberg got the fees.  So it should be required

8 to disgorge the fees back to the estate, because it wasn't

9 entitled to those fees in the first instance.

10 I will tell you that it's possible that there are

11 remedies against the Receiver for violating the fiduciary

12 duty, etcetera, etcetera.  I haven't really looked at those.

13 My focus is on Greenberg.  They're the people that

14 got the money and they got it wrongfully.  And it should be

15 returned, and they should have no further contact with any of

16 these cases.

17 I'm done, unless the Court has questions.

18 THE COURT:  No.  I have none.  Thank you.  

19 Thank you, both.  It's been a very instructive hour-

20 and-a-half, whatever it's been.

21 MR. BENNETT:   Judge Cory?

22 THE COURT:  Yes.

23 MR. BENNETT:  This is -- this is Mark Bennett.  May

24 I say a few words -- 

25 THE COURT:  Well, let's see, who are you here for?
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1 MR. BENNETT:  -- as to a question you have?

2 THE COURT:  Who are you here for?

3 MR. BENNETT:  I'm the -- 

4 THE COURT:  You are the -- 

5 MR. BENNETT:  -- Special Deputy -- 

6 THE COURT:  You are the man.  

7 MR. BENNETT:  -- Special Deputy Receiver.

8 THE COURT:  You are, Mr. Bennett.  Okay.

9 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor, he's a party, and he -- he

10 wants to speak.  I -- I object to that.  He's not a lawyer in

11 the case, one of the parties wants to talk.  And -- and -- 

12 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor -- 

13 MR. KENNEDY:  And (indiscernible) should not be -- 

14 THE COURT:  Let me -- let me inquire.

15 Mr. Bennett, what -- don't tell me what it is you

16 want to say.  Just tell me what it's about.

17 MR. BENNETT:  It is your question, Your Honor, about

18 pattern and practice -- 

19 THE COURT:  Yes.

20 MR. BENNETT:  -- about retention of firms and

21 receiverships.

22 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

23 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor, this is Dennis Kennedy. 

24 He's not a Nevada lawyer. 

25 THE COURT:  Yes.
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1 MR. KENNEDY:  He would have no idea of what to say.

2 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor -- 

3 THE COURT:  And I -- under the circumstances, Mr.

4 Bennett, while I would love to -- to hear what you have to

5 say, I think over the -- I think I must sustain the objection

6 that I'd be hearing, in this instance, from a -- a non-lawyer

7 who is essentially trying to add to the argument before the

8 Court.

9 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor, this is Mark Ferrario.

10 MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  This is

11 Dennis.

12 MR. FERRARIO:  Your Honor, I am a lawyer and you

13 asked a question.  And, again, part of this is kind of the --

14 we've heard arguments now made for the first time, again, like

15 Mr. Ekman said, in the Reply Mr. Kennedy raised arguments that

16 he didn't raise previously.  Now, he's citing rules that have

17 no application and distorting them.

18 But you asked a question about pattern and practice

19 in this community.

20 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

21 MR. FERRARIO:  Mr. Bennett, who's the Special Deputy

22 Receiver -- 

23 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

24 MR. FERRARIO:  -- has been a -- has performed that

25 role in other courts in the Eighth Judicial District, other
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1 Departments -- 

2 THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

3 MR. FERRARIO:  -- and can provide guidance on what

4 the practice is.  And that's what he would be offering -- 

5 THE COURT:  All right.

6 MR. FERRARIO:  -- not as a lawyer, but telling you

7 what has happened in those other Departments.  But if you

8 don't want to hear it, that's -- that's your prerogative. 

9 That was the reason that he would do that, but we understand

10 that.

11 THE COURT:  It isn't a matter of -- it isn't a

12 matter of I don't want to hear it, it's a matter of trying to

13 enforce the -- the -- both the rules and the decorum, in this

14 instance, about -- well, anyway.

15 MR. FERRARIO:  I understand.

16 THE COURT:  There's no -- there's no question put to

17 this -- this -- Mr. Bennett.  And while it -- as I say, I

18 would be interested to hear it.  This is not the time or

19 place.  So -- 

20 MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.

21 THE COURT:  -- thank you, anyway.

22 MR. KENNEDY:  Your Honor, if -- if we're done, thank

23 you for all your hard work today and for all the years.

24 THE COURT:  Well, you'd better wait until you see my

25 ruling before you congratulate me at all, Mr. Kennedy.  
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1 MR. FERRARIO:  Take care, Your Honor.

2 THE COURT:  Thank you.

3 MR. FERRARIO:  Have a good holiday season.

4 THE COURT:  Thank you.

5 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

6 THE COURT:  Same to you all.

7 MR. FERRARIO:  Take care.  Thank you.

8 THE COURT:  Please have a good holiday.

9 That concludes the hearing.  

10 THE LAW CLERK:  Are you taking it under advisement?

11 THE COURT:  Oh, yeah.  I guess I need to say one

12 thing.  I am taking this under advisement.  I will not issue a

13 ruling right now from the Bench.  However, I will -- I can

14 assure you, the ruling will not linger, because I'm not going

15 to in this capacity, at least.  So you will be told of the

16 ruling very quickly.

17 MR. FERRARIO:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18 THE COURT:  All right.

19 MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  Thank you all.

21 MR. JIMENEZ-EKMAN:  Thank you.

22 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)

23 *   *   *   *   * 

24

25
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ATTEST:  I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly

transcribed the audio/visual proceedings in the above-entitled

case to the best of my ability.

                                   

VERBATIM DIGITAL REPORTING, LLC
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MOT 
AARON D. FORD 
  Attorney General 
Michelle D. Briggs (Bar No. 7617) 
  Senior Deputy Attorney General 
State of Nevada 
Office of the Attorney General 
555 E. Washington Ave, #3900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-1068 
Tel:  (702) 486-3420 
Fax: (702) 486-3416 
MBriggs@ag.nv.gov 
 

Attorneys for State of Nevada,  

ex rel. Silver State Health Insurance Exchange 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL. 

COMMISSIONER OF INSURANCE, 

BARBARA D. RICHARDSON, IN HER 

OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS RECEIVER 

FOR NEVADA HEALTH CO-OP,  

Plaintiff,  

 

v. 

 

SILVER STATE HEALTH INSURANCE 

EXCHANGE, 
Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

  Case No.:  A-20-816161-C 
   
  Dept. No.:  VIII 
   

DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR 
LEAVE TO FILE THIRD-PARTY 

COMPLAINT 
 

(HEARING REQUESTED) 

 

Defendant State of Nevada, Ex. Rel. Silver State Health Insurance Exchange 

(the “Exchange”), by and through counsel, AARON D. FORD, Attorney General and 

MICHELLE D. BRIGGS, Senior Deputy Attorney General, submits this Motion for 

Leave to File a Third Party Complaint (“Motion for Leave”) pursuant to NRCP 14(a)(1). 

This Motion for Leave is made and based on the papers and pleadings on file, the  

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

Case Number: A-20-816161-C

Electronically Filed
1/8/2021 1:56 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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following memorandum of points and authorities, and any oral argument this Court may 

allow. 

Dated:  January 8, 2021. 

AARON D. FORD 
Attorney General 
 

 
 

By:  /s / Michelle D. Briggs    
                                                             Michelle D. Briggs (Bar. No. 7617) 
                                                             Senior Deputy Attorney General 
                                                             Attorneys for the State of Nevada ex rel.        
                                                             the Silver State Health Insurance Exchange 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges the Exchange retained insurance premiums it 

collected for health insurance offered by Plaintiff. Plaintiff is suing for a return of the 

alleged retained premiums. The Exchange never collected insurance premiums. It 

contracted with Xerox State Healthcare, LLC (now known as Conduent State 

Healthcare, LLC) (“Xerox”) to administer and operate Nevada’s healthcare exchange 

which included collecting and distributing insurance premiums.  

 Xerox has a contractual duty to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the 

Exchange for any alleged negligent or willful acts or omissions. Furthermore, to the 

extent Plaintiff has evidence to support the Complaint, Xerox is in a better position to 

respond to such allegations. This case is just getting started. Bringing in Xerox would 

not delay the proceedings and would facilitate an efficient resolution of the issues. The 

judicial economy goals of third-party practice are served by allowing the Exchange to 

file its third-party complaint against Xerox.1 Accordingly, leave should be granted to 

allow the Exchange to file its third-party complaint. 

RELEVANT FACTS 

Xerox administered and operated the health insurance marketplace in Nevada 

for the Exchange beginning in October 2013 through December 2016. Xerox and the 

 
1 A copy of the proposed third-party complaint is attached at Exhibit A. 
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Exchange entered into a Contract for Services of Independent Contractor effective 

August 14, 2012 (the “Marketplace Contract”).2 The health insurance marketplace was 

“to help consumers and small businesses buy health insurance in a way that permits 

easy comparison of available plan options based on price, benefits and quality.”3 Xerox 

accepted payments for plans purchased on the marketplace and was supposed to remit 

those payments to carriers of the plan.4 Plaintiff, Nevada Health Co-Op (“Co-Op”) 

offered plans on the exchange marketplace through December 2015. The Co-Op was 

taken over by the Insurance Commissioner in a receivership case on October 1, 2015 

which is ongoing.5  

According to Plaintiff’s complaint in this matter, premium payments for Co-Op 

plans in the amount of $13,058,608.15 were collected from December 2013 through 

March 2015, but only $12,547,956.88 was paid to the Co-Op.6 The Co-Op claims it is 

owed the variance of $510,651.27.7 Based solely on the alleged unpaid premiums, 

Plaintiff’s complaint alleges causes of action for breach of contract, unjust enrichment, 

and constructive trust.   

 Xerox has an obligation to indemnify the Exchange. The Marketplace Contract 

indemnification section states: 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by law [Xerox] shall indemnify, hold 
harmless and defend, not excluding the State’s right to participate, the State 
from and against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and expenses, 
including… reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising out of any alleged 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of [Xerox], its officers, employees and 
agents.8 

The Exchange did not receive premium payments during the term of the 

Marketplace Contract. Xerox did. To the extent Xerox collected premiums for plans 

 
2 A copy of the Marketplace Contract is attached at Exhibit B. 
3 Request for Proposal 2023 for Silver State Health Insurance Exchange at 5, 

attached at Exhibit C (attachments omitted).  
4 Attachment DD Requirements Matrix attached at Exhibit D.   
5 District Court Case No.:  A-15-725244-C. 
6 Plaintiff’s Complaint ¶¶21, 23. 
7 Id. ¶24. 
8 Exhibit B, Marketplace Contract at 4-5, § 14. 

2308



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

  

Page 4 of 6 
 

 

offered by the Co-Op and failed to remit those premiums to the Co-Op, Xerox is 

responsible.  

LEGAL ARUGMENT 

NRCP 14(a)(1) allows a defendant to file a third-party complaint against a 

nonparty if such nonparty is or may be liable to it for all or part of the claim against it.  

The defendant must seek leave of court if filed more than 14 days after serving its 

answer. NRCP 14(a)(1). “The third-party practice rule, NRCP 14, is reserved for claims 

based on an indemnity theory.”9 It allows a defendant to defend itself “and at the same 

time assert his [or her] right of indemnity against the party ultimately responsible for 

the damage.”10  

In this case, the Exchange seeks to file a third-party complaint for express 

indemnity against Xerox. Bringing Xerox into this matter will assist in a proper 

resolution of the issues. Plaintiff alleges a failure to remit premium payments. Xerox 

received those premium payments and is in a better position to explain its own records 

pertaining to such premiums.   

CONCLUSION  

Third-party practice under NRCP 14 allows the Exchange to file a claim against 

Xerox for indemnity. As Xerox received the monies allegedly owed to Plaintiff, Xerox’s 

participation in this case is critical. For all the foregoing reasons, the Exchange  

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

 
9 Lund v. Eight Judicial Dist. Court of State, ex rel. County of Clark, 127 Nev. 358, 

362, 255 P.3d 280, 283 (2011).  
10 Id.  
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respectfully requests this Court grant its motion for leave to file a third-party 

complaint against Xerox.  

Dated:  January 8, 2021. 

AARON D. FORD 
Attorney General 

 
 

By:  /s / Michelle D. Briggs    
                                                             Michelle D. Briggs (Bar. No. 7617) 
                                                             Senior Deputy Attorney General 
                                                             Attorneys for the State of Nevada ex rel.        
                                                             the Silver State Health Insurance Exchange 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Office of the Attorney General, State of 

Nevada, and that on January 8, 2021, I filed the foregoing document via this Court’s 

electronic filing system. Parties that are registered with this Court’s EFS will be served 

electronically.  

 
 

 

/s/ Marilyn Millam     

Marilyn Millam, an employee of the 

Office of the Nevada Attorney General 
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